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Chairman’s Statement
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Creative
China Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

REVIEW

2018 is an important year of reformation and strategic
transformation of the Group.

For aligning with the development of cultural and
entertainment industry in Mainland China, Hong Kong
and Southeast Asia, the Group reformed its original event
organisation business and commenced the new artist
management business in 2018.

Previously, the event organisation business of the Group
mainly concentrated in Mainland China. Since 2018, we
began organising concerts in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
Southeast Asia, including the “2018 BEST OF THE BEST IN
TAIPEI” and “2018 JESSICA MINI CONCERT IN TAIWAN
GOLDEN NIGHT” held in Taiwan, the “2018 SEVENTEEN
CONCERT ‘IDEAL CUT" IN HONG KONG” and “NU’EST
W CONCERT DOUBLE U-ENCORE IN HONG KONG”
held in Hong Kong and “2018 APINK ASIA TOUR IN
MALAYSIA” held in Malaysia. Many famous Korean artists
and K'POP groups performed in the above concerts, namely
BTOB, SEVENTEEN, NU’EST W, APINK etc. The above
concerts were held successfully which brought revenue of
approximately RMB14.1 million to the Group. Such concerts
received warm response and established a great start for
the Group to enter into the concert market in Hong Kong,
Taiwan and Southeast Asia.

The Group has also begun its new artist management
business with the aim of discovering new talents (including
artists and world champion athletes) with potential and
cultivating and nurturing them to enable them to become
popular, while we could obtain significant shares from the
income of these contracted artists and world champion
athletes. During the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Year
2018”), the Group has signed certain artists and World
Champion Athletes with potential and begun to seek
appropriate opportunity for them to perform.

For other segments, as the e-commerce market is highly
competitive, the Group is enduring to optimse “Great Star”,
our mobile live broadcasting platform. We expect it can
create more value to the Group. For the entertainment
contents on demand system business, the Group’s team
has actively increased the coverage of “Fengtingxun” (the
entertainment contents on demand system operated by the
Group) which is yielding initial results in market promotion
and shares. For Year 2018, the turnover of the entertainment
contents on demand business was approximately RMB5.4
million, representing about an increase of approximately
71% of the revenue of last year.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

BAIIR -

AANZBHRRPBERZERERAR(ARANESE
([E=22 ) 2RARRREMB AR (5l [AEE ) #HE
- N\F+Z A=t RALEFENFR -

=)

—T-\F BAKERRERF R LRSI —
EEEFE -

REAGPEAN  FEEAZRER CREERNER
AEBE_Z-\FHRBENEHENEBIEL TENL
PR T ¥ AR TS -

UAREERNEDEREFETBEFNPRERM - #=F
— \FEFAE - R REAR—LEEE - 88 KR
B ERITHRREEIEE - BIREARERTTA [2018 BEST OF
THE BEST IN TAIPEI] ~ [2018 JESSICA MINI CONCERT
IN TAIWAN GOLDEN NIGHT] * & B £ 1782018
SEVENTEEN CONCERT ‘IDEAL CUT’ IN HONG KONG -
[NU’EST W CONCERT DOUBLE U-ENCORE IN HONG
KONG] MESRAREITH) [2018 APINK ASIA TOUR
IN MALAYSIA] » AU EREIBE & T AZE R RERE
ANBGEES - BEBTOB » SEVENTEEN » NU'EST W %
APINKE o LA ESRIEE AN ERTT - BAREEE KL A
RE141 88Tl WARERRD - BREEEES
& AERREOGAERBEMISEY T —EFRFHE -

AEERBIMIG TEALLER  BRSRELEEN
BEANEERE  NMUABEZRMMAUUKABE —EH
BARAE  MEMATAIRENEAREERAENKRAFE
BEENSK PREE_TE—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE
([Z2—NEFE]) AELEECETHLABEEINTA (R
ﬁ:%Aﬁﬁéﬁiwﬁﬁ%ﬁMWéﬁé@mﬁﬁ%

o
=

HMEBFTE R ERMSNEFIEEAN  AEEE
EEBRFANNERTEERLASENBYERTA
[2FE | HEETAKRSASEREEFEZNHEE -
FARNRENDTNBHERRES - HBEMFAZENE
BEm A [RER] (REEE MRENR N ERERLR) 1L
MEEXT  ERFARER  mSHEERIGEAERKER
T\ FEEMRENTNEMBERREBNER
BROARESABET WEFIENDT71% °



OUTLOOK

Given the sweeping popularity of the Korean Wave in recent
years, Korean artists have dominated the trend of Asia and
even the world. Competitors actively seek participation
to optimise their values in this wave. With the successful
foundation in 2018, we have established good cooperation
relationship with Korean artist teams. In the future, the
Group will continue to strive for organising more Korean
performances. At the same time, we will explore more
artist’s resources from other countries to increase the variety
and coverage of our event organisation business.

We will also actively develop our artist management
business and add more new contracted artists with
potential. In addition to discovering new stars in the
performance sector, the Group will search for new stars
in other sectors (e.g. the sport sector) to further widen the
potential of this business.

Meanwhile, as a licensed content provider, “Fengtingxun”
is expected to enjoy a stronger momentum of development
due to the strengthening copyright regulation requirements
under the government policy on on-demand cinema
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). In such
circumstances, the Group hopes to see a continue
improvement in its income and financial performance.

The Group will keep the shareholders abreast of the latest
development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our
appreciation to the Group’s employees for their hard work
and contributions during the past year. With the solid
business base and the effort of all staff, | believe the Group
will create a bright future.

Philip Jian Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB W R DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

gy de] -
Wy
AEBFANKBEATAT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTFT

Program production &0 B &HE - 4,055
Concert and Event organisation SEIg e MR E SN 14,144 1,382
Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce BENERENERE 1,143 11,520
Entertainment contents on demand system IR A & ZHE R 5,356 3,128
Artist management EYNCERES 78 -
20,721 20,085

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Year
2018”) amounted to approximately RMB20.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately 3.2% as
compared to that recorded for the year ended 31 December
2017 (“Year 2017”) of approximately RMB20.1 million.
The increase in revenue mainly contributed by concerts
and event organisation business. The revenue from event
organisation segment for Year 2018 was significantly
increased from approximately RMB1.4 million (representing
approximately 10 times) to approximately RMB14.1 million,
which was mainly due to the Group had organised several
concerts in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Southeast Asia during
the year. In addition, the coverage of “Fengtingxun”, the
entertainment contents on demand system operated by
the Group, is continuously improving. The Group recorded
revenue from entertainment contents on demand system
business of approximately of RMB5.4 million for Year 2018,
which was increased by approximately 71.2% as compared
to Year 2017.

“Great Star”, the mobile live broadcasting platform of the
Group, recorded revenue of approximately RMB1.1 million in
2018 year compared to RMB11.5 million in Year 2017. The
revenue significantly decreased as there was no production
services of online entertainment videos being provided in
Year 2018 as compared to last year.

As the Group did not provide any production services for
recurring programs during Year 2018 as compared to Year
2017, therefore no revenue from program production had
been recognised during Year 2018.

For the new developed artist management business, its
revenue for Year 2018 contributed less than 1% to the
Group’s total revenue as this business was in the beginning
stage.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Gross loss

The gross loss for Year 2018 amounted to approximately
RMB41.3 million, which had been increased by
approximately 1.0% as compared to that recorded for Year
2017 of approximately RMB40.8 million. The increase in
gross loss is mainly due to the content production costs of
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce business incurred
in 2017 which being recognised in 2018.

Other revenue

Other revenue was significantly increased from
approximately RMBO.1 million in Year 2017 to approximately
RMB15.4 million in Year 2018. The increase in Year 2018
was due to the revenue of approximately RMB15.3 million
came from licensing the re-editing rights of our programmes
being developed in “Great Star”.

Expenses

Selling and distribution costs for Year 2018 was
approximately RMB13.2 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB3.2 million (approximately 19.3%) as
compared to Year 2017. The selling and distribution costs
incurred for Year 2018 were mainly for the promotion of the
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce business and
entertainment contents on demand system business. The
promotional cost of “Great Star” and “Fengtingxun” has
been decreased as compared to last year.

Administrative expenses for Year 2018 amounted to
approximately RMB42.5 million (Year 2017: approximately
RMB29.2 million), which was increased by approximately
45.6% as compared to Year 2017 which was mainly due to
(i) impairment loss of programme cost and trade and other
receivable; (i) impairment loss of leasehold improvement due
to the termination of the lease of the office in the PRC; and (i)
goodwill impairment loss on event organisation and mobile
live broadcasting businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB W R D

Income tax (expense)/credit

The Group had income tax expense for Year 2018 of
approximately RMB4.6 million while recorded an income
tax credit of approximately RMBO0.2 million for Year 2017.
The income tax expense for Year 2018 was due to the de-
recognition of deferred tax assets recognised for tax losses
in prior years. There are no provision of Hong Kong profits
tax and PRC enterprise income tax for Year 2018 as no
subsidiaries of the Company located in Hong Kong and
the PRC have recorded taxable profit during both periods.
PRC enterprise income tax for the subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC and Hong Kong profits tax for the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong is calculated at 25% and
16.5% respectively on taxable profit of relevant period in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.

Loss for the year

Loss for Year 2018 was approximately RMB82.6 million
(Year 2017: RMB79.8 million). The increase in net loss
after tax was mainly due to (i) the content production
costs recognised for the mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce business which was incurred in 2017; and
(i) certain impairment losses of assets recognised as
mentioned above.

Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
finances its operations by internally generated cash flow,
borrowings and shareholders’ equity. As at 31 December
2018, the Group had net current assets of approximately
RMBS3.1 million (as at 31 December 2017: approximately
RMB55.4 million) including cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB8.9 million (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately RMB18.4 million). The decrease in cash and
cash equivalents was mainly due to loss incurred during
the year ended 31 December 2018. The current ratio,
being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was
approximately 1.03 times as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31
December 2017: approximately 3.3 times).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB36.6 million as at 31
December 2018 (as at 31 December 2017: approximately
RMB102.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEER W& D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of
(i) program production and related services, (ii) concert
and event organisation, (i) mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce; (iv) entertainment contents on demand system
and (v) artist management.

For the concert and event organisation segment, the
Group started to cooperate with certain entertainment
companies which have great resources on Korean artists.
During Year 2018, the Group organised concerts in Hong
Kong, Taiwan and Southeast Asia. The Group recorded
revenue of approximately RMB14.1 million from the event
organisation segment, which represented an increase of
more than 10 times as compared to last year. The reason of
such significantly increase was due to the Group started to
organise several concerts and recognised relevant income in
the second half of Year 2018.

Under the “Korean K-pop Wave” in recent years, the Group
rides the opportunities to expand our event organisation
segment from Mainland China to overseas. In the concerts
organised by the Group during Year 2018, many famous
Korean artists had performed in the above concerts, namely
BTOB, SEVENTEEN, NU’EST W, APINK, Jessica and etc.

For the mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce segment,
the Group continues to develop our unique business model
of “entertainment contents + social media + e-commerce”
and promote “Great Star” to increase its penetration in the
mobile internet and social media. In this highly competitive
market, the Group is continuing to optimise “Great Star” to
cater the demand of the market and add on new features,
aiming to establish its unique market position. Due to
the robust competition in the e-commerce and internet
industry of China, the Group expects that the segment
may not be able to capture the potential revenue from this
business model in the short-term. Therefore, there are no
significant turnover had been recognised from this business
model during Year 2018. However, our online platform
team provided the promotional service to a customer and
generated revenue of approximately RMB1.1 million during
Year 2018.

In 2018, the Group adopted the popularity of using short
video on promoting merchandises and generated RMB 15.3
million of other revenue by licensing the re-editing and use of
rights of programmes produced by “Great Star”. Having the
re-editing and use of rights, the buyer can redevelop these
programmes to various short videos and put on the shelf in
various platforms.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB W R D

The entertainment contents on demand system,
“Fengtingxun” operated by the Group, has continuously
improved and being installed in various entertainment
outlets in the PRC. The bundling sales model of our own
IP digital equipment and entertainment contents helped to
boost the penetration of “Fengtingxun”. The revenue from
entertainment contents on demand system business has
increased by approximately 71.2%. The Group decided
to recognise a partial return from the investment in the
entertainment contents on demand system business at a
reasonable price by disposing approximately 14.17% and
11.33% equity interest in Capital Land to two independent
third parties respectively during Year 2018. After the
completion of these disposals, Capital Land remains
as a subsidiary of the Group under the arrangement of
shareholders voting agreement, which entered into with
certain shareholders of Capital Land. The Group believes
that the proceed can be used for the development of other
business segments of the Group.

The Group did not record any revenue from program
production services during Year 2018 mainly due to
customers continue to produce its television programs by
using its own-production house started in 2017.

In addition, the Group purchased a series programme rights
for principal amount of approximately RMB55.0 million. This
serial programme has obtained the permit for broadcasting.
The Group is in the process of negotiation with various
television stations and online video platforms in the PRC,
target to realise the revenue from its first launch in 2019. The
Group believes that this can obtain considerable return from
the income of publishing, sponsorship and etc.

PROSPECT

Based on the financial performance in Year 2018, the
management of the Group believes that the synergy effect
of concert and event organisation, mobile live broadcasting,
artist management, production and publishing, will create a
new drive to the Group.

In Year 2018, the Group organised various concerts of
Korean artists in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Southeast
Asia. Apart from establishing our brand name, we also
successfully in strengthening our relationship with different
media and entertainment companies. The Group will explore
more opportunities to organise medium to large concerts.
Besides Korean artists, the Group would strive for expanding
artist resources in order to organise various performance
events for artists from different nations and regions. The
Group entered into framework agreements with certain
media and entertainment companies and artists to hold
concerts in Asia throughout 2019-2020. The Group expects
the concerts organisation of the Group will have more
desirable results in 2019.
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The Group has established our own artist management
business in Year 2018 and had already entered into sole
global agency agreements with certain artists and world
champion atheletes in Hong Kong and China. The Group
will continue to explore talents with great potential in
order to strengthen our wardrobe and arrange job for our
contracted artists and world champion atheletes. In the fast
moving internet platform where information disseminate in
the next second, talents can easily upload/live stream their
performance or idea to the audience on many platforms
We believe a strong and capable management team
can efficiently identify each artist's and sports star’s core
development and utilise their market effect.

The Group expects to obtain considerable profit share
from the jobs arranged to our contracted artists and world
champion athletes (for example, advertisement, fims, TV
programmes and etc.). Through the development and
increase in popularity, our contracted stars will increase our
revenue stream and subsequently more stars will join the
Group. In addition, apart from artists, we will also diversify
our talents by continuing to explore more potentials in other
sectors.

The business model of “Great Star” targets to open up
the opportunities across online and offline business.
These opportunities covers across the entire media and
entertainment industry, include but not limited to artist
agency, concerts, copyrights distribution, advertising, film
and television production, variety shows and sales of stars’
peripheral products. This creates extensive values to the
Group. The Group has begun trial in live broadcasting the
highlights of concerts organised by our concert and event
organising on “Great Star”. We believe that it can help to
draw more internet users, including fans, and eventually
using “Great Star” as their dissemination platform. The
Group expects to lever live broadcasting to improve “Great
Star” charisma. The Group is also actively exploring other
potential opportunities derives from these live broadcasting
with other media and entertainment companies. For
example, using “Great Star” autonomous technology of
mobile video live broadcasting, online transaction and
payment to complete online transaction without switching
the webpage while watching videos. Having this, “Great
Star” can lever the contents or even live shows to sell
peripheral products and exclusive souvenirs of the events,
hence, increasing the revenue streams of “Great Star”.
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Regarding to the entertainment on demand system business
“Fengtingxun”, it continues to increase its penetration,
market share and competitiveness. The revenue was being
provenly increased by approximately 71% (from RMB3.1
million in Year 2017 to RMB5.4 million in Year 2018). Further
to the official notice on standardising the operation and
management of private mini theatres, digital subscriber line,
on-demand cinema announced in 2017, the Group expects
that a more specific guideline on the requirement of technical
specifications of billing and screening system and equipment
will be promulgated to regulate the entertainment outlets in
the near future. As “Fengtingxun”, Member of Copyrights
Society of China, is a legally authorised on-demand
content provider and with its own IP on Entertainment
On Demand System including digital entertainment, video
encoding system, cloud management system, digital
settlement system, the announcement and implementation
of regulations from the PRC government will substantially
increase the demand of “Fengtingxun”.

The Group recognised a partial return from the investment
in the entertainment contents on demand system business
at a reasonable price by disposing the equity interest
in Capital Land in April and Jul to two independent
third parties at approximately 14.17% and 11.33%
respectively during Year 2018. As Capital Land remains
as a subsidiary of the Company, the participation of new
investors with entertainment background would not affect
the development plan of “Fengtingxun”, instead they will
contribute add on value to the expansion of “Fengtingxun”,
hence, creating more opportunities together with the Group.

There are no revenue recorded for the program production
business during Year 2018 due to the change of our
customer’s business strategy. Given this, the Group started
to diversify its business strategy on the program production
segment. During Year 2018, PRC TV programmes had been
given lots of attention. Certain TV programmes recorded
high ratings in Mainland China, and even in Hong Kong and
overseas market. The Group decides to expand its business
strategy to publishing. The Group purchased a serial
programme rights from a professional production company
in Year 2018 and is in the process of negotiating with various
television stations and online platforms. The Group expects
to lever this opportunity to extent its market to overseas. The
Group also expects the publication of this programme would
be the turning point of our production segment and create
revenue streams to the Group.

Although the businesses of the Group are facing various
challenges, the Group is confident that it can overcome
the challenges under the leadership of our experienced
management and the new strong teams formed by the
seasoned staff in the concert and event organising segment
and artist management segment. Together with the various
opportunities currently exploring, the Group believes our
business will create a new era.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, The Group had a total of
74 employees (2017: 120). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and the
prevailing market situation. Their remuneration packages
are normally renewed on an annual basis, based on
performance appraisals and other relevant factors. The
Group may pay a discretionary bonus to its employees
based on individual performance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The turnover and direct costs of the Group are mainly in
Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group will review and monitor from
time to time the risk relating to foreign exchanges.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately RMBO.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (Year 2017: approximately
RMBO0.3 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, there were no significant
contingent liabilities for the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2018 (as at 31 December 2017: nil). There were
no other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiary or
affiliated company made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2018 (during the year ended 31 December
2017: nil).
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF SHARES

On 18 January 2017, the Company had completed
the placing of 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company (with aggregate nominal value of HK$2,000,000)
(the “Placing Share(s)”) to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.265 (the “Placing Price”) per Placing
Share (the “2017 Placing”). The Placing Price was agreed
with the placing agent in the placing agreement dated
13 December 2016 and the closing price quoted on the
Stock Exchange per ordinary share of the Company as at
that date was HK$0.295. The gross proceeds from the
2017 Placing is HK$53.0 million and the net proceeds is
approximately HK$50.7 million after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses. The net issue
price was approximately HK$0.25 per Placing Share. Each
of the placees and its ultimate beneficial owners (where
applicable) is an independent third party and none of the
placees has become a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) after the completion of the 2017
Placing. The Group intends to use the net proceeds from
the 2017 Placing for the general working capital. The 2017
Placing was a good opportunity to raise additional funds as
working capital of the Group without any interest burden and
can broaden the Company’s capital base and shareholders
base. The Group utilised approximately HK$36.0 million of
the net proceeds from the 2017 Placing as at 31 December
2017 and fully utilised the net proceeds from the 2017
Placing as at 30 June 2018 as intended.

The net proceeds from the 2017 Placing of approximately
HK$50.7 million were utilised for general working capital as
follows:

BEROAERARR

R-ZT—+tF—F+/)\B  AQRETEK T 1% 0.265 /8 TR
EE([AEE ) B & 200,000,000 % 42 1& A 2,000,000
BILNAR R ERR ([BRERHD ) FTRDRNBEREA
([Z2—tFREFH]) REECREBHRAE-ZT—RF
T A+=ZAZREHZRREREHEMETE - ZHAR
A BRI T W EA0.2058 L —T—+
FREFEZMSHIELEASS0BEE T £HKREE
MeERkHEMEERY%  — S+ SRESHEMERE
FEAREL0.7TBEBIT - BREERMAFERITELN0.25
BT e SEARARERKREZHEAHER) BBIE=
B R ERE 5% HEARAKATERE(EER
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IEFEARN—RLEES — T+ FREEBENEESE
INESREAEELBEESHNREM  METSEESTMAH
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R-E—+F+-_A=+—HOHA TL36.0 8 EETH
T FRESEASREFENER T \FRA
—tBHEESEES A T FREFEMESRIE T -

REBEW TR _Z -t FREFEMFIRFR
#50.7 ABB TR —REEMX :

Utilised Utilised
amount amount
as at 31 as at 30
December June
2017 2018
RZZE—tF RZB-N\F
+=-—A=+—H” ~A=1H
E & e28A
HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEAET
Programme production for the BRBEE T AR E
mobile live broadcasting
platform 34.6 34.6
General operating expenses —REERZ (BEETRR
(including but not limited to BIXA EEREXER
staff costs, legal and R—RHERITHER)
professional expenses and
general selling and
administrative expenses) 1.4 16.1
36.0 50.7
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business
growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to review
and enhance the Group’s risk management and internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices. To us, maintaining
high standards of corporate governance practices is not
just complying with the provisions but also the intent of
the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is pleased to report compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2018, except where otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the directors (the “Required
Standard of Dealings”). The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the directors, all the directors have
complied with the Required Standard of Dealings throughout
the year.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Yang Shiyuan (Re-designated from executive director
on 25 March 2019)

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Li Fei

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Appointed on 18 July 2018)
Mr. Tan Song Kwang

An updated list of directors and their role and functions is

maintained at the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and the independent non-executive directors are
identified by name in all corporate communications.

Each independent non-executive director has given an

annual confirmation of his independence to the Company,
and the Company considers them to be independent under

Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, five Board
meetings and one annual general meeting (“2018 AGM”)
were held and the attendance of each director is set out as

follows:

Name of director

EEHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4

Ms. Yang Jianping %5 %+

Mr. Yang Shiyuan %5t %4

Mr. Ge Xuyu BJEF L4

Mr. Wang Yong JE B 4

Mr. Li Fei ZERIE4E

Mr. Law Kin Ho (Resigned on 18 July 2018)
BREREE(RZE—N\FLAT/\BEE)

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BR3¢ 58 4

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Appointed on 18 July 2018)
BRREE (RZE—-N\FLA+NBEE)

N Attendance record during the appointment period for the year

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

EES
EEepE:

HITES
BRISE (L)
Bi¥t

FFTES -

BEEREE (R - F-NF=A—+0H
HBITEFAL)

BBFRE

EBELE

BUIFAITES ¢

FREL

RREE (R—F-N\FLAT+N\BEE)
BRIRYESE 4

—MNEMNESLEEREAEMBAERTFRALRE MBI
PrAgus - BISFITEREMA BRBAT BB TR

BRI TES O EH AR A NB LI E L FERER
K - RABIMRIEGEM ERRIZE 500 RRERRERE
MATE -

REBE_T—/\F+_A=+—RHLFE ARFETAH
REZGGHE N —RABERBFAEG ([T \FRRBF
Rgl) - EZZHFEBEAIIRAOT -

Attendance record for the meetings during
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

All the Directors (including the independent non-executive
directors) have acquired a proper understanding of the
Company’s operation and business and are fully aware
of his/her functions and responsibilities under statute and
common law, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements. Every director has given
the Company the details on the number and nature of offices
held in other companies and significant commitments at the
time of his/her appointment.

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the
Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the
Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating
performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems; supervising and
managing management’s performance of the Group; and
setting the Group’s values and standards. Though the Board
delegates the day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group to management, all the directors
continue to give sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The delegated functions are reviewed by
the Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the
needs of the Group.

Apart from the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee (as defined below), the
Company did not set up any other board committees for
dealing with any matters during the year.

The Company has in force appropriate insurance coverage
on Director’s and officer’s liabilities arising from the Group’s
business. The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc.

The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings
would be given to all directors and they can include matters
for discussion in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda
accompanying Board papers would be sent to all directors
at least 3 days before the date of every Board meeting
in order to allow sufficient time for the directors to review
the documents. The Chairman would also ensure that all
directors are properly briefed on matters arising at board
meetings.
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Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all directors
for their perusal and comments prior to confirmation of the
minutes. The duly signed minutes are open for inspection by
any director. The Board also ensures that it is supplied in a
timely manner with all necessary information in a form and of
a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Board members are enabled
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties. They are also entitled to have full
access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge their
duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is responsible
for the overall operations, management, business
development and strategy planning of the Group.

The Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the
Board works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the directors to make active
contribution in Board’s affairs and promoting a culture of
openness and debate.

The Board is of the view that although Mr. Yang is both
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals who would
meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting operation
of the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The current Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.

The non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term but they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Articles. Each independent non-executive director is
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change that may affect his independence and
must provide an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company. Up to the date of this report, no independent
non-executive director has served the Company more than
9 years.
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars
organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to
the Board. Records of the training received by the respective
directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of
the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is summarised below:

Name of director

BEEHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4
Ms. Yang Jianping 15 F &+
Mr. Yang Shiyuan 5t iz 5o 4
Mr. Ge Xuyu & JEF L4

Mr. Wang Yong ST B 5t 4

Mr. Li Fei R E

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRIA Yt 5t 4
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen S8R EA4E

All directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 3 November 2015,
currently comprising 3 independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Mr. Li Fei and Mr. Tan Song
Kwang. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. No member of the Audit Committee is a
member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
at the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and to provide recommendations and advices to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor as well as their terms of appointment.
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According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held at least four times a year.

Five audit committee meetings were held for the year ended
31 December 2018. The attendance of each member is set
out as follows:

Name of members of Audit Committee

BEREEERENE

Mr. Law Kin Ho (Resigned on 18 July 2018)
‘EEZFEE (RZZE-N\FAT/\BEHE)

Mr. Li Fei R4

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRYAYE 5t

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Appointed on 18 July 2018)
BRREE (RZE—-N\FLA+NBZEE)

N Attendance record during the appointment period for the year

At the audit committee meetings during the year, in
performing its duties in accordance with its terms of
reference, the work performed by the Audit Committee
includes:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b) recommendation to the Board, for the approval by
shareholders, of the re-appointment of external auditor
and approval of their remuneration;

(c) determination of the nature and scope of the audit;
and

(d) review the financial statements for relevant periods
and discuss corporate governance practice.

Draft and final versions of the minutes of the Audit
Committee meetings will be sent to all committee members
for their comment and records within a reasonable time
after the meetings and the full minutes will be kept by the
company secretary who is also the secretary of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and is enabled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense, to discharge its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 3
November 2015, currently comprising three directors,
namely, Mr. Li Fei, Mr. Tan Song Kwang and Ms. Yang
Jianping. Mr. Li Fei is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include to make recommendation to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
directors and senior management of the Group, having
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors of the
Group and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment, and making recommendations to the Board
of the remuneration of the non-executive directors.

During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held and the remuneration of the directors and
senior management has been discussed. The members’
attendance is shown as follows:

Name of members of Remuneration Committee

FHEEEREHE

Mr. Li Fei R%E
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRAAYE 54
Ms. Yang Jianping #5222+

The emolument payable to directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts
and the appointment letters, and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the directors’
emolument are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 3 November
2015, currently comprising the five directors, namely, Mr.
Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Mr. Tan Song Kwang,
Mr. Li Fei and Mr. Ge Xuyu. Mr. Philip Jian Yang is currently
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are available at
the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board on regular basis, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become members of the Board, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive
directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors. In considering
the nomination of new directors, the Board will take into
account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates,
especially their experience in program production and event
organisation and/or other professional areas.

One nomination committee meeting was held during the
year ended 31 December 2018. No change has been
proposed to the structure, size and composition of the
Board during the meeting and the Nomination Committee
had also confirmed the independence of independent
non-executive directors who would be retired and offer
themselves for re-election at 2018 AGM and the diversity of
the Board.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members of Nomination Committee

REZEEHREHE

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4

Mr. Li Fei ST A4

Mr. Law Kin Ho (Resigned on 18 July 2018)
FERzEE(RZE—N\FLAT/\BEFT)

Mr. Tan Song Kwang FR#2 ¢ 58 4

Mr. Ge Xuyu & JBF L4

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Appointed on 18 July 2018)
BRREE (RZE—-N\F+-A+N\BEE)

Attendance record during the appointment period for the year

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the
quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
directors. Three of the directors are independent non-
executive directors and independent of management,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background, gender and skills.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and information
to the Board and reports regularly to the Board on financial
position and prospects of the business of the Company so
as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the
financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the
Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external
auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on
their audit, on those consolidated financial statements
prepared by the Board and to report their opinion to the
shareholders of the Company. A statement by auditor about
their reporting responsibility is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

Risk Management and Internal Control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risks and the relevant measures have been disclosed in
the report of the directors on page 54 to 80 of this report.
The risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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Each department of the Company would choose certain
material risk events in its field every year and assess and
grade the possibility of occurrence and influence of risk
events to determine the scope of material risk of the year
together with the management of the Company. Each
functional department prepares counteractions to deal with
material risks in its field and report the execution situation
regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and
is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to
set up an internal audit function within the Group in light of
the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. It
was decided that the Board would be directly responsible
for internal control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Procedures have been designed for
safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations. The situation will be reviewed
from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal
controls annually. The Board has conducted a review of, and
is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2018 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines, with
an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the confidentiality
requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of the inside
information.

Dividend Policy

At the date of this report, the Board has approved and
adopted a policy for the Company’s dividend distribution
(the “Dividend Policy”).

The Company targets to provide sustainable returns to our
shareholders with maintaining the flexibility of resources
to meet the financial and business requirements of the
Company. The Board shall consider the Group’s financial
results, cash flow status, investment and operational
requirements, prospects and other factors to decide
whether to propose a dividend and determine dividend
payout ratio.
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The distribution of dividend is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association.
Furthermore, the Company shall consider any banking or
other funding covenants by which the Company is bound
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
pursuant to the Group’s financial and operational status from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend
will be proposed or declared in any given year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the fees for the
services provided by to the Company’s auditor are set out
as follows:

Audit services A% AR7%
Non-audit services FEEZ IR

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Chun Yin was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 3 April 2018. The selection, appointment
or dismissal of the company secretary is approved by
the Board. Mr. Chiu is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
biographical details of Mr. Chiu are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”.

For the year under review, Mr. Chiu has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at the place as may be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”).
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Right to convene EGM

Any one or more members holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Company’s principal office as
set out in the manner below, to require an EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, and such may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene
an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request which has been verified is not in
order, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal, as follows:

(@ At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (@and not less
than 10 business days) if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company;

(b) At least 21 clear days’ notice in writing (and not
less than 20 business days) if calling for an annual
general meeting or the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in EGM.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the principal

place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision). However,
shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the
Company’s Articles for including a resolution at an EGM. The
requirements and procedures are set out above. Pursuant
to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other than a director
retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
directors for election, be eligible for election as a director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the registration office provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the notices are
submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting. The written notice must state that
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. The procedures for shareholders of
the Company to propose a person for election as director is
posted on the Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual general
meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website
at www.ntmediabj.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there had been
no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INTRODUCTION, APPROACH TO ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE AND REPORTING

The Group believes sustainability is a key to achieve
continuous success, and we have developed sustainability
strategy with aims to create sustainable values to
stakeholders, and to continue lower the Group’s impact on
the environment. The Group recognises the importance of
integrating ESG aspects into its risk management system
and has taken corresponding measures in its daily operation
and governance perspective.

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
(the “ESG Report”) summarises the initiatives, programmes
and performance of the Group as well as demonstrates its
commitment to sustainability.

The core businesses of the Group are principally engaged
in the provision of program production services, event
organisation services, mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce services, entertainment contents on demand
system services and artist management.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach
in regards to ESG issues. The Board oversees and sets
out ESG strategies for the Group, while taking an ultimate
responsibility for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s
ESG policies. Designated staff were assigned to enforce and
supervise the implementation of the relevant ESG policies.

REPORTING SCOPE

Unless stated otherwise, this report mainly covers the
Group’s major operating revenue activities under direct
management control, including its provision of program
production services, event organisation services,
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce services and
entertainment contents on demand system services and
artist management.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting
Period”), we have relocated our Hong Kong office to 23/
F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. Our key performance
indicator (“KPI”) KPI data will include the new office’s
environmental and social information.

The Group will continue to assess the major environmental,
social and governance aspects of different businesses
to determine whether it needs to be included in the
environmental, social and governance reporting scope.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in the Appendix 20 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”).

For the Group’s corporate governance practices, please
refer to page 15 to page 27 for the section “Corporate
Governance Report” contained in this report.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges
and measures taken by the Group during the Reporting
Period.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views
relating to its businesses and environmental, social and
governance issues. In order to understand and address
stakeholders’ concerns, the Group communicates with its
key stakeholders, including but not limited to: employees,
investors, customers, suppliers, government bodies
and communities via through different channels such as
conferences, electronic platforms and public events etc.
In formulating operational strategies and environmental,
social and governance measures, the Group takes into
account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to
improve its performance through mutual cooperation with
the stakeholders, resulting in creating greater value for the
community.

Materiality Assessment

The management and employees who are responsible for
the key functions of the Group have participated in preparing
this report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operation,
identifying key ESG issues and assessing the importance
of these issues to our businesses and stakeholders. We
compiled a questionnaire in reference to the identified
material environmental, social and governance issues to
collect the information from relevant departments and
business units of the Group.
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The following table summarises the Group’s material ESG TERAXBREMBAEEBEANIRRE  HERERER
issues as set out in this report: e
The ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG aspects of the Group Page
BRI - HERERBMERES FEERE HEREREEHRE BE™
A. Environment
A IRIR
A1. Emissions Waste Management 32
A1 BERY) EEYER
Greenhouse Gas Emission 33
B REEBER
A2. Use of Resources Energy Consumption 35
A2. BIRER BEIRERE
Water Management 36
RKER
A3. The Environmental Noise Pollution, Outdoor Lightings, Landscape and natural habitat 37
and Natural Resources
A3 IRERRREIR BESR - PIMEK SBEREAEEM
B. Society
B.#&
B1. Employment Diversity, Equal-Opportunity and Anti-Discriminator 38
B1. f&1& Zitlk - e T ERRIER
Remuneration
el
B2. Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety 38
B2. 2L R BEERETE
B3. Development and Training Technology and Training 39
B3. # /& KIEF ety Ko s
B4. Labor Standards Prevention of Child Labor or Forced Labor 39
B4. 45 TR BLEE Tekaamhss T
B5. Supply Chain Management Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain 40
B5. iR E R HEERE A ERKREE
B6. Product Responsibility Quiality and Safety of Services 41
B6.EmEIT fRiGHmE a2
Intellectual Property Management and Privacy 41
MBEREIE KRBT
Social Moral Standards 41
HEBERE
B7. Anti-Corruption Prevention of Corruption and Fraud 42
B7. k&S hIEI=EPNE S
B8. Community Investment Contributions to Society 43

B8. (@ E

k- F/N
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During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for environmental, social and governance
issues are in place and confirmed the information disclosed
in the Report complies with the ESG Reporting Guide.

Contact us

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our
stakeholders. You may provide comments on this report
or towards our performance in respect of sustainable
development.

A. ENVIRONMENT
A1. Emissions
General Disclosure and KPI

The Group is committed to ensuring the long-term
sustainability in the environment and community where
we operate. We recognise our responsibilities towards
the potential environmental impacts associated with
our business operations and integrate environmental
consideration into our decision-making processes.

The core businesses of the Group, which mainly involves
program production services, event organisation services,
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce services,
entertainment contents on demand system services
and artist management services, mainly rely on internet
technology and related equipment and do not involve
any manufacturing processes in the course of business.
Therefore, the Group and its offices did not generate
significant emissions, water pollutants and hazardous
wastes during the operation, except for greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions and non-hazardous waste during the
Reporting Period.

The Group recognises the threat of global warming and
climate changes are the major environmental issues to
the world. Within our environmental policy framework, we
continually look for different opportunities to pursue less
carbon emission operation, environmentally friendly media
production, reducing energy use and recycle of materials
used in daily operation.

The Group has complied with relevant environmental laws
and regulations, including but not limited to “Air Pollution
Control Ordinance”, “Water Pollution Control Ordinance
& Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong SAR,
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention” and “Control of Air Pollution and
Environmental Protection Law of Solid Waste Pollution of the
People’s Republic of China”. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not identified any material non-compliance
of environmental laws and regulations relating to the air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that
would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Waste management

The Group adheres to waste management principle and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced by
our business activities. Our waste management practice has
been complied with relevant laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection.

Due to the Group’s business nature, we did not generate
significant amount of hazardous waste. The non-hazardous
wastes generated by the Group’s operations mainly consist
of paper, toner cartridges and ink cartridges.

During the Reporting Period, the consumption volume
generated by the Group is shown as below:

BEYEE

AEEETENERRA > BEEERENMGERMINE
BEBELNMAREY - RN ERERYEZENNEE
FAIRIRAR KRB -

AR AEENEFEE  AEEYBEELAERZEY -
ARBEERELNIFATRYTRLRBER MR RE

= o
o

PATREHAR - AR T A MR A AT

Intensity -
Non-hazardous waste category Quantity Unit Unit per employee!
BE-SUES
BEBRZYESR BE B ELXAE (B E8)"
Paper 0.343 Tonnes 0.005
ok Mg
Toner cartridge 66 Piece 0.89
i3 &
Ink cartridges 8 Piece 0.11

AN
=8

We regularly monitor the consumption volume of paper,
toner cartridges and ink cartridges and have implemented
a number of reduction measures. We also provide suitable
facilities and encourage our staff to sort and recycle the
wastes to achieve the objectives in mitigating wastes,
reusing and recycling in its operations. The Group maintains
high standard in waste reduction, educates its employees
the significance of sustainable development and provides
relevant support in order to enhance their skills and
knowledge in sustainable development.

During the Reporting Period, use of Ink cartridges dropped
significantly from 27 pieces to 8 pieces and paper usage
decreased approximately 11% from 0.387 tonnes to 0.343
tonnes. The result is encouraging.

Note:

1. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 74 full-time employees
in total. The data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

1@

BMEEHERBMRE MaMNEL  WWITZHERDA
B - AMREERE - YSEE T HBEMHIR
NERBRAREY - RN ERRT ZZ0MNE - BRLE
ERRR ARBEERESTEGRSRE  YHEETA
FEZERMEREREHERE  BEROMETIRE
BREVIRAE A

RipEHIE - REFEEh 27 @AXERZ8E - BERRAE
i 0.387 WER D #711% £ 0.343 M - HEKIFS AT -

it -

1. RIF-NFf-A=+—H FEESHE7IETBES -
ZBIE TR B MR



Environmental Social and Governance Report
I»%iﬁ N 75':%& E/ﬁ$ﬁm

During our removal of new office, we have taken below
measures to implement our environmental policy into our
daily operation:

° Reuse of office furniture

° Use environmental friendly materials and paints
to ensure indoor air quality and healthy working
environment

° Clean the office using green products that create less
impact to the environment

o Equip with teleconference or video conference
facilities that reduce business travel and meetings
needed so as to reduce carbon emissions

Moreover, we also encourage employees to participate in
daily waste reduction management, including:

° Promote green information and electronic
communication, such as e-mail and electronic
workflows, to implement “paperless system” concept;

° Place “Green Message” reminders on office

equipment;

o Reuse old envelopes and use double-side printing.
Paper for single-side printing would be only adopted
when handling official documents and confidential
documents when necessary.

° Recommend the use of recycled paper.
Greenhouse gas (GHG) emission

The consumption of electricity at the offices and petrol are
the largest sources of greenhouse gas emissions of the
Group.

We have actively adopted the following measures to mitigate
the GHG emissions in our operations. At the office operation,
we promote everyone to turn off the air-conditioning
system at night or when leaving office, keeping the office
temperature at 25°C in summer and using LED lights or
energy-saving light in the office, etc.
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At the project level, the Group considers the principle
of environmental protection when launching each of its
projects. For example, in the course of selecting suppliers,
we assess whether the materials used by the suppliers in
the activities are hazardous to the environment and whether
they can effectively conserve energy and minimise carbon
emissions. Except for the above-mentioned measures, the
Group issues environmental-related memorandum to its
staff to raise their awareness of environmental preservation.
Notices and posters relating to the environmental
information have been placed in the offices to promote the
best practice of the environmental management.

The Summary of GHG emissions performances:

AEAEHE L AREERE—(@HE EEERRRA
EEHERRZEHRERNESER 2V ETHRE
BENEEEREREERERINBEIRIEI o bk Ll
Sh - AEEERE TEMRFEA - UIZRREREZ - Ut
S MAECH EHARREMNWBENER  UEER
BEENREEE -

RERBIAENE

Intensity - total
GHG emissions
per employee

Total emissions (tonnes COe/employee)

GHG Scope!' (Tonnes CO,e) RE - ’Sﬁﬁé}ﬂ
FEHNHEE REHNEE (=S

BEREEE (-—F{LHmER tiE8 1ES)
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) BERBEER(EE1)

— petrol consumption — AR ERE 26.96 0.36
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) BE TR (EE2)

— electricity consumption —E IR 110.51 1.49
Other indirect GHG emission (Scope 3) HEE R EREER(EE3)

— paper and water consumption —HR(E R RFEKE 2.81 0.04
Total GHG emission RERBHNAS 140.28 1.89

Note:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent
and was in reference to, including but not limited to, the reporting
requirements of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development,
the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas
Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential
or Institutional Purposes)”, the latest published Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China, "How to
prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX, “Global Warming
Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014
(ARDS).
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A2. Use of Resources
General Disclosure and KPI

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in business
operations, and continues with initiatives to introduce
resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations. The Group has established relevant
policies and procedures in governing the efficient use
of resources, aiming to achieve higher energy efficiency
and reduce unnecessary use of materials. All offices have
implemented effective energy conservation measures to
reduce emissions and resource consumption.

Energy Management

Due to the business nature of the Group, the volume of
energy consumption, electricity consumption and water
consumption are considered as relatively low, in particular
water consumption is very minimal. As mentioned in
the section A1, the Group has formulated policies and
procedures relating to the environmental management,
including energy management. Electricity consumption and
petrol consumption account for a substantial part of the
carbon emission for the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in
petrol and electricity were:

A2. ERE R
—REENBERENEE

AEERNNEEBSETE(CHBERIL A KR
REAGSBAEEBZED - ARBCORIBELERE
BEREMER - S EERESERMm MR B EH
ﬂ%g c AWM AEHE BEHEEaEE - WKL E
I IETE °

e EHE

ENARENEBEE - AEBWERER BEENE
RERHEIE - LEFEKEMTEM - A1 EE S AT
at - AEEEHE T RBRREEAMNBRMEF > B
BEREIR - T AZE ZREMTUERRAE BRI
HERA SRR

REHRE - AEETHERENREER ¢

Intensity -

Energy Type Quantity Unit Unit per employee

BE-BuES

BERER g By ELAE (B ES8)

Petrol 9,802.57 litre 132.47
v 7

Electricity 154,655.00 kWh 2,089.93
&7 TRE

On top of the measures of mitigating the energy
consumption mentioned in previous section, the Group
strives to utilise telephone or video conference to minimise
face-to-face meeting in order to reduce petrol consumption
in traveling and unnecessary business trips. The Group
encourages resources saving in daily office operation and
proactively fosters a low-carbon corporate culture, which
further increases our employees’ awareness in energy
conservation.

During the Reporting Period, volume of petrol used
increased from 4,228 litres to current 9802.57 litres. The
increase in petrol usage was mainly due to the Group has
offered more transportation service for guests and clients.
This in the reason of Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas (GHS)
emission increased from 12 tonnes to 26.96 tonnes during
the Reporting Period.
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Water Management

The Group does not consume significant water in
our business activities. Regardless of limited water
consumption, we still promote behavioral changes at office
and encourage water conservation. Pantry and toilets are
posted with environmental messages to remind employees
for water conservation, which results in enhancing our
employees’ awareness in water conservation. Due to the
geographical location of the Group’s operation and nature of
business, there is no issue in sourcing water.

During the Reporting Period, the water consumption (i.e.

wastewater discharge) of the Group and its intensity were as
follows:

Water Consumption (in cubic meters)

FIRETE

$EIE¥%}E@3¢T\@K3%7J< - ERAKEAR - 8
BB AERTTRNE - SBETAIAIK © ZRKRE &
%?Fﬁﬂﬂﬁ*ﬁhﬁﬁﬂﬁ RES THHMAK RARREST
BTHEIKER - ENELEMIENE REHNE - &
SER A EAREUER/KR ERERE -

R EHIRE - NREBFKE (BIEEKEER) REENT

Intensity- Total water consumption
per employee (cubic meters/employee)

FEK B (BN F53KET) RE-SEEENEFEKE (LK ES)
1,107.00 14.96
Use of Packing Material BRTFEHEA

Due to our business nature, the Group did not have physical
products for sale and therefore did not involve any use
of packaging materials. Therefore, this disclosure is not
applicable to the Group.

A3. Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure and KPI

The Group recognises the responsibility in minimising the
negative environmental impact of our business operations,
in order to achieve sustainable development for generating
long-term values to our stakeholders and community as a
whole.

The Group pursues the best practices in the environment
protection and focuses on the impact of the Group’s
businesses to the environment and natural resources. In
addition to complying with the relevant environmental laws
and regulations as well as to protect the environment,
the Group has integrated the concept of environmental
protection into its internal management and daily operations,
with the aim of achieving environmental sustainability.

The Group strives to promote environmental protection and
make effective use of resources. It carries out continuous
monitoring if the business operations incur any potential
impact to the environment, and minimises such impact
to the environment through promoting green office and
operating environment by adopting four basic principles
which comprise of reduce, reuse, recycle and replacement.
We adopt green purchasing strategies and the most
practical technologies to protect our natural resources at an
appropriate time.
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Noise Pollution

Most of the Group’s production are conducted in the studios
with good soundproof facilities. However, necessary noise
pollution practices are implemented during our program
production and event organisation activities.

Outdoor lightings

During outdoor production and event organisation, the
lightings are adjusted to avoid disturbing neighborhood
whenever possible. Most of the programs are also shot in
the indoor area.

Landscape and natural habitat

The Group strives to minimise any unnecessary interference
to the natural landscape and animal habitat in the process
of programs production and event organisation, in order to
maintain the natural beauty of the environment.

The Group regularly reviews its environmental protection
policies and has adopted the necessary precautionary
measures and actions to reduce significant impact on the
environment and natural resources, and ensure that the
Group complies with relevant laws and regulations.

B. SOCIETY
B1. Employment
General disclosure

For our industry, human resources are regarded as the
Group’s the largest and most valuable assets and the
foundation in supporting the development of the Group.
They provide the driving force for continuous innovation
to the Group. The Group established relevant policies
to support our human assets. These policies covering
recruitment, compensation, promotion, working hours and
holidays, diversity and equal opportunity, etc.

The Group has complied with relevant rules and regulations
in Hong Kong and People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
including but not limited to the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labor Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and the “Regulations on
Labor Inspection and Security”, as well as the statutory
requirements in Hong Kong, including the “Employment
Ordinance, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)”, the “Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)”, “Minimum Wages Ordinance”, the Personal Data
Privacy Ordinance” and other relevant rules and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations in that would have a significant impact on the
Group.
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Diversity, Equal-Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group is dedicated to providing equal opportunity
in all aspects and committed to maintaining a diverse
workforce that includes age, gender, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnicity, religion and so on. Any kind
of discrimination is strongly prohibited in our office.

The Group’s staff handbook contains polices in regards to
recruitment, promotion, discipline, working hours and leave.
The human resources department has been responsible for
ensuring all employees have fully understood the contents of
the handbook.

Remuneration

The management regularly reviews the Group’s
remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the market
standards and is committed to safeguarding the rights
and interests of the staff. Remuneration and benefits have
been adjusted on an annual basis in accordance with the
employees’ individual performance, contribution and market
conditions. The Group has established KPIs for performance
evaluation. Based on the result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging their achievement.

B2. Health and Safety
General disclosure
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has always focus on occupational safety and
has set up an occupational health and safety management
system to provide a safe working environment for
employees. The objective of the system is for monitoring and
reviewing the safety and health of employee periodically, and
performing regular checking in the office to ensure the safety
of working environment.

The Group has compiled with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, including but not limited to the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety” and
“Occupational Disease Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, as well as the legislative
requirements in Hong Kong, including the “Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance”, “Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance”, etc. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant rules
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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B3. Development and Training
General disclosure
Technology and Training

As technology is growing fast nowadays, knowledge on
technology is one of the competitive advantages of the
Group. Moreover, employees are regarded as the Group’s
largest and most valuable assets and an essential part of
maintaining this competitive advantage. The Group provides
its staff with training courses for upgrading skills, technology
knowledge and development as needed.

The Group encourages and supports employees to
participate in personal and professional training to fulfill the
needs of emerging technologies and new equipment. The
Group also encourages the culture of sharing of knowledge
and experience.

Employee can utilise of technology for training. Employee
was being encourage to use online resources and media
for technology training to catch up with the latest use of
technology to support their own growth.

B4. Labour Standards
General disclosure
Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group strictly prohibits employing any child labor or
forced labour in its operations in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The Group has established a well-defined recruitment
process which examines the background of candidates and
a formal reporting procedure for handling any exception.
During the recruitment process, the age of the applicant
is verified against the identity documents of the applicant.
In addition, the Group conducts regular reviews and
inspections to prevent any child labor or forced labor in
operation.

In the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
and contractors which are already known to be employing
child labor or forced labor in their operations.

The Group has compiled with all the relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to, the “Employment of
Children Regulations” (Chapter 57B of the Laws of Hong
Kong) under the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the “Convention on the Abolition
of Forced Labor with respect to Employment of Workers”,
the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China” on the
Employment of Adolescents under the Age of 16 and their
“Legal Rights and Interests and Provisions on the Prohibition
of Child Labor in the People’s Republic of China”. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group.
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B5. Supply Chain Management
General disclosure
Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and
social risks. We are aware of the environmental and social
practices of the suppliers, and try to engage suppliers with
responsible acts to the society in view of green supply chain
management. The Group has established and implemented
the Supplier Management Policy in order to strengthen the
selection of suppliers. We welcome qualified, competent
and high-quality suppliers to join.

The Group’s procurement department is responsible for
organising the supplier evaluation work in two ways which
include the ongoing project evaluation and the annual
assessment. The evaluation results will serve as the basis of
supplier management. Suppliers need to react quickly to the
assessment result, taking effective measures to improve the
services provided within prescribed period. The Group has
the rights to terminate the cooperation with service providers
who violate the rules or do not meet the targets.

The Group has formulated Supplier Selection Policy and
preserve a Supplier Registration. In the selection of new
suppliers, the Group has compared at least three different
companies, taking account of their operational and
compliance records as well as their commitment level on
top of cost consideration. Prior to conducting business with
suppliers, we carry out annual reviews and evaluations in
various aspects including occupational health and safety,
employee rights protection, environmental protection
and corporate social responsibility. This ensures that our
operations comply with national standards or relevant
regulations and that we have no child or forced labor issues.
The assessment results will be used as a benchmark for the
continuation or termination of cooperation in the future.

The Group maintains close liaison with its suppliers to

monitor its performance to ensure that it is consistent with its
service commitment.
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B6. Product Responsibility
General disclosure
Quality and Safety of Services

As a media and event producer, we define quality as
customer satisfaction and safety as our production
content’s impact to society and the Group pays high
attention to both of them. The Group has established
relevant quality and safety inspection policies for different
projects, communicates with our customers and confirms
their project expectation and direction prior launching any
project, and actively coordinates projects with customers in
the process of providing services.

Intellectual Property Management and Privacy

The Group’s daily operations involve the use of the
intellectual property owned by customers, suppliers or the
Group itself. Therefore, the protection of intellectual property
rights is an extremely important task for the Group. When the
Group engages with its customers or suppliers, it will include
the protection of intellectual property in the contractual
terms. The Group’s legal department will also review all
the contracts in operation and ensure that the contractual
terms protect both parties’ intellectual property rights.
The Group also requires technical professionals to sign
strict confidentiality agreements. Confidential information
of our customers is only accessible to employees who are
responsible for the corresponding project.

The Group has established data privacy policy to handle
various data and information to ensure the compliance to
local laws and regulations. Confidential personal data is
stored at security server with access control.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complies with
relevant laws governing the confidentiality of data and
intellectual property, including but not limited to “Hong Kong
Intellectual Property Law”, “Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and “Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China”.

Social Moral Standards

Media and Broadcasting companies have social
responsibilities on its content propagated to the public as
its huge impact to the vast amount of audience. Based
on the nature of the business, most of the content on the
Internet channel is online live broadcast or produced by
different Internet users. According to the relevant laws and
regulations such as “Beijing Self-Discipline Convention
on Network Performance (Live Broadcasting)” and other
standards, the Group has established strict rules on these
contents.
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In order to ensure the compliance with the national
regulations, the Group regularly checks the content of its
broadcasts and on-demand system for program production
activities. The Group is committed to providing positive
messages for the community. Content such as violence,
pornography, hatred, superstition, gambling, etc. is strictly
forbidden.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Administrative
“Measures on Internet Publishing Services” circulated by
the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film
and Television and the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, the “Measures for the Administration of
Internet Information Services of the People’s Republic of
China” promulgated by the State Council, and the “Interim
Provisions on Internet Culture Management” promulgated
by the Ministry of Culture and so on. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.

B7. Anti-Corruption
General disclosure

The Group strives to achieve high standards of ethics in our
business operations. Fraudulent events such as corruption,
bribery, and collusion are strictly prohibited.

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group has implemented the “Prevention of Commercial
Bribery Management Policy”, strengthening its internal
control mechanism, anti-corruption and anti-bribery work
s0 as to achieve the business philosophy of “abiding by the
law, integrity and quality service”. For projects with higher
monetary value, the Group makes an open bidding invitation
to at least three suppliers. Different level of approval and
authorisation is required according to the size of the tender
agreement.

The policy also includes the establishment of an inspection
team and the establishment of a channel for evaluation
the cases. It is strictly forbidden to use the business
opportunities or powers to obtain personal interests or
benefits. Employees should comply with the rules stated in
the Staff Handbook in performing business activities.

The Group has established whistleblowing policy and
procedures for all levels and operations. Staff can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties
such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also encourages employees
and all persons with whom the Group does business,
including customers and suppliers, to report the suspected
misconduct within the Group voluntarily.
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The Group has compiled with all relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to Hong Kong’s
“Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” and the Mainland’s
“Corruption Ordinance of the People’s Republic of China”.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

B8. Community Investment
General disclosure
Contributions to Society

The Group encourages employees to participate in charity
events, volunteer works, and environmental protection
activities in order to make contributions to our society. We
believe that our employee could build up positive value
and to be socially responsible through participate in those
activities.

The Group enhances the quality of life of community through
arts, culture and entertainment using on demand systems
and activities. As the culture development, the community
can gain a deeper understanding of history and culture and
enjoy higher appreciation of the present and future cultural
activities and to a greater level of enjoyment.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the content of
the broadcasts and organised events are produced
in accordance with the Group’s policy of considering
community interests and fully complied with the national
regulations and rules, which further promotes positive
news to the community and restricts any negative content,
including as violence, pornography, hatred, superstition,
gambling, to be broadcasted.

The Group will consider from time to time to make donations
to charities when the Group records after-tax profits and has
sufficient funds.
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ESG Reporting Guide Index

(B - g RERBEESDRIIE

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Statement  Disclosure Page
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Aspect A1: Emissions
[Em AT HER
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions Disclosed 31
(@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a
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water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
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Environmental Social and Governance Report

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

RIS -

el ERRE

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Statement  Disclosure Page
TEGE - BE
—REBERBERERESE @k 4:1 - 1 wE B
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2 : RELTE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety — Disclosed 38
Occupational Health
(@ the policies; and and Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have
a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and
protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— MR FEAREZ2TERERREEREE RERET2-BEE DRE 38
MEBELREEN RLE
() HX: &
b) BTHTEITABERTENM
AR MR ER -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
EMEB3 : BEKEI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ Development and Disclosed 39
knowledge and skills for discharging  Training — Technology
duties at work. Description of Training
training activities.
—ARBER ﬁ%%ﬂ@a@‘lﬁ%f%ﬂ% BRI -RMTR  2RE 39
R ERBEHIBR - Ful s EE) =gl
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETEB4 : 85T %R
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards - Disclosed 39
Prevention of Child
(@ the policies; and labour of Forced
Labour
(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
— MR A IEET RasIZTH BITHRA-HIEET B#E 39
S 5R HIIE5 T
() BHX: &
(b) BEFHBITABERTENMN
=R LRI ER -
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Environmental Social and Governance Report

RIE - S RERRSE

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Statement  Disclosure Page
TEGE - BE
—REBERBERERESE @k 55,88 wE B
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
EEBS : ftEEEIE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental  Environmental Disclosed 40
and social risks of the supply chain.  and Social Risks
Management of
Supply Chain
— MR ERHEENRIR R G RRIBE - %%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@@ EHRE 40
BB IR
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmET
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility  Disclosed 41
— Quality and safety of
(@) the policies; and services, Intellectual
Property Management
(b) compliance with relevant laws  and Privacy, Social
and regulations that have Morai Standards
a significant impact on the
issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating
to products and services
provided and methods of
redress.
— M FHEFRHERNRBOHREERE Endt-RENn DRE 41
2B SEHRVEEEURE BEZE - MEEE
ROTER EERENL g
iR
(@ B &

b) BTHETABEATZENNR
AR NIRDINER o
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Environmental Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERRE

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Statement  Disclosure Page
FTEEHRE - B
—REBERBERERESE @k 55,88 wE B
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BmB7 : RE)S
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption Disclosed 42
— Prevention of
(@ the policies; and Corruption Fraud
(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
—PRARER B ILERES - 9% HEFRAER REF-HLEESE BER 42
=h - gL S
(@ B &k
b) BFHETAREARENE
AR RIRADIER -
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EMEBS : @&
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement ~ Community Disclosed 43
to understand the needs Investment —
of the communities where Contributions to
the issuer operates and to Society
ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’
interests.
— M ARAUME2SIRTRBITARE MHREE-MHERE CEE 43
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang, aged 56, is an executive director
and the president and chief executive officer of our Group.
Mr. Yang is the son of the founders of the Group. Mr. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the overall operations,
management, business development and strategic planning
of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, he was appointed
as the general manager of Beijing Zhonglu Intelligence
Cultural Development Co., Ltd. in November 1994. Mr.
Yang graduated from the Business Institute of Beijing
(currently Beijing Technology and Business University) with a
bachelor’s degree in business administration and commerce
in July 1983.

Ms. Yang Jianping, aged 64, is an executive director and
a deputy chief executive officer of our Group. Ms. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the management of
the Group’s finance, human resources and administrative
matters. Ms. Yang graduated from Beijing Open University
with a bachelor’s degree in finance and accounting in July
1988. She attained the qualification of an intermediary
accountant in December 1992.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Shiyuan, aged 43, is a non-executive director
of the Company. He was re-designated from an executive
director to a non-executive director on 25 March 2019.
Mr. Yang has been responsible for supervising the Group’s
business in large-scale performance events, such as awards
ceremonies and movie premieres. He joined the Group in
October 2002 as a project assistant and was promoted
to the position of project manager in August 2004. From
October 2009 to the date of re-designation as a non-
executive director, he served as a project director in the
Group.

Mr. Ge Xuyu, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive
director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr. Ge has been
primarily responsible for seeking investment and acquisition
opportunities and managing the investment project of the
Group. Mr. Ge has been serving as the general manager
of Mongolian Desert Resources LLC since December
2010. He is currently certified as a senior accountant in
the PRC. During May 1983 to February 2002, he worked
at China Construction 4th Engineering Bureau 6th Corp.
Limited holding financial positions and was promoted to
senior accountant in August 2001. From February 2003 to
December 2010, he served as a deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Dongrunda Investments Development Co., Ltd..
Mr. Ge graduated from Anhui Open University majoring in
financial accounting in 1990. He obtained the qualification as
an accountant in October 1994.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wang Yong, aged 51, was appointed as a non-
executive director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr. Wang
has been primarily responsible for supervising our Group’s
overall management and strategic planning. Mr. Wang has
been working as a deputy managing director at Beijing Tianyi
Jinxiu Co., Ltd. since 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Fei, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of our Group on 3 November 2015.
Mr. Li is currently a professor of marketing at the School
of Economics and Management and a deputy director of
the China Retail Research Center of Tsinghua University.
He is also the vice president of Chinese Business History
Association. Mr. Li taught marketing and retail management
at Beijing Business Management College from July 1983
to April 2002. Since May 2002, Mr. Li has been teaching
marketing, retail management and luxurious product
marketing at the School of Economics and Management of
Tsinghua University. Mr. Li graduated from Beijing Institute
of Business with a bachelor’s degree in business and
economics in 1983 and a master’s degree in business and
economics in 1988. In 2002, he obtained a doctorate degree
in Economics from Renmin University of China. Mr. Li was an
independent director of Shandong Wohua Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002107), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, between April 2006 and April
2009 and an independent non-executive director of Huiyin
Household Appliances (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (stock code:
1280), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, between
March 2010 and July 2011. Since April 2014, Mr. Li has
been serving as an independent director of Beijing Cuiwei
Tower Co., Ltd. (stock code: 603123), a company listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Since March 2015, he has also
been serving as an independent director of Beijing Capital
Retailing Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600723), a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior I\/I'anag-er'ﬁent

EEREREEERE

Mr. Tan Song Kwang, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of our Group on 3
November 2015. Mr. Tan has been a director of the Financial
Advisory Department of Stratus Capital Pte Ltd. since 2005
and an independent director, chairman of the nomination
committee and member of the remuneration and audit
committees of Oriental Group Ltd. (SGX: 5FI) from February
2004 to December 2016. From May 2012 to January
2014, he served as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the remuneration committee, member of the
nomination and audit committees of China Paper Holdings
Ltd (SGX: C71). Mr. Tan graduated from National University
of Singapore with a bachelor’s degree in arts, majoring in
economics and sociology, in 1991.

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, aged 31, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Group on 18
July 2018. Mr. Yau has joined Wai Hung Group Holdings
Limited since February 2018 and appointed as Chief
Financial Officer on 21 February 2018. Mr. Yau is responsible
for the overall financial management of Wai Hung Group
Holdings Limited. Mr. Yau graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of business
administration (Honours) in professional accountancy in
October 2011. He has been a certified public accountant
registered with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2018. Prior to joining Wai Hung
Group Holdings Limited, Mr. Yau worked in the audit and
assurance department at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu since
September 2011 and he left Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
an audit manager in February 2018.

Note:

Each of the Directors does not have any relationship with any other
Directors and any member of our senior management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu Chung Yiu, aged 43, was appointed as chief
financial controller of the Group on 3 April 2018. Mr. Fu
holds a bachelor’s degree of science in actuarial science
from London School of Economics and Political Science.
Mr. Fu has over 17 years’ experience in financial, merger &
acquisition, risk and investment management. He previously
worked in Chevalier Asset Management Limited (a wholly
own subsidiary of Chevalier International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 025)) and UBS Group AG as assistant manager
and associate director respectively. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Fu was a director of an advisory company.

Mr. Chiu Chun Yin, aged 30, was appointed as company
secretary of the Group on 3 April 2018. Mr. Chiu has been
a certified public accountant registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 2017.
He holds a bachelor’s degree of commerce (Honours)
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University. Mr.
Chiu joined the Company in February 2016 as an assistant
finance manager and was promoted to finance manager in
June 2017. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chiu worked
in several accounting firms. He has over 7 years of extensive
experience in the field of accounting, auditing and financial
management.

Mr. Wan Shuxing, aged 50, is the chief engineer of the
Group. Mr. Wan has been primarily responsible for the
construction and implementation of the Group’s stage art
projects. From July 1991 to December 2002, Mr. Wan
worked at China Construction 1st Engineering Bureau 4th
Corp. Limited. Mr. Wan graduated from Harbin Institute
of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in industrial and
residential construction in July 1991.

Mr. Yao Qinrong, aged 35, is the chief executive officer of
Capital Land, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yao was one
of the foundation shareholders of Capital Land. Mr. Yao has
been primarily responsible for the operations, management,
business development and strategic planning of Capital
Land. From March 2010 to December 2015, Mr. Yao had
been an assistant president of 1905 (Beijing) Network
Technology Co. Ltd..
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to
present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 87 of this report and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of financial position on
page 88 of this report.

The financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2018 is set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
dividend policy of the Group is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” on page 15 to 27 to this
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM 2017 PLACING

The Group fully utilised the net proceeds of approximately
HK$50.7 million from the 2017 Placing as at 30 June 2018
as intended. Details of the utilisation of the 2017 placing
of shares are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 6 to 14 of this report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity in page 90 and note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31

December 2018 was approximately RMB41.1 million (as at
31 December 2017: RMB132.3 million) (restated).
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did
not made any charitable contributions (2017: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 14 of
this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, major risks are summarised below.

Reliance on limited number of customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue
from a limited number of customers. For the year ended
31 December 2018, the five largest customers of the
Group contributed 35.5% of total revenue to the Group.
There is a risk that these significant customers to cancel or
early terminate the contract and no assurance that these
significant customers will continue their business relationship
with the Group or that the revenue generated from the
customers will increase or be maintained in the future. The
Group will continue to expand the customer base to mitigate
the risk.

Intense competition

The television broadcasting content production market is
highly fragmented. New players are entering into the market,
while existing big players are growing. The Group is facing
pricing pressure from the television station customers which
have the sole decision making to which program to be
played. The Group also faces threat of substitution by films,
television series and competition programs which take up
higher proportions of audience rating compared to television
broadcasting contents such as variety shows.

The robust sector in the event organisation is very
competitive. Apart from competition with other event
organisers, television stations, online video networks and
film distributors with high backward integration ability, many
corporations setup their own in-house public relations,
which have the ability to organise their own events such as
annual parties. Further, companies that are well-established
in other related fields such as public relations agencies,
also are the potential competitors of the event organisation
segment of the Group.
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Uncertainties of market demand of recently developed
businesses

The Group had made material investment in the mobile
live broadcasting and e-commerce and entertainment
contents on demand system businesses. The Group
believes these businesses have huge potential under the
fast growing internet platform and the huge demand in
the pan-entertainment sector. However, the instability
in determining reliable estimates on the fast changing
users’ behaviors make no assurance that our optimistic
expectation on these businesses can be realized. Further,
its regulatory control are not fully sophisticated. The Group’s
operations of “entertainment contents + social media +
e-commerce” of mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce
business require quick reaction to the rapid market changes,
therefore the Group has not yet been affirmed that the value
of this business model will be realized in the short term.
Although the PRC government has started to strengthen
the supervision of the entertainment outlets (such as mini-
cinemas) which can benefit the Group in long-term under the
consolidation of the sector, the relevant regulations have just
been implemented for a short period of time and the market
may require a certain period of time to reflect the effect of the
new regulations.

Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and
entertainment contents on demand system are not
necessities, the demand of these businesses may fall
significantly if the economy in the PRC faces material
downturn with the decrease in purchasing power of
potential consumers. In addition, the consumption trend
and demand of the internet and pan-entertainment can be
changed quickly, the Group may require to deploy resources
continuously to attract and retain the customers’ loyalty. The
management of the Group will closely monitor the operation
and the market changes of these segments.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers is contained in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages
28 to 49 of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies is
contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 28 to 49 of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong while
the Company itself is listed on GEM. The establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 204
of this report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors

Mr. Yang Shiyuan (Re-designated from executive director
on 25 March 2019)

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Li Fei

Mr. Law Kin Ho (Resigned on 18 July 2018)
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Appointed on 18 July 2018)
Mr. Tan Song Kwang

One-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles, providing that
every director shall be retired at least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang has entered into directors’ service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 18 November 2015 (the “Listing
Date”) renewable automatically until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time
thereafter.

Ms. Yang Jianping has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 6 April 2017 renewable automatically until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other expiring at the end of the
initial term or any time thereafter.
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The non-executive directors of the Company were not
appointed for a specific term but their respective terms of
office are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to
ensure that all Directors of the Company shall retire at least
once every three years and be eligible for re-election.

Each of our independent non-executive directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.
Each letter of appointment is for an initial term commencing
on the date of the letter of appointment and shall continue
thereafter subject to a maximum of three years unless
terminated by either party giving at least one month’s notice
in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has or
is proposed to enter into a service contract/letter of
appointment with the Company or any of the subsidiaries of
the Company (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that Directors and officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty. Directors and officers liability
insurance is arranged to cover the Directors and officers
of the Company against any potential costs and liabilities
arising from claims brought against them.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors of the Company had a material beneficial
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing connected
transactions” and “Connected transaction” below and
“Related party transactions” in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements, there is no contract of significance to
the business of the Group between the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, or a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a part,
during the year. During the year, no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

The related party transactions of the Group constituted fully
exempted connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on page 50 to
53 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interest and short position
of the Directors of the Company and chief executive of the
Group in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

(i) Long positions in ordinary shares of the
Company

EENEREEBZEE

AEEEFRRRERE L BEFBHNARE S 502563
ER

ESRFETRAESRA QA EMEBEENRSD
MEBROREFTHEZRAR

R-ZE—\F+_A=1+—0 ARAIZEEFRAEHEIZ
TTBABRAR A K EEBEAE (F#& R &5 kS A
([FEHREIE G ) EXVED) 8y - ARG RMESFT
FERBLARBES RPEEOIEI2FFENARRE
fCf - SARIEGEM AR RIZE 546 (FATit ETHETTAZE S
;’%ﬁ?&%E’Uiﬁi%’%ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ’&ﬂ&ﬂﬁ%?&ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁ?&&iﬁé%
NN

i) RAQATVZERNFAE

Percentage of

the Company’s

issued share

Number of capital

Name of Director Capacity and nature of interest shares BRITIRE

EEEB EatE RHEE BRABED

Goldbless International Limited Beneficial owner M 382,500,000 26.87

(“Goldbless”) EnlEa A Mz

SEEBRERAR([2%£])

Mr. Wang Yong Interest of controlled corporation % 382,500,000 26.87

TEEE
Note:
The entire issued share capital of Goldbless is owned by Mr.

Wang Yong. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang Yong is deemed to be
interested in all the shares registered in the name of Goldbless.
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(i) Long positions in ordinary shares of US$1.00
each in Youth Success Holdings Limited (“Youth
Success”)

Name of Director

Report of the Directors
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(i) 7 Youth Success Holdings Limited ([ Youth
Success ) BREE1EAEBERVETE

Percentage of

Number of shares shareholding

EEEE BB EE BRESHBEDL
Mr. Philip Jian Yang e 7 1,273 12.73
15855 H )

Ms. Yang Jianping M2 150 1.50
B A+ (HiF2)

Mr. Yang Shiyuan o3 148 1.48
15 B 5 A 7ir)

Notes: Kiat:

1. Mr. Philip Jian Yang holds the shares of Youth Success
through Ever Ring Holdings Limited which is wholly-
owned by him.

2. Ms. Yang Jianping holds the shares of Youth Success
through Rich Promise Investments Limited which is
wholly-owned by her.

3. Mr. Yang Shiyuan holds the shares through State Trade
Global Limited which is wholly-owned by him.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

1. 15 RISt EiBBR 2 EHE B E KRB R 2 7l#F A Youth
Success A 17

2 BEFL+EBETERANEFREGTRAAIFE
Youth Success IR 17 °

3. B HiR 5 437 B A 2 B A 7 State Trade Global Limited
#%45 Youth Success #5817 °

BREXFEREEN R-FT-NF+_A=+—08 &
ARAREEREBITHABRARAISEAEREE(E
# B85 LB IRGIFEXVER) mERBRD - ARG RME
HFHREERCAMREBRES KPERPIFE 2 FFENEL
AIERCH - SiRIE GEM L AR RIS 5.46 16RFTt 31T A
ERETRHGNREREANGANAT RERAERL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

KA

THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than i
a Director of the Company or chief executive of the Group)

FERRREMALTREQR R REBR GRS R

T-)\F+_A=1—H0 REIEFIPEKEIE
336 AT EHELMAEY - FHAL (RAREERA

had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying EETETHRAERIN RAA RN AR RN o 3k A 7
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required KRB -
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RAEQATEBRNEFE
Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Capacity and Number of capital
Name of Shareholder nature of interest shares BRITRE
RERERE fEEME BROER BAEIE
Youth Success Beneficial owner (ot 7 866,868,000 60.89
T A W)
Guang Rui Investments Limited Beneficial owner; 879,840,000 61.80
(“Guang Rui”) interest in controlled corporation (note 1)
tiﬁ&éﬁﬁﬁx Al ) Ena N R AE R
Mr. Yang Shaogian (“Mr. Yang”) Interest in controlled Corporation M 7; 879,840,000 61.80
Baaa e ([GBEED interest of spouse 2
AR EE Rz 0575 BB 42
Ms. Mu Sufang (“Ms Mu”) Interest in controlled Corporation o 7; 879,840,000 61.80

L2 SRR ull)

interest of spouse 2
NS ) BB a2
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Notes:

1. Youth Success and Guang Rui owns 406,890,000 shares and
12,972,000 shares respectively, representing 28.58% and 0.91%
of the issued share capital of the Company. The issued share
capital of Youth Success is legally and beneficially owned as to
83.54% by Guang Rui. Under the SFO, Guang Rui is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares registered in the name of Youth
Success. The entire issued share capital of Guang Rui is legally
and beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms.
Mu. By virtue of the shareholders voting agreement entered into
by Mr. Yang, Ms. Mu, Youth Success, Mr. Li Lin, Alpha Master,
Ms. Yang Qi, Qiao Tian Limited (“Qiao Tian”), Mr. Wang Yong
and Goldbless, Youth Success is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Alpha Master, Qiao Tian and Goldbless in
aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

2. Ms. Mu is the spouse of Mr. Yang, therefore she is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested, and vice versa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no other
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 3
November 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the date of its adoption and enables the
Company to grant share options to the eligible persons
(including any executive director, non-executive director and
independent non-executive director, advisor and consultant
of the Group) (the “Eligible Person(s)”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. No share option
was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed since its adoption
by the Company and there is no outstanding share option
under the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by the Group from time to time (the “Other
Schemes”) must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue of as at the Listing Date, the date
which the Company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided that the share options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Shares Option
Scheme or Other Schemes will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. On the
basis of 1,200,000,000 Shares in issue on the Listing Date,
the Scheme Mandate Limit will be equivalent to 120,000,000
Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date and 8.43% of the shares of the Company in issue
as at the date of this report.
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The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to
each Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time, and
provided that if approved by shareholders of the Company in
general meeting with such Eligible Person and his associates
abstaining from voting, the Company may make a further
grant of share options to such Eligible Person (the “Further
Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant would result
in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted and to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and Other Schemes to
such Eligible Person (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of the Further Grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28 days
from the date on which the share option is granted.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company
subject to the Share Options Scheme will be a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Eligible Person
and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options,
which must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five trading days of the Stock Exchange immediately
preceding the date of grant of the share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share of the Company.

An share option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a
period to be determined and notified by the Board to each
Eligible Person provided that the period within which the
share option must be exercised shall not be more than 10
years from the date of the grant of share option.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2018 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

EEA+ AR REBREFELREMABR TS
BIEANTEBRE (B ITE R EARTTRERE) BT
% BEETESTRETNARTARDAHTNSEETRHE
BITARABRME 1% @ A D RRRERRAS (B
BEMALTREBME ABRERE)MER - ARBAAE
S ERA TR ERBEINBIHME ([RBIMRH ) - @EEIMNE
HERESEHERE R BREBEIINZLE B 1218 A R -
REBBERET SN EMAICRTEBETEHSERA
THFABRBEE (BEEITE « il R EARTTERBRE) &
IR - BBEITERETRITARABRMHABEER T RKE
BITARBIRMDEI1% AL -

REMBERER BRI TAERALAX1.008
TTTARA - FRERBRENNE - BRENRASR
KRB B et 28 B HEAMA -

SERERRNARTROREEEHESTSET - LA
EEARERAL  BRAATINSENGRSS @ ()RR
EREAH(VEARBIARZA) BT ARERAH
R R RIS UTE (i) REER LB E B A 1 (EE
RAR S BMR A BRERAHAOAR ARG F KT
B K (i) AR FRDEE -

HEESRTEMBHEAERALHIER - ATEBERE
B B IR TR A - HETTEBREN IR AE
HBh B % H A B B RT 104 -

BEROHEF 2ZH

BHE_T-N\F+-_A=1t—HUIEFEREMNER A2
A B AT (AT B B 2 B MY B X R B AT ST AR 2 3k
HEEETEBREAR RS EMEMEE AR 2 KiHk
B Z i B EUNE ©



MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole and any
part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
35.5% of total turnover and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 11.7% of total
sales. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 68.5% of total direct costs during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 21.0%
of total direct costs.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any of the shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

A Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) has been
set up for employees in Hong Kong, in accordance to the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. All employees in
Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme and the
employees and its employer are each required to contribute
5% of their gross earnings with a current ceiling of HK$1,500
per month to the MPF scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF scheme is to make required
contribution under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future.
The contribution charged to the statement of comprehensive
income represents the contribution payable to the funds by
the Group.

Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by local municipal governments.
Contributions are made to the schemes in accordance to
certain percentage to the applicable employee payroll.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the reporting period of
the Group.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2018 had any interest in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group or any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held
by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on
page 15 to 27 of this report.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Beijing Emphasis Media Co., Ltd.* (“Emphasis Media”),
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.* (“Starry Knight”),
Beijing Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* (“Joy Star”), Beijing
New Image Media Co. Ltd.* (“New Image”) and Beijing Great
Wise Media Co.*, Ltd. (“Great Wise”) (collectively defined
as the “PRC Contractual Entities”) are deemed to be the
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangement.

Summary of the information in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement are as follows.

Information on the PRC Contractual Entities and their
Registered Owners

Emphasis Media was owned as to 10% by Mr. Yang and
as to 63.83% by New Element, with the remaining 26.17%
equity interest is held as to 12% by Mr. Li Lin, 5% by Ms.
Yang Qi, 4% by Mr. Sun Rui, 1.5% by Mr. Yang Shiyuan,
1.5% by Ms. Yang Jianping, 1.5% by Mr. Guan Rongliang
and 0.67% by Mr. Wan Shuxing (collectively referred as
“Relevant Shareholders”).

Each of Starry Knight, New Image and Great Wise is wholly-
owned by Emphasis Media.

Joy Star is held as to 97% by Ms. Mu and 3% by Mr. Yang.
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Business Overview of the PRC Contractual Entities

Emphasis Media, New Image and Great Wise are principally
engaged in the provision of program production services in
the PRC.

Starry Knight and Joy Star are principally engaged in the
provision of program production and event organisation
services in the PRC.

The PRC Contractual Entities hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of abovementioned
principal business (including The Permit to Produce and
Distribute Radio or Television Programs and operate as a
performance brokerage enterprise with the relevant licence).
According to the Guidance Catalogue of Industries for
Foreign Investment (2015 Version), radio and television
program production and operating companies falls
within the prohibited foreign-invested industry, and the
production of television programs (limited to Chinese-foreign
contractual joint ventures) and performance brokerage fall
within the restricted foreign-invested industry. The principal
activities of the Group are provision of program production
and event organisation services in the PRC, the sectors
where foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions
under PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, we cannot
directly acquire any equity interest in the PRC Contractual
Entities, which hold certain licences and permits required for
the operation of the principal business of the Group.

As a result, New Talent Media Company Limited* (“New
Talent Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) narrowly tailored to provide
New Talent Media with control over the PRC Contractual
Entities and grant New Talent Media the right to acquire the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities when and to
the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

Summary of the Major Terms under the Contractual
Arrangement

The Contractual Arrangements consist of: (a) the Business
Operating Agreements, (b) the Powers of Attorney, (c) the
Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, (d) the Exclusive Option
Agreements, (e) the Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements and (f) the Spouse Undertakings (in the
case that the Relevant Shareholder is a natural person).
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Business Operating Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into Business Operating Agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Business
Operating Agreements”), pursuant to which at the request
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities, New Talent Media
may opt to serve as the performance guarantor for each
of the PRC Contractual Entities in any business operating
contracts, agreements or transactions that they entered into
with third parties. In such case, as a counter-guarantee,
each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall agree to pledge
all its operational account receivable and assets to New
Talent Media. If New Talent Media decides to serve as the
performance guarantor for any PRC Contractual Entities,
New Talent Media will enter into a written agreement with
the counterparties of such PRC Contractual Entities to
assume the guarantor’s responsibilities. As such, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders will take
all necessary actions to implement the counter-guarantee
arrangement with New Talent Media.

Under the Business Operating Agreements, each of the PRC
Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders agree
that, without obtaining New Talent Media’s written consent,
each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall not engage in any
transaction which may materially affect its asset, obligation,
right or business operation, including but not limit to:

(i) Borrowing or assuming any liabilities from any third
parties;

(i)  Selling to or acquiring from any third parties any assets
or rights, including but not limited to any intellectual
property rights;

(i) Providing real rights of securities in relation to assets or
intellectual property rights to any third parties;

(iv)  Transferring any operational agreements to any third
parties.

Further, each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its
Relevant Shareholders agree to follow any recommendations
or guidance from New Talent Media in relation to each
of the PRC Contractual Entities’ employment matters,
daily operations and management, as well as financial
management policies. Each of the PRC Contractual Entities
and its Relevant Shareholders agree to appoint New Talent
Media’s nominees as its board directors, and each of the
PRC Contractual Entities will appoint the recommended New
Talent Media’s staff as its general manager, chief finance
officer, and for other senior management roles. If any of
abovementioned staff leave New Talent Media, whether
voluntarily or not, their roles in each of the PRC Contractual
Entities will be terminated.
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In addition, each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its
Relevant Parties agree to use New Talent Media as the
first resort for any performance guarantee or guarantees
for working capital borrowings. In such case, New Talent
Media has full discretion in deciding whether to provide such
guarantees, and the PRC Contractual Entities can resort to
other third parties if such request is turned down by New
Talent Media.

The relevant Business Operating Agreements have a term of
ten years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration
unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media. The relevant
Business Operating Agreements shall be terminated prior
to expiration when the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all rights and
obligations of New Talent Media or any PRC Contractual
Entities under such agreements have been transferred. If
any agreement between New Talent Media and any PRC
Contractual Entities is terminated or expired, New Talent
Media will have the right but not the obligation to terminate
all agreements between New Talent Media and any PRC
Contractual Entities, including but not limited to the Exclusive
Technology Consultation and Service Agreements.

Powers of Attorney

Each of the Relevant Shareholders entered into a power
of attorney on 18 May 2015 (the “Powers of Attorney”).
Pursuant to the Powers of Attorney, each of the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably appoints designee(s) of our
Company, being the Directors or officers of the Company
who are not related to the shareholders of the PRC
Contractual Entities or his/her successor to act as his/her/
its attorney on his/her/its own behalf to exercise all rights
in connection with matters concerning his/her/its rights as
shareholder of the PRC Contractual Entities, including but
not limited to (i) selling or transferring all or part of his/her/
its equity interests; (i) exercising shareholders’ voting rights,
including nomination and election of director and nomination
and appointment of general manager; (i) signing meeting
minutes and resolutions; (iv) approving filing documents with
the relevant companies registry and/or other government
authorities in relation to the business operations of the PRC
Contractual Entities; (v) other matters decided or executed
by the shareholders.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for ten
years from the execution date or it can be terminated upon
the termination of the Business Operating Agreement.
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Equity Interest Pledge Agreements

The Relevant Shareholders and New Talent Media entered
into equity interest pledge agreements on 18 May 2015
(the “Equity Interest Pledge Agreements”). Under the Equity
Interest Pledge Agreements, the Relevant Shareholders
agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in the
PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media, as a security
interest, to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts of the
Relevant Shareholders and the PRC Contractual Entities
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements, Business Operating Agreements and such
other agreements to be entered into under the Contractual
Arrangements. The pledge in respect of a PRC Contractual
Entity takes effect upon the completion of registration
with the competent SAIC and shall remain valid until one
year after all the contractual obligations of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully
performed and all the outstanding debts of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.
During the valid period of the pledge, absent prior written
consent of New Talent Media, the Relevant Shareholders
shall not create or agree to create any new pledge or any
other security on the equity interests of the PRC Contractual
Entities, nor assign or transfer any of the equity interests
of the PRC Contractual Entities or any rights or obligations
under this agreement.

The Equity Interest Pledge Agreements will be terminated
after one year upon fulfilment of all contractual obligations of
the Relevant Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity
under the relevant Contractual Arrangements.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into exclusive option agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), pursuant to which the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably, exclusively and unconditionally
grant exclusive options to New Talent Media which entitles
New Talent Media to elect to purchase, when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities from the
Relevant Shareholders and/or all or any of assets of the PRC
Contractual Entities by itself or through its designee(s). In
the event that any of the options is exercised by New Talent
Media, the transfer price of the relevant equity interests
and assets shall be the legal minimum price under the
then-applicable PRC law. Any of such transfer is subject
to approval and registration with government authorities.
Subject to applicable PRC laws, each of the Relevant
Shareholders shall transfer all the consideration he/her/it
receives in relation to such sale of equity interest in the PRC
Contractual Entities at nil consideration as a gift to New
Talent Media or the designee(s) of New Talent Media after
receiving such consideration, after deduction of applicable
taxes and governmental fees.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders shall not
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the
legal or beneficial interest in any assets, business or income
of the PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual
Entities and the Relevant Shareholders undertake to
maintain the asset value of the PRC Contractual Entities
and not to take any action which may affect their business
operations or asset value. Absent prior written consent
of New Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities and
the Relevant Shareholders shall not (i) in any manner
supplement, change or amend the articles of association
of the PRC Contractual Entities, increase or decrease their
registered capital or change their structure of registered
capital in any other manner; or (i) engage in transactions
that could materially affect the assets, liabilities, rights or
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities, including (a)
incur debts, except those incurred in the ordinary course
of business or disclosed to and consented by New Talent
Media; (b) execute any material contracts with a value above
RMB100,000, except those entered into in the ordinary
course of business; (c) provide loans or guarantee; (d) merge
or consolidate with, acquire or invest in any entity; and (e)
distribute dividends or profits to the Relevant Shareholders.

In addition, each of the Relevant Shareholders will take
appropriate measures to maintain its shareholding in the
PRC Contractual Entities, including (i) not to, sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of in any other manner, or allow any other
security interest to be created on the legal or beneficial
equity interest in the PRC Contractual Entities without
the prior written consent of New Talent Media, except for
the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, and procure the
shareholders’ meeting of the PRC Contractual Entities
not to approve such matters; (i) for each exercise of the
equity purchase option, to cause the shareholders’ meeting
of the PRC Contractual Entities to vote on the approval
of the transfer of equity interests and any other action
requested by New Talent Media; and (i) to relinquish the
pre-emptive right (if any) the Relevant Shareholder is entitled
to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any other
Relevant Shareholders to New Talent Media. Each of the
Relevant Shareholders will transfer to New Talent Media or
its designee(s), by way of gift, any profit, dividend, transfer
proceeds or any other interest arising from the equity
interests held by such Relevant Shareholder in the PRC
Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual Entities and the
Relevant Shareholders shall, at the request of New Talent
Media, appoint any person nominated by New Talent Media
in its sole discretion as directors of the PRC Contractual
Entities. Each of the Relevant Shareholders irrevocably
undertakes that whenever requested by New Talent Media,
such shareholder will transfer, unconditionally all of the
equity interests held by him/her/it in the PRC Contractual
Entities to New Talent Media or its designee(s) at a price
equal to the price as determined in the circumstances where
New Talent Media exercises its option under the Exclusive
Option Agreements.
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The relevant Exclusive Option Agreements have a term of
ten years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration
unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media. The
relevant Exclusive Option Agreements shall be terminated
prior to expiration when the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all rights and
obligations of New Talent Media under such agreements
have been transferred to a third party.

Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service Agreements

New Talent Media entered into exclusive technology
consultation and service agreements with each of the
PRC Contractual Entities on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Technology Consultation and Service Agreements”),
pursuant to which each of the PRC Contractual Entities
agreed to engage New Talent Media as their exclusive
provider of technical and management consulting services
and other technology and consultancy services requested
by each of the PRC Contractual Entities from time to time to
the extent permitted under PRC laws in each of exchange
for service fees. In light of the services that New Talent
Media agreed to provide to the PRC Contractual Entities
pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements, the service fees, subject to New Talent
Media’s adjustment, are equal to 100% of each of the PRC
Contractual Entities’ net profit after tax. In addition, New
Talent Media may at its absolute discretion lower the service
fees with reference to the operation cost and financial
budget relating to business development plan of each of the
PRC Contractual Entities. New Talent Media is also entitled
to make any other adjustments of the service fees at the end
of every quarter in accordance with the quarterly revenue
and profit of each of the PRC Contractual Entities under
HKFRSs.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of New
Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
assign or transfer any of the rights and/or obligations
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements to any third party. Unless otherwise required
by the applicable PRC laws, the PRC Contractual Entities
shall not be entitled to terminate the Exclusive Technology
Consultation and Service Agreements either.
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The Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements also provide that New Talent Media has
the exclusive proprietary rights to all intellectual property
rights developed or created during the performance
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements. The PRC Contractual Entities shall assign
their intellectual property rights to New Talent Media upon
request of New Talent Media. Our PRC Legal Adviser is of
the opinion that (i) it is legal for New Talent Media to hold
these intellectual property rights pursuant to the terms
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements; and (i) that New Talent Media and the PRC
Contractual Entities are not in violation of the requirements
of Patent Law of the PRC, Trade Mark Law of PRC and
Copyright Law of the PRC regarding the ownership of
intellectual property rights.

The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements have a term of ten years and will be
automatically renewed for consecutive terms of one year
upon expiry unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media.
The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements shall be terminated prior to expiration in the
event that (a) the business period of either New Talent Media
or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is terminated by
any other reasons except that all right and obligation of New
Talent Media under such agreements has been transferred
to a third party (b) New Talent Media unilaterally terminates
such agreements by advance written notice.

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the individual Relevant Shareholders,
if applicable, has signed an undertaking on 18 May
2015 (“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse
Undertakings, each of the spouses unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of the
Contractual Arrangements and consented that such
Relevant Shareholder is the sole beneficiary of all the
rights and interests and solely assumes obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements; further, he/she
does not and will not have any interests or rights under
the Contractual Arrangements, nor assumes any
obligations thereunder;

(i) all the equity interests held by such Relevant
Shareholder in the PRC Contractual Entities shall be
deemed as assets solely owned by such Relevant
Shareholder, not mutual assets jointly owned by him/
her and the related Relevant Shareholder;

@iy  the spouse will not participate in the operation or
management of the PRC Contractual Entities, nor will
claim any interests or rights in the equities of the PRC
Contractual Entities;
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(iv)  the spouse has confirmed that the performance and
further amendment or termination of the Contractual
Arrangements by such Relevant Shareholder do
not require his/her authorisation or consent; in the
event of divorce (as the case may be), such Relevant
Shareholder has sole discretion to decide how to
dispose of his/her interests in the PRC Contractual
Entities; and

(v) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests
in the PRC Contractual Entities, he/she will be
subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such
Contractual Arrangements, and at the request of New
Talent Media he/she will sign any documents in the
form and substance consistent with the Contractual
Arrangements.

Revenue and Assets in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement

During the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue
attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities (i.e. the
Contractual Arrangement) was approximately RMB8.2
million. As at 31 December 2018, the total asset and net
asset attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities was
approximately RMB114.7 million and RMB40.5 million
respectively.

Risks Related to the Contractual Arrangement

We rely on the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities for our operations in China, which may
not be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership.

We have relied and expect to continue to rely on the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC Contractual Entities
to operate our program production business in China.
The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing us with control over the PRC Contractual Entities
as direct ownership. If we had direct ownership of the PRC
Contractual Entities, we would be able to exercise our rights
as a shareholder to effect changes in the board of directors
of those entities, which in turn could effect changes, subject
to any applicable fiduciary obligations, at the management
level. However, under the Contractual Arrangements, we
rely on the performance by the PRC Contractual Entities and
their shareholders of their obligations under the contracts
to exercise control over the PRC Contractual Entities.
Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities may not be as effective in ensuring our
control over our operations in China as direct ownership
would be.

Any failure by the PRC Contractual Entities or their respective
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements with them would have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial conditions.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

(v) ZBEBCHER  HEARRETRE—FEFT 8K
IANTHEFERERRE  HLIRE(RER
miE) - RIFZARRERCR A 2B R E AR E AR
TEANERNED &

V) MZEEREERTESHEREIMAER  REXA
MR IERR TR IR BB TR B
BRAGHRHFNFIHT - ARSI ERE B R
%i%ﬁ%&%fﬁ&ﬂqQLEA%@§¢3F*§&E’UT£fEJY

BREHSIRZWEREE

BE-_ZT—)\F+-_A=+—HIFE AN EEE
U am (BE L) YABARES2HEIL - RZE—/\
FH+_A=1+—H HAHENERELHCEELENMEE
FEBIGHZHE) PN ABARE1147TEETLRARE
405BE&ETT °

HENZHRBNER

AL AR BT S A B R A B KB FE P BUAR S
WER LA BRI B BB TR IPHE LRI -

ARAHKEEPBESHERNA O EPBRE LA R
1EET - WIRHIHEE LU I PAMKHE - ZE R HTH ALY
WEEZMBERABIE TRMASTESOBERNE ST
HilfE o MBMEETEENBRNEHAERE - HIMIHE
TTERRERN  BAZFERNESS  AMAEZRMNME
MERANZEEERRET - ATEEEEEmAES) - A
- RIBELRYE - HAIKBERESOEE R EENRER
BITAKMEE  NEPEAOERITEREGE - Fit - K
AREREANOEBNS N L EERA QBRG] T EE
B ERVINERFIBRERABR °

WA R B P EA A B R REE G ZRRAGEETAR
FIEEER A A LRI AT - RIREI AL Ay KA
BMIEHEXTFIZE -



If a PRC Contractual Entity or its shareholders fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements, we
may have to incur substantial costs and resources to enforce
our rights under the contracts, and rely on legal remedies
under PRC law, including seeking specific performance
or injunctive relief and claiming damages, which may not
be effective. For example, if the shareholders of a PRC
Contractual Entity were to refuse to transfer their equity
interest in such Contractual Entity to us or our designee
when we exercise the call option pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements, or if they were otherwise to act in bad faith
toward us, then we may have to take legal actions to compel
them to perform their contractual obligations.

We conduct a substantial portion of our business operations
in the PRC through the PRC Contractual Entities by way
of the Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms
of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable
under PRC laws.

All of these Contractual Arrangements are governed by
PRC laws and provide for the resolution of disputes through
arbitration in China. Accordingly, these contracts would
be interpreted in accordance with PRC laws and any
disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The legal system in China is not as developed
as in other jurisdictions. As a result, uncertainties in the
PRC legal system could limit our ability to enforce these
contractual arrangements. Under PRC law, rulings by
arbitrators are final, parties cannot appeal the arbitration
results in courts, and the prevailing parties may only enforce
the arbitration awards in PRC courts through arbitration
award recognition proceedings, which would incur
additional expenses and delay. In the event we are unable
to enforce these contractual arrangements, we may not be
able to exert effective control over our the PRC Contractual
Entities, and our ability to conduct our business may be
negatively affected.

The Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the
effect that the arbitral body may award remedies over
the shares and/or assets of the PRC Contractual Entities,
injunctive relief and/or winding up of the PRC Contractual
Entities. These agreements also contain provisions to the
effect that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration
pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal. However, under
PRC laws, these terms may not be enforceable. Under
PRC laws, an arbitral body does not have the power to
grant directly injunctive relief or to issue a provisional or final
liquidation order for the purpose of protecting assets of or
equity interests in the PRC Contractual Entities in case of
disputes. In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong and the
Cayman Islands may not be recognisable or enforceable in
China. Therefore, in the event of breach of any agreements
constituting the Contractual Arrangements by the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders, and if
we are unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
we may not be able to exert effective control over the PRC
Contractual Entities, which could materially and adversely
affect our ability to conduct our business.
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Material Change

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there
is no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/
or the circumstances under which they were adopted.

Unwinding of Contractual Arrangements

As at the date of this report, there is no unwinding of any
of the Contractual Arrangement or failure to unwind when
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements are removed.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out
below which will be regarded as continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
defined, capitalised terms below has the same meanings as
those defined in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangement” in this report, the business operations
of the PRC Contractual Entities constitute a business
prohibited to foreign investment in the PRC, therefore, the
Company cannot directly acquire equity interests in the PRC
Contractual Entities. As a result, the Group has entered
into Contractual Arrangement to exercise and maintain
control over the operations of the PRC Contractual Entities,
obtain their entire economic benefits and prevent leakage
of the assets and values of the PRC Contractual Entities
to their shareholders in the PRC. Under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group supervises and controls the
business operations of the PRC Contractual Entities and
derives economic benefit from the PRC Contractual Entities
through New Talent Media.

The transactions under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules and are subject
to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules following the Listing.
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The table below sets forth the connected persons of the
Company involved in the Contractual Arrangements and the

nature of their connection with the Group:

Name of connected person

BAEALES
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EEEE
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%

Connected relationship

Mr. Yang
[ pitas

Ms. Mu
B2t

PRC Contractual Entities
FEEHERS

Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media

ERERNEIERR

Beijing New Element Consulting Co. Ltd.
(“New Element”)

s N TEEAERAF ([#LE]D)

The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby

Mr. Yang is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore
our connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.
g%%f;iliﬁﬁiﬁ'm@ﬁiﬂﬁ% - F AR GEM iR RIS 20.06 1R A B8
IH L/\ ©

Ms. Mu is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our
connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.
%éf)&%ﬁzﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ&% - F AR R GEM _ETT#R RIS 20.06 1R A B8
9H L ©

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities is indirectly controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders of the Group and is therefore an associate of
the controlling shareholders and the connected person of the Group,
among other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
EHRBE A EBRZERBREEES - Eit BB PR E A
KRR GEM ETRAIE 20.10 16 4& (K 85 BMIHBEEAL -

The Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are shareholders of
Emphasis Media and the Company, and directors of New Talent Media.
Therefore the Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are the
connected persons under the GEM Listing Rules.
EREKNEERRABERINRKARANBRR BRI EHES -
Fit - |REREERERR BB GEM L RAIE THRBEA L -

New Element is owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms. Mu
respectively, and is therefore an associate of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mu,
the Controlling Shareholders and the connected person of the Group,
among other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
MATEREGEERELTHRIER60% K% 40% + Bt (K aiE)iRE
GEM E#RRIZE 20.10 16 - AHPIZERRRG T EME L THBEA
R FINEIEAL -

EREMAEARFNRB(TEANERNVBRE/NAE

PRC Contractual Entities’ financial results are consolidated
into the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
if they were wholly-owned subsidiaries and the flow of
economic benefits from their business to the Company,
places the Group in a special position in relation to the
connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements technically constitute continuing connected
transactions for the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Directors consider that it would be
unduly burdensome and impracticable and would impose
unnecessary administrative costs on us to be subject to
strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of these
continuing connected transactions. Accordingly, the
Company has, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, applied
to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange
has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements relating to these continuing
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
In addition, the Directors confirm that the Company has
complied and will continue to comply with the applicable
provisions under the GEM Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, there are no
service income regarding the services provided by New
Talent Media under Contractual Arrangements to the PRC
Contractual Entities (including technical and management
consulting services and other technology and consultancy
services requested by each of the PRC Contractual Entities
from time to time to the extent permitted under PRC laws).
Therefore, the Group did not incur any continuing connected
transaction during the year ended 31 December 2018
and accordingly did not engage BDO Limited, the auditor
of the Company to report on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 28 March 2018, Emphasis Media and Hangzhou
Jujiang Wenchuang No.1 Investment Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (“Hangzhou Jujiang”,
an independent third party to the Group) entered into an
equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which Emphasis
Media shall sell approximately 14.17% equity interest in
the Capital Land Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd. (“Capital
Land”) at the consideration of RMB10,000,000 in cash
(the “Partial Disposal A”). At the same day, Emphasis
Media, Hangzhou Jujiang, Hunan Jingjiangnan Information
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (“Hunan
Jingjiangnan”, one of the founding shareholders of Capital
Land, holds 21% equity interest in Capital Land), Beijing
Chuangshixing Management and Consulting Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (“Chuangshixin”, one of the founding
shareholders of Capital Land, holds 19% equity interest
in Capital Land), Beijing Ruide Cultural Development
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (“Ruide Cultural”, one of
the founding shareholders of Capital Land, holds 9% equity
interest in Capital Land, together with Hunan Jingjiangnan
and Chuangshixin, collectively as “Founding Shareholders”)
and Capital Land also entered into the supplementary
agreement, pursuant to which the Founding Shareholders
provide certain guarantees to Emphasis Media and
Hangzhou Jujiang. At the same day, Emphasis Media,
Hunan Jingjiangnan and Chuangshixin entered into the
shareholders voting agreement (the “Shareholders Voting
Agreement”), by which Emphasis Media are entitled to
control the voting rights in the shares of Capital Land owned
by Hunan Jingjiangnan and Chuangshixin. In this case,
Capital Land will remain as a subsidiary of Emphasis Media
and the Company after the completion of Partial Disposal
A. As Hunan Jingjiangnan and Chuangshixin are substantial
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Target Company and the beneficial owner of Ruide Cultural
is the director of the Target Company, the Founding
Shareholders are connected persons of the Company at the
subsidiary level under the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly,
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the Partial Disposal A constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company. The Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) approved the Partial Disposal A,
and independent non-executive Directors also confirmed
that the terms of the agreements related to the Partial
Disposal A are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms or better and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. By virtue of Rule 20.99 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Partial Disposal A is only subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements, but is
exempt from the circular, independent financial advice and
shareholders’ approval requirements. The Company has
complied and will continue to comply with the applicable
provisions under the GEM Listing Rules. The Partial Disposal
A represented a partial return from the investment in the
entertainment contents on demand system business at a
reasonable price and the disposal consideration can be
used for the development in entertainment contents on
demand system business and other business segments.
The Partial Disposal A was completed on 26 April 2018.

On 3 July 2018, Emphasis Media and Shenyang Jinyang
Haiquan Longxi Investment Fund Management Centre
(Limited Partnership)* (“Shenyang Jinyang”, an independent
third party to the Group) entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Emphasis Media shall sell
approximately 11.33% equity interest in the Capital Land
at the consideration of RMB8,000,000 in cash (the “Partial
Disposal B”). At the same day, Emphasis Media, Hangzhou
Jujiang, Shenyang Jinyang, the Founding Shareholders
and Capital Land also entered into the supplementary
agreement, pursuant to which the Founding Shareholders
provide certain guarantees to Emphasis Media, Hangzhou
Jujiang and Shenyang Jinyang. Emphasis Media, Hunan
Jingjiangnan and Chuangshixin had entered into the
Shareholders Voting Agreement, by which Emphasis
Media are entitled to control the voting rights in the shares
of the Capital Land owned by Hunan Jingjiangnan and
Chuangshixin. In this case, Capital Land will remain as a
subsidiary of Emphasis Media and the Company after the
completion of Partial Disposal B. As Hunan Jingjiangnan
and Chuangshixin are substantial shareholders (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Target Company and the
beneficial owner of Ruide Cultural is the director of the
Target Company, the Founding Shareholders are connected
persons of the Company at the subsidiary level under
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Partial Disposal
B constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) approved the Partial Disposal B, and independent
non-executive Directors also confirmed that the terms of
the agreements related to the Partial Disposal B are fair
and reasonable, on normal commercial terms or better
and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole. By virtue of Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Partial Disposal B is only subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but is exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements. The Company has complied and
will continue to comply with the applicable provisions under
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the GEM Listing Rules. The Partial Disposal B represented
a partial return from the investment in the entertainment
contents on demand system business at a reasonable
price and the disposal consideration can be used for the
development in entertainment contents on demand system
business and other business segments. The Partial Disposal
B was completed on 12 July 2018.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction
which needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the compliance adviser of the Company,
Altus Capital Limited, during their appointment period as
the compliance adviser of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018, save for the compliance adviser
agreement dated 4 November 2015 entered into between
the Company and Altus Capital Limited (the “Compliance
Adviser Agreement”), neither Altus Capital Limited, its
directors, employees or close associates had any interest
in relation to the Group which is required to be notified to
the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The service period under the Compliance Adviser
Agreement had ended and the appointment of Altus
Capital Limited as compliance adviser of the Company had
completed on 31 March 2018 and Altus Capital Limited
agreed with the Company not to renew the Compliance
Adviser Agreement. The Board and Altus Capital Limited
confirm that, there are no other matters relating to the
completion of the appointment of compliance adviser that
need to be drawn to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited will retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

* For identification only

On behalf of the Board

Philip Jian Yang

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CREATIVE CHINA
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
87 to 203, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
HRETSEE

Gooadwill impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has goodwill of
RMB26,758,000 relating to the entertainment contents on
demand system segment.
RZZE—N\F+ZHA=+—HB EEEFHREAER
BHERG R EE R AR 26,758,000 7T °

In the annual impairment review, management has
concluded that there is no impairment in respect of the
goodwill. This conclusion was based on a value in use
model that required significant management judgment
with respect to the discount rate and underlying cash
flows, in particular future revenue growth.

REEREFET  ERERS/LEFEHENRE - %
EwmIAEABEER RER  ZEXEREREHITR
KRR eRE (LER ARG R) EHE A HE -
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MRETFEERERMANEXHE - RAUAHERAR

BHRENBEIRRERNTER - ZFFHEERMNFAE
BHRAMBHRRLHABRRRETREN - RAITSEZ
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B ETNATEEERETSEE

B (E AT

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included:

HAEREEEREN ENE TR

- Assessing the valuation methodology;

—  FHAEEIDE

- Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and industry;
and

- BEEMANEBERITEAZSAERBRIRNQEMREE
N

- Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such as
latest financial forecasts approved by the management
and considering the reasonableness of these forecasts.

— BB ABBRESRRE - fINEE B ENSIIS
FERREEZERANEIEN -



OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements disclosure requirements
of the that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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B ZHENRE

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practicing Certificate no. P05309

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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e EWRER
for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z- \F+-A=t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR¥T T AREBTTT
Revenue Wzs 7 20,721 20,085
Direct costs HEKRA (61,974) (60,923
Gross loss Fi8 (41,253) (40,838)
Other revenue HAo e 8 15,382 127
Other gains and losses H e BB 9 3,709 6,268
Selling and distribution costs SHE & SHA AR (13,203) (16,370)
Administrative expenses TR (42,476) (29,167)
Loss from operations K E1E (77,841) (79,980)
Finance costs BF TR AR 14 (84) -
Loss before income tax GRSy oh=ny =] 10 (77,925) (79,980)
Income tax (expense)/credit FSRl (FAX), H&e 15 (4,627) 189
Loss for the year FREE (82,552) (79,791)
Other comprehensive loss that may BER A BEE HT
be reclassified subsequently to PEEBRZ
profit or loss: Hith2EEA :
Exchange differences of translating MEBINETEH
foreign operations ME 5 =58 (120) -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAEHEBEERE (82,672) (79,791)
Loss for the year attributable to: EaEEREE
Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEZZ =N (74,799) (73,292)
Non-controlling interests eI (7,753) (6,499)
(82,552) (79,791)
Total comprehensive loss for the EBhEREE
year attributable to: EEAAEE
Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEZZEDN (74,901) (73,292)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R RE 2 (7,771) (6,499)
(82,672) (79,791)
Loss per share BRER 16
— Basic (RMB cents) —HEER(ARESD) (5.25) (5.24)
- Diluted (RMB cents) —#E(ARED) N/A FEH N/A 78 A
PEAEERERAT T \EEERE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR AR

as at 31 December 2018
R=Z-N\F+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®F ARETIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR 17 1,885 7,717
Goodwill RIS 18 26,758 31,262
Intangible assets EmREE 19 - 888
Programme cost &7 B A 20 = 4,336
Deferred tax assets ELEFTEE E 30 1,449 6,298
Financial assets at fair value through BAREARMEE
other comprehensive income Wz eBEE 22 6,582 =
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 36,674 50,501
Current assets REEE
Programme cost FHEIE 20 - 36,598
Serial programme rights HIBEBIRAE 21 48,574 -
Inventories w5 23 106 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E bW IE 24 35,859 24,233
Amounts due from non-controlling interests B FEIE RS e 2 20 T8 37(b) 189 252
Cash and bank balances IR NMIRIT4AES 8,897 18,381
Total current assets REBEEHAE 93,625 79,464
Total assets EEAE 130,299 129,965
Current liabilities REEME
Trade payables 2 S IR 25 58,178 9,681
Other payables Hfh e RIE 26 15,948 10,722
Contract liabilities BHEE 27 3,826 =
Current tax liabilities BNHATR B & & 3,572 3,613
Other borrowing HibgE 28 5,000 -
Loan due to a shareholder BT —RIRRNER 37(c) 4,034 —
Total current liabilities REBAEAE 90,558 24,016
Net current assets REEEZE 3,067 55,448
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 39,741 105,949
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR AR

as at 31 December 2018

R=Z2-N\F+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR®F ARETIT
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEBAE 30 - 222
Contingent consideration payables FERTSAARAB 29 - 151
Total non-current liabilities ERBABHEE = 373
Total liabilities B EHE 90,558 24,389
NET ASSETS EEFRE 39,741 105,576
Capital and reserves B #iE
Share capital A&7 31 11,788 11,788
Reserves HfE 24,837 90,609
Equity attributable to owners RATEE A
of the Company FE(R R 36,625 102,397
Non-controlling interests eI 32 3,116 3,179
TOTAL EQUITY R 39,741 105,576
On behalf of the board of directors RERESFZ
Philip Jian Yang Yang Jianping
=8l wE¥
REAERRERAT T N\FEEHL
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEREER

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-\F+-A=+—HILEFE

Reserves
fife
Equity
Foreign attributable to Non-
Share Share Other Merger exchange  Accumulated the ownersof  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses  the Company interests Total
e )N

Bx  BfEE  HEBR  GfBR  EXGR 0 RMER  BEER  ERER it
RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RWBOOO  RWBOOO  RVBO  RVBO  RVBOO  RMBOD

ARETT  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARKTR ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2017 RZZ-tF-f-Bhis 9,884 112,313 5,362 9,300 - (7922 128,937 9,682 138,619
Placing of new shares (nofe 31(a) BEHRR (310) 1767 43,183 - - - - 44,950 - 44,950
Issue of recalled consideration shares BT MEIZ KBRS

(note 31(5) (Bi=E311) 137 2600 - - - - 2737 - 2787
Acquistton of adational interest i EE-RNBLARER

a subsidiary - - - - - 935) (935) @) (939)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREEREEERLES

forthe year . . . . . 1329 1329) 6499 1979)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-H

as orginally presented Be (R A A 251 11,788 158,096 5,362 9,300 - (82,149) 102,397 3,179 105,576

Intial application of HKFRS 9 ote 20A) & RERE AT REEA
295 (Witomp) - - - - - (1,162) (1,162 - (1,162

Restated balance at 1 January 2018~ W=F—-/\£-F-A

L 11,788 18,096 5,362 9,300 - (83311) 101,28 3179 104414
Acquisiton of additional nterest in a BE-FHEARES
subsidiary = = = - - (342) (342) 3 1)
Disposal of nferest in a subsiclary HE-RNBAS ER
vithout loss of control I} oA = = = = = 10,633 10,633 7,37 18,000
Loss forthe year EnEE - - - = = (74,799) (74,799) 1759 (82,552)
Other comprehensive loss Efp2AER - - - - (102) = (102) (18 (120)
Total comprehensiveloss fortheyear M2 EBELE = - - - (102) (747%9) (74901) o) (82672)
Balanog at 31 Decemboer 2018 RZF-)\§
TZR=T-RfER 11,788 168,096 5,362 9,300 (102) (147,819 36,62 3,116 39,741
Nature and purpose of reserves are disclosed in note 34. LT N AR ERNTESS -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARETTT
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHELHSRE
Loss before income tax BRETIS T RTS8 (77,925) (79,980)
Adjustments for: R
Interest income FLEHA (12) (20)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE - BEK
equipment FAEFT1SIEE = 35
Effective rent recognised EHRRERES 69 126
Finance costs B TSR AR 84 -
Provision for doubtful debts REARIE 2,075 1,592
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ « = MERETE 2,211 2,983
Change in fair value of contingent ERSARB AR EZES
consideration payables - (8,507)
De-recognition of contingent consideration RICTER TS ARE
payables (151) -
De-recognition of deferred rent payable RITEREMIELER S (3,613) -
Amortisation of intangible assets BT & 888 888
Amortisation of programme cost £ B B AN 36,598 -
Impairment loss of programme cost &7 B AR B ET IR 4,336 -
Impairment loss of property, plant and VI - RE MR EREEE
equipment 4,349
Impairment loss of goodwill BRI EBE 4,504 -
Operating loss before working capital changes 48 & AN B 5] 2 48 & E518 (26,587) (82,883)
Increase in programme cost £ B A ASIE N = (40,934)
Increase in serial programme rights BB RAEIE N (48,574) -
Increase in inventories FE®EN (106) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 K E At e GRIE
other receivables (3gm), md (14,800) 48,754
Increase in trade payables B 5 fE IR N 48,497 7,969
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H e sRaEsgan, Od) 3,696 (4,387)
Increase in contract liabilities AHEEEN 2,250 -
Cash used in operations KEFARS (35,624) (71,481)
Interest paid BRFE (17) -
Income taxes paid BRETEH (41) (197)
Net cash used in operating activities RS E B AT IR S R EE (35,682) (71,672)
PEAIEZERERAT —E-N\FEERE 91
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN ==
GmERERER
for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-\F+-A=+—HILEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHEERSRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEMZE -« BE &&HE (728) (284)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMZE - BE MBS H0E
plant and equipment - 31
Proceeds from partial disposal of interest HE — MM B AR D R
of a subsidiary Z TS 50R 18,000 -
Payment of acquisition of subsidaries Uk BE BT BB A B 3R = (750)
Interest received BUFE 12 20
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing BEEHEL(FTA) RS FE
activities 17,284 (983)
Cash flows from financing activities REITEEERESRE
Proceeds from other borrowing RIEMEE 6,000 -
Repayment of other borrowing BEHEMEE (1,000) -
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan IR E R 6,684 -
Repayment of shareholder’s loan EERRER (2,650) -
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing BB E X TRR D E LTS IA - 46,831
Issue of ordinary shares BITEBRR = 2,737
Share issue expenses M EEr TR = (1,881)
Net cash generated from financing activities & EELIR SR 9,034 47,687
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEBYRL (9,364) (24,968)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes YNER B SR Sl R 2 (120) -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year REXKIIRE RIS ZEY 18,381 43,349
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERNRES KR ECEEY
represented by cash and bank deposits only —ERKE S RIBITFEX 8,897 18,381
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 November 2013. The address
of its registered office is at the offices of Codan
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is
located at Room 1901, 19/F, Yulin Building, No.5A
Xiangjun Nanli 2nd Alley, Chaoyang District, the PRC,
and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
located at 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128
Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding while its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the provision of program production services and
serial programme publishing, concert and event
organisation services, mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce services, entertainment contents on
demand system services and artist management.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred as the “Group” hereafter.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -

effective on 1 January 2018

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are effective
from the Group’s financial period beginning on
1 January 2018.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Amendments to Revenue from Contracts
HKFRS 15 with Customers
(Clarifications to
HKFRS 15)

Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Consideration

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE
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SES

2.

—E-N\FE+-A=+—ALEE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)
The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (see note 2(a) A below)
and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (see note 2(a) B below) have been
summarised in below. The directors of the
Company consider the other new or amended
HKFRSs that are effective from 1 January
2018 did not have any material impact to the
Group’s accounting policies.

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January, 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of
the accounting for financial instruments:
(1) classification and measurement; (2)
impairment and (3) hedge accounting.
HKFRS 9 also significantly amends
other standards dealing with financial
instruments such as HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments — Disclosures.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9
retrospectively to items that existed
at 1 January 2018 in accordance with
the transition requirements. The group
has recognised the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, comparative information
continues to be reported under HKAS 39.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(continued)

The following table summarises the
impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on equity
(accumulated losses) as of 1 January

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

2. FMERUBEREE(EFBMBHEREER )

(&)

(@) BRAHE] ST EBMBRMEER — R

Z2-NF-A—-BREM(R)

A BEUBBREEAFIRESEMT A ()

NTBETBREREMBHEANFIREN_-F
—N\F-A- B2z (RAER) NRE -

2018.
RMB’000
AREFIT
Accumulated losses ZiEE
Accumulated losses as at 31 December R-ZE—+F+—-_A=+—R2 Z:tEiE
2017 82,149
Increase in expected credit losses B ZEBGRIRTRBEEEE ([FRHEES
(“ECLs”) in trade receivables (note 2(a) 18 1) 3800 CF 3CHIFE 2(a)Ai)
Afii) below) 1,162
Restated accumulated losses as at 1 KEIRN=_ZE—\F—HA—HZREE
January 2018 83,311

Further details of the nature and effect
of the changes to previous accounting
policies and the transition approach are
set out below:

(i) Classification and measurement
of financial instruments
HKFRS 9 categories financial
assets into three principal
classification categories: measured
at amortised cost, at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) and at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL). These
supersede HKAS 39’s categories
of held-to-maturity investments,
loans and receivables, available-for-
sale financial assets and financial
assets measured at FVPL. The
classification of financial assets
under HKFRS 9 is based on the
business model under which
the financial asset is managed
and its contractual cash flow
characteristics.

AR BRENIEERFENLBES
ERE—SHERIIT

() ZHITAZZEK:E

BRAMBRERANEIRKEREED B
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ARf2EKE (RALEFARMER
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BFMNERRKREERN ((HEMEREEN])
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — (@) BREHETEIETEBUBHREEDN — H=

Z2-NF-A—-BEM(R)

effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments A.
(continued)

ERMBREEUNEOFEMTA ()

(i) Classification and measurement () ZHBTAZHER:E(E)
of financial instruments
(continued)

The following table summarises the

TEBAR—F-N\F-A-BAKEE

original measurement categories BemBERBAA ST ERFERRE
under HKAS 39 and the new AEEARREE S ERELENE IR
measurement categories under Rt =585
HKRS 9 for each class of the
Group’s financial assets as at 1
January 2018:
Carrying
Carrying  amount as
amountas at 1 January
at1January 2018 under
2018 under HKFRS 9
HKAS 39 REEE
REREET HBHREER
Original classification ~ New classification EBIZE 305 #93;
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 RZB-NE R-B-N\F
Financial assets REEBEER REFEHBREER -A-H -fA-H
SREE HVRRIE L g ZREE AR
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT
Amounts due from non-controlling interests  Loans and receivables Amortised cost
TR R TR ERRERFIE BHRUR 252 252
Trade and other receivables (gxcluding non-
financial asset such as prepayment)
B o REMEWZIE (N EEESREE Loans and receivables Amortised cost
() ERRENRE B 3,093 1,931
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost
ReRREEEY ERREKTE BHRUR 18,381 18,381

For an explanation of how the
Group classifies and measures
financial assets and recognises
related gains and losses under
HKFRS 9, see respective
accounting policy in note 4(i).
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(continued)

(i)

(i)

Classification and measurement
of financial instruments
(continued)

The measurement categories for all
financial liabilities remain the same
for the Group, the carrying amounts
for all financial liabilities at 1 January
2018 have not been impacted by
the initial application of HKFRS 9.

The group did not designate or
re-designate any financial asset
or financial liability at FVPL at 1
January 2018.

Impairment

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred
loss” model in HKAS 39 with
the “expected credit loss” (ECL)
model. The ECL model requires an
ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated with a financial asset
and therefore recognises ECLs
earlier than under the “incurred
loss” accounting model in HKAS
39.

The Group has the following types
of financial assets at amortised
cost subject to HKFRS 9’s new
ECL model at the date of initial
application:

° trade receivables

o other receivables,
prepayment and deposits
(excluding prepayments
which were not financial
instrument), cash and cash
equivalent and amounts due
from non-controlling interests

2.

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(continued)

2. FRMERUBREE(EFBMBHEREER )

(&)

(a) BRAETRT ST EBMBRE &R

_ﬁ/\\\:

Z2-NF-A—-BREM(R)

A BEUBBRESEUFIREMT A ()

(i) Impairment (continued) (i) BB (4)
Trade receivables B SR
The Group applies the simplified AEE AR B IS HEEREIHFTAT
approach to provide for expected AEEE AR E ZRIGRENTEREE
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS BRELNERE ZRTEKAMEESE
9 for trade receivables, which WHEFREBEREERE - BFTER
requires the use of the lifetime HEEEE  Z5RUHBERESRER
expected loss provision for all B R B B ST A o AT RN TR
trade receivables. To measure the BEASTERRET NZE—+tF
ECLs, trade receivables have been T A=+ AZEBREEBERERE
assessed based on a function of BEBIEREERFORETE PN
probability of default (based on a —NF—A—BZHEEEERE
function of probability of default
(based on respective credit risk
characteristics of trade debtors
and the days past due), loss given
default and the exposure at default,
taking into account for time value
of money and forward looking
factors as far as practicable. The
following table reconciles the
closing loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKAS 39 as
at 31 December 2017 with the
opening loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 as at
1 January 2018.
RMB’000
AREBT T
Loss allowance for trade receivablesas HR-Z—+F+-_A=+—H
at 31 December 2017 under HKAS 39 m%é.i,% FTHERIZE 39 REE 2
%JEHSZ JIRTRHE BB EE 1,592
Additional credit losses recognized at 1 R-ZE—N\F—H—HiEmz
January 2018 EEEE 1,162
Loss allowance for trade receivables as W =—Z—/\GF— A —HRESEH
at 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 MEHREERE IR EFIE
WHIRTAEME B R R A 2,754
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FMNERRBREERN ((HEMBEREEN])
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#8)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - (@) BREHETEIETEBUBHREEDN — R=
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued) E-NF—-A—BEXK(HE)
A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments A BENBHREENFEIFEMIA (F)
(continued)
(i) Impairment (continued) (i)  EE (4E)
Other receivables, prepayment B EzE  BHBERE L (TEE
and deposits (excluding VHEBTAZEMNHE) B2 REE
prepayments which were not EEYRIENF R B H

financial instrument), cash and cash
equivalent and amounts due from
non-controlling interests

Applying the ECLs model, no fEFR TR E B BB —N\F—A
impairment for other receivables, — A S E A EHGR IE ?EH IE&&
prepayment and deposits & (TPEETFEMT A ZENTE)
(excluding prepayments which were S RBESEBY REYGHE Hﬂ’éﬁfklﬁﬁ?’é
not financial instrument), cash and RRE - EAREEREEEEEL
cash equivalent and amounts due ENRESRTBERX

from non-controlling interests as
at 1 January 2018 is recognised
as the amount of impairment
measured under the ECLs model is

immaterial.
For further details on the group’s BAASEEEFE SRR ZSHE
accounting policy for accounting for REE— DG - SN

credit losses, see note 4 (j).
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2.

—E-N\FE+-A=+—ALEE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

A.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting under HKFRS
9 has no impact on the Group
as the Group does not apply
hedge accounting in its hedging
relationships.

Transition

Changes in accounting policies
resulting from the adoption of
HKFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as
described below:

- Information relating to
comparative periods has not
been restated. Differences
in the carrying amounts of
financial assets resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 9
are recognised in retained
earnings and reserves as at
1 January 2018. Accordingly,
the information presented
for 2017 continues to be
reported under HKAS 39 and
thus may not be comparable
with the current period.

- The determination of the

business model within which
a financial asset is held has
been made on the basis of
the facts and circumstances
that existed at 1 January
2018 (the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 by
the Group).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BMEBPBREED ([FBIBHRSEED])
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ()
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - (@) BREHETEIETEBUBHREEDN — R=
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued) E-—NE—A—HEXM(E)

(continued)

(iv) Transition (continued)
- If, at the date of initial
application, the assessment
of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition
would have involved undue
cost or effort, a lifetime ECL
has been recognised for that
financial instrument.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18
Revenue and related interpretations.
HKFRS 15 has established a five-steps
model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at the
amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer.

The Group elected to use a modified
retrospective approach for transition
which allows the Group to recognise the
cumulative effects of initially applying
HKFRS15 as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity as at 1 January
2018. Therefore, comparative information
has not been restated and continues to
be reported under HKASs 11 and 18. As
allowed by practical expedient in HKFRS
15, the Group has applied the new
requirements only to contracts that were
not completed before 1 January 2018.

A. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments A. EBUBREE[FIOFESMITA ()

(iv) #E (&)
-  WREREAZE  FEEERR
BEARRUREEREEMEE
EEBEZRARS N BIRA TR
TARZZNEREERR -

BERMBREEAFIGREFENZ

Wy 3
BRMBREENFISRMRE RS LS
NRBESY  BRGERS 18R KERA
B - AR BHREEAE15RERYASR
AREF RN ZREAR - REBBHBIREE
RIF165 - ks RRRERRARARFEER
N RBERRR R ETRER

AEERAREERAEEITENE AR
EERERERE MRS ERF155 M R5T
YE(A) FRU-F - \F-A—B#Hz
HAEMMEHORE - At - HREMLEST
REERERGERNE 1R RF18RER -
REBVBREENF 1R ZUTERENEE
i AEEEH T \F-A—-HZAATK
ZBHIERFRE -
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2.

—E-N\FE+-A=+—ALEE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (continued)
Management reviewed the business
model of the Group and contracts
with customers as at 1 January 2018,
concluded that except for the promise to
provide unlimited access to entertainment
content during annual subscription period
which have not fully delivered as at 1
January 2018, all other contracts with
customers have completed. As per the
accounting policy for revenue recognition
of “Entertainment On Demand system
and related service” applied from 1
January 2018, the Group recognise
the revenue from annual subscription
over the subscription period since
the Group is granting a right to access
to entertainment content as it exists
throughout subscription period which
requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake
activities (e.g. maintain the server which
enable the streaming of content) that
significantly affect the content to which
the customer has rights. The Group
also has the discretion in determining
the pricing it charges to its customer
and primarily responsible for fulfilling
the delivery of goods/services being
agreed. Therefore, the Group concludes
it controls the promised goods/
services before it is transferred to the
customer, and acting as a principal.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. EHEEAMBHREERN(FEMEREER])
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (%)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — (@) BREHETEIETEBUBHREEDN — R=
effective on 1 January 2018 (continued) E-—NE—A—HEXM(E)
B. HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts B. EERNBEREERFISHEEFENZ
with Customers (continued) Wzs (48)
Similar revenue recognition has been BRENHBEENAEIN  EEERREBUHR
adopted under HKAS 18 which FEAE15 KRS ERUAREVEENY
management therefore considered Z. BEAEBSTENEISEREBETE
no material impact on the revenue A1 SRAELL - B AN RS ERIZE 155
recognised and equity as at 1 January HAEER -_ZT—\FE+-_A=+—RHEs5
2018. The Group has reclassified relevant B RREREE—_E—N\E+=-A=1+—HItE
portion of the receipt in advances under BHEEEAWER  HtGEEWERARGE
other payables to contract liabilities ReMmERUEEAYE -RZT—\F—H—
as at 1 January 2018 as illustrated A ASEBEEND S EMEMFIETHER
below, which represented the carrying RREFTHEAGNEE (M TEMRERERAR
amount the Group has obligation to SEEYRIEPRNARERBIEZEmIREE
transfer goods or services to customers BEEPR)-
for which the Group has received
consideration from them. Other than
the reclassification for contract liabilities,
management considered the initial
application of HKFRS 15 does not have
significant impact to the Group. There
was no significant effect from adoption of
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018 and its consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and
consolidated statement of cash flow for
the year ended 31 December 2018 as
compared with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11.
As at
1 January 2018
R=ZZB-N\F
—HA—H
RMB’000
ARBTT
Liabilities afE
Other payables HAb BT FRIA (1,576)
Contract liabilities ABHIBE 1,576

Net effect on total current liabilities

HRBaBRRIFTE =

Net effect on total liabilities HEBEEGR FE =
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -

effective on 1 January 2018 (continued)

B. HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (continued)
For further details on the Group’s
accounting policy for revenue recognition,

see note 4()).

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group.
The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3
(Revised)

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKAS 1
(Revised)
Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Leases'

Insurance Contracts*

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture®

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments’

Business Combinations®

Prepayment Features
with Negative
Compensation'

Presentation of Financial
statements?

Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors?

Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycles'
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020
2 Business combinations for which the acquisition

date is on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset
acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning

of that period

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for early adoption

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the above new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements except for
the HKFRS 16 may have impacts as described
below.

HKFRS 16 - Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related
interpretations, introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases
with a term of more 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically,
under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its
right to use the underlying leased asset and a
lease liability representing its obligation to make
lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should
recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset
and interest on the lease liability, and also
classifies cash repayments of the lease liability
into a principal portion and an interest portion and
presents them in the statement of cash flows.
Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability
are initially measured on a present value basis.
The measurement includes non-cancellable
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (continued)

lease payments and also includes payments
to be made in optional periods if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise an option
to extend the lease, or to exercise an option
to terminate the lease. This accounting
treatment is significantly different from the
lessee accounting for leases that are classified
as operating leases under the predecessor
standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases
differently.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
RMB1,622,000. The directors of the Company
expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 in future will
result in recognition of right-of-use assets with
an offsetting liability in the statement of financial
position. As of the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, there will be a
decrease in operating lease payments while
increase in depreciation and interest expenses.
However, the directors of the Company expect
that the net impact on the Group’s financial
performance is limited.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis and measured
under historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at
end of each reporting period as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same
as the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to
the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

3.
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised
in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred
in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (@ maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Change in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group’s loss of control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transaction. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interest according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognized directly in equity.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between () the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiary are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Subsidiaries arising from a series of contract
agreements signed on 18 May 2015 (the
“Contractual Arrangements”)

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the company,
New Talent Media Company Limited
(“New Talent Media”), has entered into
the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing
Emphasis Media Co., Ltd.*, Beijing New Image
Media Co., Ltd.*; Starry Knight Entertainment
Co., Ltd.*, Beijing Joy Star Production Co.,
Ltd.* and Beijing Great Wise Media Co., Ltd.”
(collectively defined as “PRC Contractual
Entities”) and their respective equity holders,
which enable New Talent Media and the Group
to:

- exercise effective financial and
operational control over PRC Contractual
Entities;

- exercise equity holders’ voting rights of
the PRC Contractual Entities;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EREFBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Subsidiaries (continued) (b) MEBAR (&)

- receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by the PRC
Contractual Entities in consideration
for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by New
Talent Media, at New Talent Media’s
discretion;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive
right with an initial period of 10 years
to purchase the entire equity interest
in the PRC Contractual Entities from
the respective equity holders. The right
automatically renews upon expiry until
New Talent Media specifies a renewal
term;

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity
interest of the PRC Contractual Entities
from their respective equity holders
as collateral security for all of the PRC
Contractual Entities’ payments due
to New Talent Media and to secure
performance of PRC Contractual Entities’
obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Group does not have any equity interest
in PRC Contractual Entities. However, as a
result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the PRC Contractual Entities
and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Contractual
Entities and is considered to control the
PRC Contractual Entities. Consequently, the
Company regards the PRC Contractual Entities
as the indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs. The
Group has included the financial positions and
results of the PRC Contractual Entities in the
consolidated financial statements during the
years.

- EBEXECEANBRBRTESNERE
HERABD RN 2O 5 - 1ERFR X
LB A R SRF - B R AR
TBHARAE

- HBEtSBRESEABETESHOER
2 ERRRE ) N R R B R EA - 5A
FHRTHF - ABREFNERE B EE
B ERE U CEREEETFRER
BRI 5

- ESEREFBAHTEAOERE
BENEH  FRTBEANEBENR
8 AL B H BT B SR R R ) 3 HE 4R
TREANERETANLHR I ZEE -

AEEYAFATEAOEBAOTMARE - R
M- ARBHNLHER  AEEFRARSHE
TREAMNEBMNESMEXAZORAHE
BRENPHEANERNEREYEZED
W WA ST FESOER - Bt - RIB
FEMBREEL  ARFRFBEENERR
BEMBATE - RFAR - AKEEHHEEH
ERNMBARR N EEFARKREMBRE
7 o

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERS

111



112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements
may not be as effective as direct legal
ownership in providing the Group with direct
control over the PRC Contractual Entities
and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary
rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
PRC Contractual Entities. The Group believes
that the Contractual Arrangements among
New Talent Media, the PRC Contractual
Entities and their respective equity holders
are in compliance with relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally enforceable.

*

For identification purpose only

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
SO as to write off their cost or valuation net of
expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives are as follows:

Leasehold Over the remaining
improvements lives of the leases

but not exceeding
10 years

Office equipment 3-5 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Motor vehicles years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets, or where
shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

e IR HRAR ML

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

4. EBEARESFHHE(E)

(c)

¥ BMERSZME (E)

ME - BEMEEAEREERGF I ERFH
ST IR T & DA SH EL R AR sk il B R TE BRI 24 (B
B) - AIfERATH  FpEERNTEREZRS
s BRI e AR IR - WINEER AR - aff
BAEHET :

HEWMERE HEZ ST AERSF
Bl BETZRF

MAERME ==nfF

BERE =E=hfF

RARKE hE

e 4

WEEREEBOE G I REESE  MEE
B UM E H AU Bl 88 -

REREMESBENEERAUBEEER—
HE REBEAERFHNARELR AR
FEERE)FE -

HEWE - BFEMREHEE 2 WasEEEd
ERSRIEFREAREEIZE  YNHE
AR E R AR ©

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERS

113



114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the business combination
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair
value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the
fair value of the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree, if any.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of
the cash-generating units (“CGUS”), or groups
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

U]

Intangible assets

An intangible asset acquired separately is
recognised initially at cost. Intangible asset
with indefinite useful life carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible asset identified on business
combination are capitalised at fair value at
the date of acquisition and are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Customer
relationships is amortised on a straight-
line basis from the date of acquisition over
their estimated useful lives of 5 years. The
amortisation is charged to profit or loss.
Both the estimated useful lives and method
of amortisation are reviewed and adjusted if
appropriate, annually.

Programme cost

(@) Programme cost

Programme cost comprises cost
of services, facilities and materials
consumed in the production of a
programme. Programme cost is stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. The
amortisation is calculated based on the
expected consumption pattern which is
six months from the first launch date.

(b) Programme right

Programme right comprises the
purchase cost of the programme right
only. Programme right is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. The
amortisation is calculated based on the
duration of the license period granted by
licensors which is normally in 2 years.
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4. EBEARESFHHE(E)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Serial programme rights

Serial programme rights represent rights to
a TV serial programme. It is governed by the
relevant agreement which the Group is entitled
to benefits generated from the distribution of
the related serial programme based on the
percentage of rights in the serial programme.
Serial programme rights is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any identified
impairment loss. Amortisation of serial
programme rights is charged to profit or loss
based on the proportion of actual income
earned during the year to the total estimated
income attributed to the Group, according to
the respective agreement.

Income from serial programme rights is
recognised when the Group’s entitlement to
such payments has been established which,
subject to the terms of the relevant agreement.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially
recognised as assets at their fair value or,
if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding lease
commitment is shown as a liability. Lease
payments are analysed between capital and
interest. The interest element is charged to
profit or loss over the period of the lease and
is calculated so that it represents a constant
proportion of the lease liability. The capital
element reduces the balance owed to the
lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating
leases are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over
the term of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

(a) Financial assets

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

() Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of
debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement
categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

i)

Debt instruments (continued)
Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A
gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised
in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income when the
asset is derecognised or impaired.
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive
income (“OCl”), except for the
recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised
in OCI is reclassified from equity
to the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income and
recognised in “other gains and
losses”. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective
interest rate method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

i)

(i)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVPL: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss and
is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net in “other gains and
losses” in the period in which it
arises.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures
all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management
has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is
no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss. The amount
accumulated in OCI remains in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed
of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred within equity. Dividends
from such investments continue to
be recognised in ‘other revenue’
when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in “other gains
and losses” as applicable.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial
asset when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual
cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset are transferred or in
which the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership
and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The group assesses on a forward
looking basis the ECL associated
with its debt instrument carried at
amortised cost and financial assets
at fair value through OCI. The
Group impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

The ECL is measured on either
a lifetime or a 12-month basis.
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL
that will result from all possible
default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. The
maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

For trade receivables from third
parties, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires a lifetime
ECL to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

For all other financial instruments,
the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition
instead of on evidence of a financial
asset being credit-impaired at the
reporting date or an actual default
occurring since initial recognition.
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e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

In assessing whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered
includes the future prospects of
the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts and governmental
bodies (if available), as well as
consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

In particular, the following
information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

° an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread
the credit default swap prices
for the debtors;

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor‘s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected
significant deterioration in
the operating results of the
debtor; and

o an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

e IR HRAR ML

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

4. EBEARESFHHE(E)

() =EHIAGE

B-E-N\F-A-AEERANEEE (&)

(a) =HEEH)

() TEEEREE)

LEE - et h B RTER ARG

E R 2 S REE IR - EBIA

TEH -

e TRTAMIB(HAE)LA
HBE AR R B TR
EB(L

e ML EERRERRE
Bl MERME  EHA
EREQREIEBRKEEN

o X% MHBILBEMRRALR
R EHRTHEE - Ahe
BHEBAEBREEIRNET
B

s EBAREREHBERS
BEMERBEERL &

s EBAMEE  LBEIEM
RELAERIBHERE
RAMEES - Al EEHER
ANEBEREN AR TE -

PEARERERAT B \FEERE

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the
above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on
a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.

A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the
financial instrument has a low risk
of default (i.e. no default history), ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers
a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood
definition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Measurement of ECLs

The measurement of expected
credit loss, either on a lifetime
or 12-month basis, is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default taking
into consideration for time value
of money. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward looking
information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the end of each
reporting period.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXREGFHEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(i)  Financial instruments (continued) () =EIAE)

B-E-N\F-A-REERANSEE (&)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(a) =HEZEH)

(vi)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following
as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

° when there is a breach of
financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° Information developed
internally or obtained from
external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(vil)

(vii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses on a forward looking
basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset
is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of
the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as
a default or past due event;

Presentation of allowance for ECL
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets
measured at amortised cost are
deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EBEXREFTEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
()  Financial instruments (continued) () =EIAE)

B-E-N\F-A-HREERANSEEE (&)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(a) Z=HEZE(H)

(b)

(ix)  Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a
financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the
write-off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities in
order to comply with the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

() Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a
group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018 (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities
are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except
for contingent consideration
recognised by the Group in a
business combination, which shall
subsequently be measured at fair
value with changes recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

(@)

(b)

Financial assets
All the financial assets of the Group are
classified as loans and receivables.

These assets are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise principally through
the provision of goods and services to
customers (trade debtors), and also
incorporate other types of contractual
monetary asset.

Loans and receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they
are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

Impairment loss on financial assets
The Group assesses, at the end of each
reporting period, whether there is any
objective evidence that financial asset is
impaired. Financial asset is impaired if
there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset and that event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

4.

BEASFTBUER ()

() =EIAE)
R-E—N\E—A—HBZAERNSTEES
BTE
(a =HEE

(b)

rEEMBTREEDDBRERNE
YRR

ZEBEDNERM ST ERELRE
BEXAIBERBZFITESREE
ZEFEEDTERATFRER M MR
BigiEhELE (BRERR) - ARETIE
REMERZENEREE -

ERFEYGRENFE R A ENRES
MEEERBAEXZIRATE - RERX
ERIE  RFEERBHAAAERRT
BIRREEAIE BRI ERESER

EREEBERE
AEEREREPEEEAFEHEEA
EAEBETRB TR EELTRRE -
WA EBEBERNEIGEREERE
E-HEXZHEEHMEREREEHLST
BE - MEBEHHEREEMARK
ReRnBTEEMu EHTE &/
BECHRRAE - REEERAEERE

o  ERAHBEAMMBEEE

o  ERABH WARBEEEIHERIE
EAREHK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018 (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on financial assets

o granting concession to a debtor
because of debtor’s financial
difficulty; and

o it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss and directly reduces the
carrying amount of financial asset when
there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When any part of financial asset
is determined as uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account for the
relevant financial asset.

Financial liabilities

All the financial liabilities of the Group
are classified as financial liabilities at
amortised cost. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost,
including trade payables, other payables,
amount due to a related company,
amount due to a director, loan from
a shareholder and finance lease
obligations, are subsequently measure
at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.
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R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018 (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation
process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the periods. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life
of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

)]

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018 (continued)

(e) Derecognition (continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that
liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at
their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments
issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit
or loss for the year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers in the
Group’s ordinary activities are recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Revenue recognition

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods
or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

(@) Program production and related
services

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018

There was no income generated from
program production during the year. |If
the Group has entered into the same
terms of contract with customers for
program production during current year,
revenue would be recognized at the point
in time when the customer obtains the
physical possession of master tape of
the completed program. Generally, the
Group does not have an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed
to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(@)

Program production and related
services (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

The Group uses the percentage of
completion method to determine the
appropriate amount of revenue to
recognise in a given period. The stage
of completion is measured by reference
to the contract costs incurred up to the
balance sheet date as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.
Costs incurred in the year in connection
with future activity on a contract
are excluded from contract costs in
determining the stage of completion.
They are presented as work in progress,
prepayments or other assets (if any),
depending on their nature.

Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments (if any) are included in
contract revenue to the extent that would
have been agreed with the customer and
are capable of being reliably measured.

Contract costs are recognised as
expenses as they are incurred and
contract revenue, being costs incurred
plus recognised profits (less recognised
losses) are recognised progressively
over the period of the contract. When
the outcome of a contract can be
estimated reliably and it is probable that
the contract will be profitable, contract
revenue is recognised with profits. When
the outcome of the contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. When it is probable that total
contract costs will exceed total contact
revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Program production and related
services (continued)

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018 (continued)

The Group presents as an asset, if the
gross amount due from customers for
contract work for all contracts in progress
for which costs incurred plus recognised
profits (less recognised losses) exceed
progress billings. Progress billings not yet
paid by customers are included within
‘trade and other receivables’.

The Group presents as a liability if the
gross amount due to customers for
contract work for all contracts in progress
for which progress billings exceed costs
incurred plus recognised profits (less
recognised losses).

Concert and event organization and
related services

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018

The Group is responsible for organizing
concerts and earns revenue from ticket
sales. Revenue from concert ticket sales
is recognized over the period when the
relevant concerts are held by the Group
as the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance.

The Group also responsible for private
event organization and related services.
Revenue from service income is
recognized over the period when the
relevant events are held by the Group
as the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

Concert and event organization and
related services (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018 (continued)

Revenue from sales of concert souvenirs
are recognized at point in time of
payment by customer, which control of
goods are transferred to customer.

When another party is involved in
providing goods or services to its
customer, the Group determines whether
it is a principal or an agent in these
transactions by evaluating the nature of
its promise to the customer. The Group
is a principal and records revenue on a
gross basis (i.e. for concerts primarily
responsible to conduct by the Group) if it
controls the promised goods or services
before transferring them to the customer.
However, if the Group’s role is only to
arrange for another entity to provide the
goods or services, then the Group is an
agent and will need to record revenue
at the net amount that it retains for its
agency services.

Accounting policy applied from prior
to 1 January 2018

Revenue from event organisation and
related services is recognised at the
conclusion of the events, which is
the point in time when all service has
been provided. There was no concert
organization services provided by the
Group during 2017.
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R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

)

Revenue recognition (continued)

()

Mobile live broadcasting and
e-commence related services

(i)

(i)

Online programme production
services

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018

There was no income generated
from online program production
during the year. If the Group has
entered into the same terms of
contract with customers for online
program production during current
year, revenue would be recognized
at point in time as detailed in note
4())(a) “Accounting policy applied
from 1 January 2018” above.

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

Revenue from online programme
production services is recognised
by using the percentage of
completion method as detailed in
note 4(j)(@) “Accounting policy prior
to 1 January 2018” above.

E-commerce services
E-commerce services primarily
comprised commission, based on a
fixed percentage of the transaction
amount, earns by the Group when
transactions between buyers and
merchants are completed in the
online platform operates by the
Group. The Group is neither subject
to inventory risk nor primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or
service. The merchants has the
discretion in establishing the prices
of specified good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

()

Mobile live broadcasting and
e-commence related services
(continued)

(i)

E-commerce services
(continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018

Commission income from e-commerce
services is recognized when the
Group has a present right to receive
the commission from merchant,
which is generally the point in time
when the transactions between
buyers and merchants are completed.

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

Commission income from e-commerce
services are recognised when the
customer has accepted the goods
and the related risks and rewards
of ownership.
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R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

)]

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile live broadcasting and

e-commence related services

(continued)

(iiij Mobile live broadcasting

services

The Group operates self-developed
live broadcasting platform. The
Group’s platform is free to visit and
watch. Everyone is free to join the
platform as a broadcaster. Visitors
can purchase credits which are
virtual currency for acquisition of
in-platform virtual items. Visitors
can show their support to live
broadcasters by transferring/
gifting the ownership of in-platform
virtual items to broadcasters.
Upon the sales of credits or in-
platform virtual items, the Group
typically has an implied obligation
to provide the services which
enable the credits or in-platform
virtual items to be displayed, used
or converted into other in-platform
virtual currencies/items in the
platform. As a result, the proceeds
received from sales of credits or
in-platform virtual items are initially
recorded as contract liabilities
or receipt in advance in current
liabilities prior to initial application
of HKFRS 15. The attributable
portion relating to values of the
credits consumed and in-platform
virtual items converted are able
to reliably estimate. Broadcasters
can sell those in-platform virtual
items back to the Group at a pre-
determined discount or transferring/
gifting those virtual items to another
broadcaster.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile live broadcasting and
e-commence related services
(continued)

(iiij Mobile live broadcasting
services (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1
January 2018

There was no income generated
from mobile live broadcasting
during the year. If there is any in-
platform virtual items sell back to
the Group from broadcasters, the
Group would transfer the monetary
value of in-platform virtual items net
of the pre-determined discount to
the broadcasters, and recognize
the pre-determined discount
as revenue at the point of time
redemption made by broadcasters.

Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

Revenue, represented the pre-
determined discount on redemption
by broadcaster, are recognised
only when broadcasters sell back
those in-platform virtual items to
the Group because at that time
it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Revenue recognition (continued)

()

(d)

Mobile live broadcasting and
e-commence related services
(continued)

(iv) Online advertising services

The Group’s online platform allow
customer to place advertisements
in particular areas of the Group’s
online platform at fixed prices.

Accounting policy applied from

1 January 2018

Revenue from online advertising
services is recognised ratably
over the period in which the
advertisement is agreed to display.

Accounting policy applied prior to

1 January 2018

Advertising income is recognised
when all service has been provided.

Entertainment on demand system
and related services

The Group provides customers
access to on demand entertainment
content through its self-developed
entertainment system “Fengtingxun”.
Users of Fengtingxun can enjoy unlimited
access to entertainment content during
annual subscription period (normally
one to two year), or access to particular
entertainment content at the time it
demand for the content (i.e. usage-
based). The Group also sell related digital
equipment to its customers, which could
be used in conjunction with Fengtingxun
for better entertainment experience.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

Entertainment on demand system
and related services (continued)

Accounting policy applied from 1 January
2018

Revenue from annual subscription for
access to entertainment content is
determined at fixed annual fee basis,
and recognized over time commencing
once the access right activate and
accepted by customers until the
end of subscription period as the
Group is granting a right to access
to entertainment content as it exists
throughout subscription period which
requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake
activities (e.g. maintain the server which
enable the streaming of content) that
significantly affect the content to which
the customer has rights. Management
consider recognises the revenue from
annual subscription, for access to
entertainment content, ratably over
the subscription period would faithfully
depict how the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits
from the Group’s performance over
the subscription period. Revenue from
subscription of particular entertainment
content on usage-based is recognised
over time during the playing time of that
particular entertainment content.

Revenue from sale of digital equipment
is determined at fixed fee basis, and
recognised at a point in time when
customers obtain control of the promised
good, which is usually when the physical
delivery and possession of the devices
accepted by customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

(9)

Entertainment on demand system
and related services (continued)
Accounting policy applied prior to 1
January 2018

The Group recognises revenue from
provision of entertainment content
through Fengtingxun when the risk and
reward of possession of the goods are
delivered and accepted by the customer.
Subscription revenue is recognised
on a proportionate basis over the life
of the subscription and usage-based
subscription is recognised at the time
of play. Revenue from sale of digital
equipment is recognised on delivery of
devices and accepted by the customer.

Artist management income

The Group is responsible to arrange
and has the ability to direct the artist to
perform in specific location and timing.
Revenue are recognises on gross basis
and over time during the period of
performance of the artist.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time
basis on the principal outstanding at the
applicable interest rate.

Licensing of programme

The Group’s income from licensing of
programme content with unlimited period
of commercial usage to customers are
recognized in profit or loss under “other
revenue” at the point in time of delivery,
which enable the customer to control and
direct the use of substantially all of the
benefits from the programme content.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a
customer, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide services to the customer. The
combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net
liability depending on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets (if any) at end
of reporting period when the measure of the
remaining rights exceeds the measure of the
remaining performance obligations. Conversely,
the contract is a liability and recognised as
contract liabilities when the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract with a customer, within
contract assets (if any) if the Group expects to
recover those costs.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Income tax
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax
and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is realized or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or when they relate
to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXREFTEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(m) Foreign currency (m) Hpis

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it/
they operate(s) (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

SEEENELEMET BRERRZ GBI
SN B ([ThEEE ™ )T 2R 5 ThAETT
ReFZRITER AR - INEEREERAR
BHRERRZBITEXRBE - WAREARY
MIMNEFHEZ FER AR RBEAAEBEERZ
[EREHBE - WELNANINEAEZ T
®IRE MEEHEE -

REERMEERHEAMELC EN ZHEHR
EEMEMNMEE AR - RERREZAAE
SRR 2 IF B IR R MEL 2B Z /st AHIRE
ZBEmA - EREHREBRRE MERER
fEE W AR IFEEHEMELZEN =
RSN - LB T - AREX ZE TR
2 E WS IER

TEHARZERERAR —E-/\FFERE

147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXREFTEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(m) Foreign currency (continued)

(m) s (&)

148

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case,
the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All
assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to minority
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation
of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign
operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in
the foreign exchange reserve.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

REGRERBE  BINRHZBRARFRXER T
BERVFHRXGE SAEEZ I REE (A
ARE) - tEHEZNBRAMAKERES
FERBERT - BB SETHR 2 BHAE Xk
BRAT - BINRBZBEERABERBRS
HIRZIRITERGE - REL Z[E X Z58 (10
B)IREMEEKRATRER - YREREAR
A ABRBINE R (FREBR DB RS (WE
) Rit - RAKBER ZB IV HHRRTH
BEERANEERAEBINE 2 REFREE
M ERHEBRAMNEBERNER EXEHE
EFoEEHMEENRE - IRERARFA
ARASEE L E B -

REEBINEBER - sl FXHEELERHMm
RINERBEAER < RETENLZR - TRHE
REHDEEED - (FRBmE —#60 -

WIEBINEBEE 2D WEAT B EERER
AAEABEERBIRBZEERAE I
BHRERARERERENRE - AULEEZ
BEE 3¢, 2 BB BE 3 (A R HERR) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are
employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in
which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the
employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;
° investment in a subsidiary; and

o Intangible assets — customer relationships.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0)

(p)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs to sell and value in
use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probable,
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

()

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s
business components and for their review of
the performance of those components.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if
any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(ivy One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if
any of the following conditions apply:
(continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(@).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse
or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

@iy dependents of that person or
that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the managements are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(@) Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies

() Programme Cost

The Group amortises the programme
costs and programme rights based
on the expected consumption pattern
and the duration of license period
respectively. Management regularly
reviews the basis of the amortisation
and will adjust the amortisation
method when the expected changes
in respective consumption pattern or
economic benefit arise. Impairment loss
is recognised when there is an indication
that the estimated recoverable amount
of individual programme is less than its
carrying value.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

(@) Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies (continued)

(i)

Control over Capital Land Digital
Entertainment Co. Ltd. (“Capital
Land”)

Note 38 describes that Capital Land is
a subsidiary of the Group with 25.5%
ownership interest and voting rights
in Capital Land at end of the reporting
period.

The directors of the Company assessed
whether or not the Group has control
over Capital Land based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of Capital Land
unilaterally. In making the judgement, the
directors of the Company considered
the shareholders voting agreement that
the Group and two shareholders of
Capital Land entered into on 28 March
2018, which enable the Group entitles
to control the 40% voting rights in the
shares of Capital Land owned by these
two shareholders. After assessment, the
directors of the Company concluded that
the Group has the ability to direct the
relevant activities of Capital Land with
aggregated voting interest of 65.5% and
therefore the Group has control over
Capital Land.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

@i

Impairment of receivables

Under HKFRS 9

The provision rate of receivables is
made based on assessment of their
recoverability and aging analysis of
receivables as well as other quantitative
and qualitative information and on
management’s judgment and assessment
of the forward-looking information. At end
of reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are
analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation
between historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit
loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative
of customer and counterparties’ actual
default in the future. As at 31 December
2018, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables is RMB35,859,000, net
of impairment loss of RMB4,589,000.
The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade and other receivables is
disclosed in note 24.

Under HKAS 39

The Group’s management reviews
receivables on a regular basis to
determine if any provision for impairment
is necessary. This estimate is based on
the credit history of its customers, past
settlement and industry practice and
current market conditions. Management
reassesses the impairment of receivables
at each reporting date.

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

EREHHE R AT THABER 2 EERR (K)

CEIROLELEESE ede -2 9
() MERRERE
REBEBRIBHREEREIN

FEWGRIR B B i R TR B IR F &y AT U el
TR fih e B YR IR B BR e 0 AT A Je B
EMEHEEREEEHAMELENN
HIET MRS R - RIERR - ELE
RIMBHOXEERER - ADHARRK
HAJRe B EmE L -

HELEBRIAZELNE - BRI LER
SUATE HA(E B R 18 2 2 [ A0 48 B8 14 /Y
AT —EEZHNME - BHREERR
R H) S KEE IR IR RS b A0 TR A A 48 7
MABEHX - ZEENELEEEIE
A 55 N 5 4 7 AR O B TEORI b ] RE VR
RERKREFPRERSGHEFHIHNERE
He R=_FBE—NF+=_A=+—8"
ESNEMEWHRIEBENRAEASAR
#5 35,859,000 7T (H1 bR Bk B E5 1B A R #&
4,589,0007T) ° BAAREEE 5 K HAbfE
WHIETE BE BB E BB R M
24 o

REBEEBETERE 395
AEEEEESTENENERIE - N
BERAFTEERERRE - WWHFTD
EREEFPWMEERES BEXKLET
BEFIRRITHRAME - ERERER
& A E R G UG ORRE
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155



156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR R

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(i)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment.
For the purposes of impairment
reviews, the recoverable amount of
goodwill is determined based on value-
in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculations primarily use cash flow
projections based on five year financial
budgets approved by management.
There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved in the preparation
of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved budgets.
Key assumptions include the expected
growth in revenues, timing of future
capital expenditures, growth rates and
selection of discount rates to reflect the
risks involved. Management prepares
the financial budgets reflecting actual
and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgment is
required to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can
significantly affect these cash flow
projections and therefore the results of
the impairment reviewed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(iii)

Fair value measurement of financial
assets at FVOCI

The fair value measurement of financial
asset at FVOCI are categorized within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
which requires significant judgements
and estimates by considering factors
including, but not limited to the
future cash flows and operating
performance of the investee, economic
and market conditions in which the
investee operates, recent equity share
transaction of the investee and products
development etc. The fair value of the
financial asset at FVOCI is disclosed in
note 39.

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

BEAEHHE R AT THBER 2 EERR (K)

CEENEESE Jrde -2 9

(iii)

RAARBEFAHMGZARENERHEE
DRERE
BAREAREMEZARENEREE
RABEAEDBRFEIRAAEER B
KEBEEBE(BARN) BIRE QA
ARREREMEERR HRE QT
REMEREBERMSMAN - KIREQT
MHRERGMNERBREAERR
HERHE R - BAREF AR
EHPRENEREEAAERENHE
& @
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e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Group has the following reportable segments
which are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable segments:

- Program production and related services
(“Program Production”);

Program Production segment provides
traditional television program production, serial
programme publishing and related services.

— Concert and event organisation and related
services (“Concert and Event Organisation”);

Concert and Event organisation segment
provides organisation services, such as
music concerts, prize presentation ceremony,
automobile shows, university alumni and other
performance events.

— Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and
related services (“ Mobile Live Broadcasting
and E-Commerce”);

Mobile Live Broadcasting and E-Commerce
segment provides an electronic platform for
entertainment contents consumption and
e-commerce, such as online store. This
segment also provides online programme
production and related services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

- Entertainment contents on demand system and
related services (“Entertainment on Demand
System”);

Entertainment on Demand System segment
provides entertainment content through an
entertainment on demand system named
“Fengtingxun” which are installed in hardware
placed within various karaoke boxes, mini-
cinemas, hotels and internet cafes in the PRC.

- Artist Management and related services (“Artist
Management”);

Artist Management segment provides agency
service for the artists for arrangement of
different performance activities.

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference
to prices charged to external parties for similar order.
Central revenue and expenses are not allocated to
the operating segments as they are not included in
the measure of the segments’ profit that is used by
the chief operating decision maker for assessment of
segment performance.

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE
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— REATNEMRBRRRARBRS (MR E
BN

IREEHE RGO BREE R TAER | REARR
B RS  PREZHKTVER - KRR B
JERABEIS B LK ZRIERS o
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
EE2-)\F+-A=+—HLFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. ZII|E(FE)
Business segments (@) XKD
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z—N\F+-A=+—HLFE
Mobile Live
Concert Broadcasting Entertainment
Program and event and  onDemand Artist
Production  Organisation ~ E-Commerce System  Management Total
REER
GEETS EOEY VHERRER REYNEZR BARE @it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE  ARETR  ARETRE  ARETR ARETL  ARETR
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ R AL 2 - 14,144 1,143 5,356 78 20,721
Represented by: P TBIEBET :
Recognised over time R-BREED
- Sales of conoert ticket -HEREeMZ - 8,851 - - - 8,851
~ Provision of event organisation services  — 2t E B R - 4,59 - - - 4,59
~ Online advertising income ~ @ FEERA - - 1,142 - - 1,142
- Subscription of content —:HAR - - - 2,569 - 2,569
- Provision of artist management sevice  — R AL s - - - - 8 78
Recognised at a point in time R-ERERR
- Sales of conoert souvenirs -HEREENAR - 697 - - - 697
- Commission income —FalA - - 1 - - 1
- Sales of devices ~HEX - - - 2,787 - 2,787
Reportable segment revenue from pEL S e les
external customers - 14,144 1,143 5,356 8 20,721
Reportable segment loss DESGE 3 (7,666) (11,147) (36,768) (0,911) (834) (66,326)
Interest income FIEMWA 5 1 1 2 1 10
Interest expense L - - - 84 - 84
Depreciation of property, plant and g BERRETE
equipment 1,007 311 73 416 56 1,863
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESH - 888 - - - 888
Reportable segment assets N2ENHEE 51,120 4,612 29,870 30,865 851 117,318
Adations to non-current assets (note 1) FEREEERE (Wi 1) - - - 246 478 724
Reportable segment liabiliies AERHHERE 48,588 9,311 10,126 9,018 21 77,210




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. ZII|E(F)
(a) Business segments (continued) (@) (K2 (4E)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—_Z—+tF+-_A=+—HItFE
Concert
and Event Mobile Live Entertainment
Program  Organisation Broadcasting  on Demand Atist
Production EEeL  and E-Commerce System  Management Total
HEESE EHER  VHERREH REMRAR EYNS @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETRL ARETTE ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
Repartable segment revenue from REJDERZIZHA TS
external customers 4,055 1,382 11,620 3,128 - 20,085
Reportable segment loss BEE Ak (5,558) 3827) G047 {3,101) - (12633
Interest income HEMA 6 5 2 2 - 15
Depreciation of property, W% BERZENE
plant and equipment 1,688 372 70 322 - 2,602
Amortisation of infangiole assets B EEEHY - 888 - - - 888
Repartable segment assets AERHHEE 8773 11,263 62,874 29,666 = 112576
Additions to non-current assets (note 1) FERBAERE (M 1) - - 61 31 - 92
Repartable segment liabiities DEX G 5,603 38%8 9,608 2,186 = 21,20
Note: Mzt
1. Non-current assets include property, plant and 1. R EECITYE  BERRE -
equipment.
2. No disaggregated of revenue information in terms 2. BRI EFE —F— )\ F—A—AEREHRBE

of timing of recognition has been presented for
2017 since the Group has initially applied HKFRS
15 from 1 January 2018 using the cumulative
effect method. Under this method, comparative
information is not restated and was prepared in
accordance with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11.

AR BRI 155 K=
T LWL 55 I M aF EN (BB
TE) o RIEU T - AR BB EAE
189 R BB B EAIE 11 HEF R EHTLEE
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

6. WS (&)

(b) TEF/RD U B  BERBEZIHIR

2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARET T
Revenue &=
Reportable segment and A 2D HRirE W
consolidated revenue 20,721 20,085
2018 2017
—EB-N\&E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Loss before income tax RRETSBLATES 18
Reportable segment loss A28 EhEE (66,326) (72,633)
Other revenue: HAbas
— Interest income — M EWA 2 5
Other gains or losses: Hftnlrzs 2 B 18 -
— Exchange loss — & 5 E51E (295) (1,687)
— Change in fair value of contingent —ZAREBLAREE
consideration payables - 8,507
— Gain on de-recognition of contingent — R EEREN S ARE
consideration payables 2 Was 151 =
Unallocated corporate expenses: AOBEARFX :
— Auditor’s remuneration — 1% R 35 B (703) (718)
— Directors’ emoluments —E=Me (2,577) (2,616)
— Legal and professional fee —EEREXEER (3,021) (3,529)
— Salaries and other benefits for key —FTEEERITRAE
management and administration staff e R E AR (2,265) (4,000)
— General operating expenses ——REERY (2,891) (3,309)
Consolidated loss before income tax BRETIS T AIAR S B1E (77,925) (79,980)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment

6. WS (&)

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE

(b) TEHD WS - BRAAEHADER - BERE

revenue, profit or loss, assets and BEZEER (&)
liabilities (continued)
2018 2017
—B-N\F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A2H/HIEE 117,318 112,576
Unallocated corporate assets: FORAREE :
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - B R 191 7
— Cash and bank balances — R & MIRTT 4R 5,479 13,734
— Financial asset at fair value through other —BAREFAEMEE
comprehensive income Wamr e pE &= 6,582 -
— Others —Hfh 729 2,938
Consolidated total assets REEEMRE 130,299 129,965
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFTT
Liabilities aE
Reportable segment liabilities A2HkDEaE 77,270 21,295
Unallocated corporate liabilities: RAOBARIERE :
— Accruals and other payable —[EETE R R EAME FRIE 9,254 2,943
— Contingent consideration payables —FE S AR(E = 151
— Loan due to a shareholder — N T —BIREANER 4,034 -
Consolidated total liabilities reaEeEs 90,558 24,389
FENERRARAT T \FEEES
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R R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-—\F+-A=t—-HLEE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

()

6. ZE®E (&)

Geographic information (c) HEER
The following table provides a geographical TREHEAREBE NI P UG AR AT ©
analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers.
2018
B N\E
RMB’000
ARET T
(note)
(K1)
Hong Kong BE
— Sales of concert ticket —HEEEEME 7,186
— Sales of concert souvenirs —HEREELSM 600
— Provision of event organisation services —RMEE RS 354
PRC H
— Provision of event organisation services —RMEE RS 1,719
— Sales of devices —SHERE 2,787
— Provision of entertainment contents on
demand system services —RHRERNANBEIERGIRE 2,569
— Others —HAh 1,221
Other countries in Southeast Asia R EETES
— Sales of concert ticket —HEEEEME 1,665
— Sales of concert souvenirs —HEEEELSM 97
— Provision of event organisation services — RSB E PR 2,523
20,721

Note: Geographical region of customers is based on
the location at which the goods and services are
provided. The group has initially applied HKFRS
15 using the cumulative effect method (see note
2(a) B). Under this method, the comparative
information in relation to disaggregation of sales
of good and services by geographical region is
not restated.

In 2017, all revenue from external customers are
located in the PRC. No geographical location of
non-current assets is presented as substantial
non-current assets are physically based in the
PRC.
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e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. DEP{E(E)
(d) Information about major customers (d EHEEXZEEFMESR
For the year ended 31 December 2018, HE-Z—)\F+-_A=+—HILFE k&
revenues from one customer (2017: two —RBFE (& MEBEP) K EHE
customers) with whom transactions have BAEERFEAREM 10% © FIFHT -

exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
year. Details were as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Revenue from the customer: KEREEHUWE :
Customer BFE|:
— Program Production — 8B &1k N/A® 3,449
Customer I BEI :
— Mobile Live Broadcasting and E-commerce —8hE# KR & N/A® 11,321
Customer llI: ZEI :
— Concert and Event Organisation —BIEE REEEHR 2,523 N/AD
2,523 14,770
Note i Btati -
The corresponding revenue in the year ended 31 BE—F—+FF-A=1—HIFE  EFVIHEE
December 2017 for Customer Ill did not contribute over Wz 30 47 B ot N 2L BAE Yz 19 109 LA _E ©
10% of the total revenue of the Group.
Note i: Hiatii -
The corresponding revenue in the year ended 31 BE—F—\FF+-A=1+—HIFE EFIREFI
December 2018 for Customers | and Il did not contribute B FE 00 4 o NS B AR Y 19 10% LAE ©

over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

Wz

Revenue of the Group represents revenue generated AEE W ()& B RIERMEBERY @ (ii)EEe
from (i) program production and related services, (ii) EEEN RBRERT (VBB EENE F’ﬁ&*ﬁ?ﬁ]ﬁﬁ
concert and event organisation and related services, % (V) READNEZE XS RABERE - &(v)E
(i) mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and NG 40 575 R AR B AR 75 B A2 2 AR ES - IR EF AT
related services, (iv) entertainment contents on REEZUWEERIRFREELNT ¢

demand system and related services and (v) artist

management and related services. The amounts

of each significant category of revenue recognised

during the year are as follows:

7. REVENUE 7.

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Program production and related income £ B RUERAERIA - 4,055
Concert and event organisation and EIEE MEEER K
related income iz LN 14,144 1,382
Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce BEEEREER
and related income iELEZ LN 1,143 11,520
Entertainment contents on demand system and REANRNEIERS
related income KARRAUA 5,356 3,128
Artist management and related income N EGYSLEl LN 78 =
20,721 20,085
8. OTHER REVENUE 8. HblgA
2018 2017
—EB-N\&E —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFTT
Licensing of programme (note) E‘F—Jﬁﬁ B (K17) 15,257 -
Interest income from bank deposits TERZFEWHA 12 20
Sundry income mﬁlﬁuﬁz)\ 113 107
15,382 127

Biet - FA > XEBEBHEER EFEEITHIEHA N E
B ERIFA THLE= . UREARK
17,000,000 7T #) K2 BBMA  &F A] £ B ) Rz A B
BEFPEXE AR B EAENE R - [ RAEE
BEBEXEPECEHE  KEEGETEREZEE
FHERARNE A 52

Note: During the year, the Group licensed certain of its
programmes developed under Mobile Live Broadcasting
and E-commerce segment to an independent third
party for the re-editing rights with unlimited period and
recorded principal amount of RMB17,000,000. The
income from licensing of programme is recognised at
the point of time the Group delivered and grant the
customer the right to use the programme as it exists
since the Group do not has obligation or the customer
do not reasonably expects, that the Group will undertake
activities that significantly affect the programme to which
the customer has rights.
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

9. HfttKzmEKER

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE

2018 2017
—B-N\EF —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T AREBT T
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEWZE - E M
ol i =| = (35)
Written off of other receivables S L FE LR IR = (517)
Exchange loss I& 5 518 (295) (1,687)
Change in fair value of contingent ERSAREZ AR EEE)
consideration payables - 8,507
Gain on de-recognition of contingent TR R s AKRE
consideration payables (note 29) 2 Wz (M1t 29) 151 -
Bad debt recovered B E R 240 =
Gain on de-recognition of deferred rent payables RIETEREMTEER S
ZWzs 3,613 -
3,709 6,268
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BREFISFHAIERE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTTT
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: & FT1S 5 BT EEAS 0% ¢
Staff costs (note 11) BIXA (K 11) 21,449 20,644
Auditor’s remuneration 12 28 B 35 B 703 718
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: Y - RE N REITE
(note 17 and (i) below) (FXHTE 17 RATEE®)) 2,211 2,983
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 19) ER B (Wi 19) 888 888
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% « = &R ERIE
(note 17) B8 (Hfat 17) 4,349 -
Impairment loss of goodwill (note 18) B RIERTE (M 18) 4,504 -
Impairment loss of programme cost £ B B AN BB R 8 4,336 -
Note: Mz -
0] No depreciation charge (2017: RMB866,000) has been () FRNENERS (ZF—+F : ARKSE66,0005T)E it
included in direct costs for the year. ABEK -
FEAZRZERERART - N\FFERS
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e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z- \F+-A=+—HLEFE

11. STAFF COSTS 11. EIRAE
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —ZT—+4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Staff costs (including directors) comprise: BTRA(BIEES) B
Wages and salaries TITENES 17,621 15,422
Short-term non-monetary benefits SEEEIS S =T 376 1,278
Social insurance and housing fund HeRBEEFEAES 3,452 3,944
21,449 20,644
12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 12, EEHMH
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: WEREoESEMOT ¢
Year ended 31 December 2018: BE—Z—\F+-A=+—HILEFEE:
Contributions
Salariesand  to retirement
other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
HeR EREF
e Hin@F FHEIftER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (note (i) below) #5844 (R XHT () - 1,096 = 1,096
Mr. Yang Shiyuan (note (iv) below) 5tEiE 44 (FXHTEE () = = - -
Ms. Yang Jianping BEER L - 500 - 500
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Ge Xuyu ERFELE - 305 15 320
Mr. Wang Yong TBRE - 203 - 203
Independent non-executive
directors BUFHTES
Mr. Li Fei R - 152 - 152
Mr. Law Kin Ho (note (i) below) 423564 (FXHTEE (i) = 84 - 84
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRI SEAE - 152 - 152
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (note (i) below) ERTRRSE 4 (FHTEE (i) - 70 - 70
- 2,562 15 2,577
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2017:

Executive directors
Mr. Philip Jian Yang
Mr. Li Lin

Mr. Yang Shiyuan (note (iv) below)

Mr. Sun Rui
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors
Mr. Ge Xuyu
Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive

directors
Mr. Li Fei
Mr. Law Kin Ho
Mr. Tan Song Kwang

Note:

(i) Mr. Philip Jian Yang is also the Chief Executive Officer of

the Company.

(ii) Ceased as independent non-executive director on 18

July 2018.

(i) Appointed as independent non-executive director on 18

July 2018.

(iv) Re-designated as non-executive director on 25 March

2019.

HITES
BRIZAE
RFREE
BE A (T (i)
Stk
B at

FUTES
BlETRE
EBEE

BYFUTES
FREE

Blezfit
BRI E

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE

12. E=HM (E)
HE_Z—+F+-A=1+—RHILFE:
Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
ek BIKER
e EHhiE A IR fasr
RMB ' 000 RMB " 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
- 1,105 - 1,105
- 93 24 117
- 78 4 82
- 310 - 310
- 311 15 326
- 208 - 208
- 156 - 156
- 156 - 156
- 156 - 156
- 2,573 43 2,616
et -
() b B 5E A TN BRI A]AY T TIRAR R,
(i) REFE—NFNAF/NATHEFBLIFNTES -
(i) REF—NFNA+/\AEZIRBBELIHNTES -
() R-F—NF=HA=—+AHBEBHHTESE -

HEAISEZERERAT

- \FEEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Finan

R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2017: two) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the

cial Statements

13. HRBREHFMAL

AEERAEZRSFMALS =2 (CF—+F W
R)RARAET  REZFHME IR EXE 128
WED - HBRRE (ZT—1F : =8) ALz2HMH

disclosures in note 12 above. The emoluments of AT :
the remaining two (2017: three) individual were as
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Wages and salaries TITENES 970 1,320
Their emoluments were within the following band: B 2 FEHR A T4 R -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AE N
Nil to RMB1,000,000 == AR 1,000,000 7T 2 3
14. FINANCE COSTS 14. BAEEELA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Interest on other borrowing EAERZFLE 84 -

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

15. FigBi (M%) #ER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARBTFIT

Current tax — the PRC BNEAF I8 —
— provision for the year — FREE = (33)
Deferred tax (note 30) RIERLIE (a2 30) (4,627) 222
Income tax (expense)/credit Fis®i (AX) R (4,627) 189

PRC enterprise income tax is calculated at 25%
(2017: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits
during the year.

The income tax (expense)/credit can be reconciled
to the loss before income tax per the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as follows:

hE XS %RT&L/{iWZ{EJF&“%%R@%'J&%%

(ZZF—+t%F : 25%)%

PR (X)) R EEe
PRSTRTE RS ARIN T ¢

2 EW R

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETFIT
Loss before income tax BRPTISEL A E 1B (77,925) (79,980)
Tax credit calculated at the AT R 25%
domestic tax rate of 25% —ZT— 1 25%)
(2017: 25%) =HE 7 HIEE R 19,481 19,995
Effect of different tax rates of companies operating R Efth Bl ARE R AL A Al
in other jurisdictions TR E 2 2 (952) (839)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AR AN 2 RIS 2
puUrposes (3,606) (2,339)
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax purposes AT HIF Uizs 2 B 5 or & 38 2,886
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised REDTIBEEBR 2 RETE (19,588) (19,518)
Income tax (expense)/credit FriS® (F) K% (4,627) 189
FEAIZEERERATE T N\EEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the following data:

16. SREE

ARREBEESE ARGERERNREEERTY

RIBEATBIRHE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Loss for the purposes of basic loss per share TEREAEEMS ZEE (74,799) (73,292)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
’000 000
T Th%
Number of shares BB EE
Issued ordinary shares of 1 January R—A—BMBERTE B 1,423,513 1,207,246
Effect of issuance of shares under the BB EBRM TR,
consideration share k-7 = 446
Effect of issuance of shares under the placing BIERERTRO 22 - 190,137
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR I T 8L 1,423,513 1,397,829
Note: Kiat -

No diluted loss per share is presented as the effect of all

potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

17. 9% - BMEKRRE

Furniture
Leasehold Office Computer and Motor
improvements equipment equipment fixtures vehicles Total
BENFRE BARE ERRfG GERRE &3t a3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2017 R=E2—+F-H—-H 6,617 2,605 9,061 984 4950 24,17
Additions NE 238 30 245 9 - 522
Disposal e = (99) - - (526) (621)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+2A
and 1 January 2018 S+-BR=Z-\E
—A-A 6,855 2,540 9,306 993 4424 24,118
Additions AE 497 199 28 9 - 728
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\FTZA
=1-H 7,352 2,739 9,329 1,002 4424 24,846
Accumulated depreciation: Z:T7E
At 1 January 2017 W=E-+5-f-H 1,900 966 7,130 576 3,401 13973
Charge for the year ERFL 4 607 1,185 117 333 2,983
Disposal e = (55) - - (500) (555)
At 31 December 2017 RZEB—+E+-R
and 1 January 2018 S+-BR=Z-\E
—A-H 2,641 1,518 8,315 693 3,234 16,401
Charge for the year ERFL 79 609 354 119 333 2211
Impairment HE 3,633 126 334 80 216 4,349
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\ETZA
=1-H 6,970 2,253 9,003 892 3,843 22,961
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\ETZA
=1-H 382 486 326 10 581 1,885
At 31 December 2017 RZE—t5+2A
=1-H 4214 1,022 991 300 1,190 7,17
FERIZERERAT —Z-N\FFEEHRE 173
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

17. Y13 - R R&RE (8)

174

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

To align with the Group’s operational and business
development, the Group decided to terminate the
lease of an office in the PRC. Termination agreement
was signed with the property owner in December
2018, in which property owner agreed the Group
was not obliged to pay rental payment of the office
for remaining lease period subsequent to its removal.
Impairment loss of RMB 3,533,000 represented
the write down of carrying amount of leasehold
improvement was recognised in profit or loss
under “administrative expenses” as management
considers the leasehold improvement has no further
material economic benefit to the Group upon lease
termination.

A corresponding deferred rent payable with carrying
amount of RMB 3,613,000 in relation to the office in
the PRC, represented the unamortised balance for
effective rent of the office under original remaining
lease periods has been recognized in profit or loss
under “other gain and loss” upon lease termination.

ABHEAEENEERERER  ASBAZRKL
RAER—FRAERE - RIEHBER =T —N\F
T REMERE AR EFUEREAREAR
SERBRBEGAEAY M THERBMNRHAZHE
FRIE - EETE A REES,533,000 T (FEHEYEEE
REEMR) Bt ABSTH [1THREX ] - BEEE
REREMERERR BT TSR AEEE—T
AR B AL 2R o

A B A ERRE(E AR 3,613,000 7T M FE - 6948
RERE  HERRARSKEEMARREFNR
MERAREHFBED NEORIERE [Ebkam e
BIE N ZBETHER

18. GOODWILL 18. B8
2018 2017
—E-N\E T —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
At beginning of year 31,262 31,262
Impairment losses recognised in the year FAE BRBEEE (4,504) -
At end of year MNER 26,758 31,262

Goodwill acquired in business combination is
allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating
unit (“CGUSs”) that is expected to benefit from that
business combination. As at 31 December 2018 the
goodwill arose from the acquisition of CGUs is as
follows:

EGatHnReELBN((ReEELEM]) - R
T-N\Ft-A=1+—H WBEReELBEUEL
BB

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Entertainment on demand system services IREENA N B 2E RS IRTS 26,758 26,758
Event organisation services EEN B IARTS - 3,655
Mobile live broadcasting services BB EERRTS = 949
26,758 31,262

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018




18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Entertainment on demand system services

The recoverable amount of the CGU of the
entertainment on demand system business in
PRC is determined by the value-in-use calculation.
The calculation was carried out by cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by the management covering a five-year period.
Cash flows for the five-year period are estimated
based on the management’s expectation for market
development in the first year and an annual growth
rate of turnover ranging from 10%-70% in year 2 to
year 5 (2017: 50%-160% for year 2 to year 5) and
a pre-tax discount rate of 28% (2017: 25%). Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using an estimated weighted average growth rate of
3% (2017: 3%). The estimated growth rates used are
comparable to the growth rate for the industry.

The key assumption used in the value-in-use
calculation is the average annual growth rate of
turnover of the entertainment on demand system
business, which is determined based on the
management’s expectation for market development.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to entertainment on demand
system segment. Any adverse change in the key
assumptions could reduce the recoverable amount
below carrying amount.

The management reassessed the recoverable
amount of the CGU of entertainment on demand
system business in PRC as at 31 December 2018
by reference to the discounted cash flow calculation
with the above estimation and was of the opinion
that no impairment loss should be recognised as the
recoverable amount of the CGU is higher than its
carrying amount.

18.

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

BE ()

RUNBNBEHBRERE
FERERNANERERAEF R SEEEMMNA]
WElSREBERTHAEENEER - st EERBE
EREEAMAANRELFHENTEEE RS RE
TEREL - AFHENRERENRBEEEEYE
—EMBEENERNRE —FE A EEERF
ISR RNEEA10% E70% (ZE—+F : F-FF
FERFH50%E160%) MFENFITIRE28% (= F
—+4& : 25%) fhEt - AFEHIMZ BRE S RE A
ST R R 3% (= F—+4F : 3%)HE - FifE
FAfFHE R R EITHEE R KBS -

ERBEFAEMEANEIERIXRRENETNER
BEGEGERENTHFERR - DREEEE
HMGHRNOFARMETE - FAEANITIRERBEEHR
AN RRERAREHBERR D BB TRAR - T2
BB A (] A ) 2 35 ] R {5 m) UK (] 5 BEURL = KR
RRE(E -

EREZBSENRRCREMBER LARTE
AR - N\E+ A=+ —BHBERERNE
NEHBEAREERSELEUNAIRESRE - I
R ARREELAFMMNEATKESEAR AR
EfE - WEAERRERE

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERE
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

18.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Event organisation services

In consideration of continuous operating losses for
the traditional event organisation business acquired
in previous years with no indication of profitability
and net cash inflow generate in near future. The
management has determined the recoverable
amount as nil and the goodwill allocated to the CGU
of event organisation services has been fully impaired
as at 31 December 2018.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of the event
organisation business in 2017 is determined by the
value-in-use calculation. The calculation was carried
out by cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering a
five-year period. Cash flows for the five years period
are estimated based on an average annual growth
rate of turnover of 10% for year 2 to year 5 and a
pre-tax discount rate of 15%. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated
weighted average growth rate of 3%. The estimated
growth rates used are comparable to the growth rate
for the industry.

The key assumption used in the value-in-use
calculation is the average annual growth rate of
turnover of the event organisation business, which
is determined based on the past performance
and management’s expectation through market
development. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific risks relating to event
organisation segment. Any adverse change in the key
assumptions could reduce the recoverable amount
below carrying amount.

The management reassessed the recoverable
amount of the CGU of event organisation business
in PRC as at 31 December 2017 by reference to
the discounted cash flow calculation with the above
estimation and was of the opinion that no impairment
loss should be recognised as the carrying amount of
the CGU of approximates to it recoverable amount.
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ERBEEEZEREDENEGEESEHE
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{8 -

—ELFEAPEMEGRSELENNARE S
BB REREEFEEE AEERREEERE
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FLERBRFYERE10% R BMB TR K15% (4
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 18. B2 (@)
Mobile live broadcasting BEEHE
In consideration of continuous operating losses ENBHEBRESFELEEE B TANERIL
for the mobile live broadcasting business acquired ERANNFEERANE > BEEBEEWETRD
in previous years with no indication of profitability CHEEOEERHERRSELAEUNEEER
and net cash inflow generate in near future. The E-N\E+_A=1+—BEEHME -
management has determined the recoverable
amount as nil in near future and the goodwill
allocated to the CGU of mobile live broadcasting has
been fully impaired as at 31 December 2018.
INTANGIBLE ASSET 19. EFEEE
Customer
relationships
EFRE
RMB’000
AR%ET T
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF—H—8 —F—+tF
and 31 December 2018 TZA=t—BRZZE-NF+H
=+—H 4,440
Accumulated amortisation: E-5E: o
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+tF—H—H 2,664
Charge for the year FAZ M 888
At 31 December 2017 R-_E—+F+-_HA=+—H 3,552
Charge for the year FAZ M 888
At 31 December 2018 R-B—N\FE+A=+—H 4,440
Net carrying amount: BRIENRE :
At 31 December 2018 R-E—N\F+=-_A=+—H -
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+=-_A=+—H 888

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

SES

21.

22,

—E-N\FE+-A=+—ALEE

20. PROGRAMME COST 20. EiE A
2018 2017
—B-)N\fF —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Current RED
Programme costs £ B A A - 29,964
Programme rights EEN = 6,634
- 36,598
Non-current IERE
Programme rights ENY = 4,336
- 40,934
SERIAL PROGRAMME RIGHTS 21. EEBIRRE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 1 January 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZZE—tF—H-HEK
—=—-N\&—H—H -
Addition during the year FRRE 48,574
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-N\F+ZHA=+—H 48,574
The directors of the Company expect to publish and RABESEEAE —FARNBTHEER I ET IR W
realise revenue of the serial programme within one A AR =_E—N\F+_B=T—"HHBEARD
year therefore classified as current asset as at 31 BE o
December 2018.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22, BAREFAHMEZEKENSRMEE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
2018 2017
—EB-)\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Unlisted equity investment LT RERE 6,582 -

The unlisted equity investment was irrevocably
designated on its initial recognition at fair
value through other comprehensive income as
management considers the investment to be
strategic in nature.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A TSR R M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

23. INVENTORIES 23. FE
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Finished goods SIPK G 106 -
24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. BZREMERE
31 December 2018 1 January 2018 31 December 2017
—E-N\F —E-N\F i
+=A=1+-8 -A-H +-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETR ARETTT
Trade receivables, gross B SIS 4,291 4,211 4,211
Less: impairment allowance (note) B BB () (4,164) (2,754) (1,592)
Trade receivables, net B HRUGIRTE 127 1,457 2,619
Prepayments and deposits BNFERRS 23,617 21,140 21,140
Other receivables, gross Hih FEW IR 4E 5 12,540 474 474
Less: impairment allowance R ER (425) = -
Other receivables, net HAih FEWGIE B 12,115 474 474
35,859 23,071 24,233
Note: Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, an opening adjustment as Kt - BB BB iR 2R R E o514 R=F—/)\E—H—H
at 1 January 2018 was made to recognise additional 1EMH BRI 7 S e ST B 5B S 1 (B 5t 2(a)
provision on trade receivables (note 2(a)A(ii). Afli) °
The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of RERE ZRYGRIE (HRREER) KRB B
impairment losses), based on invoice dates, as of the ERERDMTAOT -
end of year, is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —FT—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within 30 days 30 KA 3 4
31 to 90 days 31 290K 8 -
91 to 180 days 91 £180K 116 -
Over 180 days 180 KA - 2,615

127 2,619

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFEERE 179
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

24.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

No amounts (2017: RMB4,000) are included in trade
receivables within 30 days as at 31 December 2018
for which all services were provided but not yet
invoiced.

The credit period granted to trade debtors ranges
0-90 days from the invoice dates. No significant
change in the gross carrying amounts of trade
receivable during the year contributed to changes in
the loss allowance. Further details on the Group’s
credit policy and credit risk management are set out
in note 40(a).

Comparative information under HKAS 39

Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was
recognised only when there was objective evidence
of impairment (see note 4(i)) — accounting policy
applied prior to 1 January 2018). At 31 December
2017, trade receivables of RMB1,592,000 was
determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of
trade receivables that were not considered to be
impaired was as follows:

24.

B 5 R EMmEWE (&)

RZE—N\F+_A=+—8  EERAIXAH
BoREWGIE(ZT—+F : ARK4,0007T) ' BE
REREEHAMEEE -

YRRz EEMERZARENFOEWNX - F
W BB REGIERRE AR BB KE )M E
EBEEEENEY - BRLAKEEERRMEERRE
IR — S IB RN HTRE 40(a) ©

EEETHERFE 9 EH L BE R
RZZE—N\F—A—HZH  BREBBETERH
BRERPFEERERER(RMHE40) —R=ZZ—N\
F—A—BZABRAMNSEEK) RZT—tF
TZA=1+—8  BSEKHIEARK1,592,0007T
EEEARE - REREARENE S EKGEN R
BT :

2017
—E—tF
RMB’000
AREFIT

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Within 30 days

31 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

Over 180 days

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not
impaired mainly relate to a customer who is
being sued by the Group for the settlement of the
receivables. Based on the facts, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances under HKAS 39 and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable as at
31 December 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A TSR R M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. B RHAMERRIE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 ERGEAFE KM LRER (&)
(continued)
The below table reconciled the impairment allowance TRAFENE S REMEKRIE 2 BEREHHEE -
of trade and other receivables for the year:
2018 2017
—2-N\fF —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

At the beginning of year REH 1,592 -
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 BXERAB B HREZER
(note 2(a)A(i) FOR B
(BI=E 2(a)Ai) 1,162 -
Adjusted balance at the beginning of year RS 2 48R 2,754 -
Provision for impairment in accordance RIEE B 15k 228
with HKFRS 9 FIFIELRER S 2,075 -
Provision for impairment in accordance RIEEAL LR
with HKAS 39 39 SRIEHRE R — 1,692
Reversal of provision on recovery of doubtful debts R 152 BR B (& #5 (0] (240) -
At the end of year REKR 4,589 1,592
25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. BSREMARE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on RERE ZENFIBZEZ B HNRES AT ¢
invoice dates, as of the end of year is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETTT

Within 30 days (note) 30 KM (FI7E) 48,692 8,927
31 to 90 days 31 290K = -
91 to 365 days 91 £ 365K = -
Over 365 days 365 KM E 9,486 754
58,178 9,681
Note: Btat -
Included in trade payables within 30 days as at 31 December REZF—NFF+ZA=1—H ' R B0XAHE ZETHE
2018 was the remaining balances of RMB48,692,000 in respect EIER BN EE R A R 48,692,0007T * A BiE
of purchase of serial programme rights which was payable ST o KEFH LTI TR E RATIEF B8 A ZEELIA
by instalments. The Group is negotiating with different TV BRET - NEBE R RIEE B IXFAE (IREFEE G
stations and online platforms for initial publishing of the serial HIEER 2 IR E) iR S (1B ZEMHERTER=ZFE=-F
programme. The Group requested and obtained conditional FFZHA=+—HZfT -

consent (in case the initial publishing is delayed) from the vendor
to settle the payable no later than 31 December 2020.
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R IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

26. OTHER PAYABLES

26. HfttFEMNRKIEA

31 December

1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017
—E-N\F —E-)\&F —ET—+F
+=—BA=+—H —A—H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT AREFIT
Accruals and other payables FETE B N EH b e 58 15,791 5,165 5,165
Receipt in advance LG R - 217 1,793
Deposit received Bz e 157 220 220
Deferred rent payable FEHRER & - 3,544 3,544
15,948 9,146 10,722

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EHAME

31 December

1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017

—E-N\F —E-N\F —T—+F

+=A=+—~ —A—A +=ZA=+—8

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FR ARBF T AR¥ETT

Contract liabilities arising from REIREEBLEE R AT

Entertainment on Demand System BHAE 3,826 1,576 =

The increase in contract liabilities during the year RERNGREBEIRINEZE R IRERE Rt R 158

was mainly due to the growth of the businesses from e

entertainment on demand system.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract liabilities are as follows:

&
L

Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

BHABSEN—RNFEFTMT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The Group would demand 100% consideration for
annual subscription of content before transferring the
subscribed content to customers.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is RMB3,826,000. This amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
subscription of content which is expected to occur
over the next 12 to 36 months.

27.

e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

BREE(R)

AEBGBRENESEETHONEZ AR EF
STBIR A 100% BYHR1E -

RZZF-NF+-A=1t—0 2EEAXEERA
BHETRSRBEVNEENXFIERNEATEAAR
#3,826,000 7T - ZEBARAHBRBRTHAR
(FRHRM AR 12 £ 36 8 A 34 ) R AO ek

Movements in contract liabilities EHEERS
2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
AR%T T
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&#% 1,576
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising FEREEERTAFEIELEE
revenue during the year that was included in the MR EERA N EERD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (1,268)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipt REFWEEIFEREREHL
of subscription fee from customers BfEEmn 3,518
Balance at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—Hz&#% 3,826

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

28.

29.

OTHER BORROWING 28. HAER
Other borrowing represents unsecured loan from an HitnEREB U E=ANEERER - HERNER
independent third party, which bear interest of 8% 8% * WHR—FNERE -
per annum and repayable within 1 year.
CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 29. ENHANE
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREETT
Fair value of contingent consideration payables TR TR RS 2
for acquisition of Capital Land HAREARE = 151

In accordance with the sale and purchase agreement
dated 26 September 2016, as part of the acquisition
of Capital Land, the Group is obliged to pay a
performance-based contingent consideration of
RMB61,200,000 in cash or 26,761,290 ordinary
shares of the Company to the vendors, which is
contingent on the financial results of Capital Land in
future specific periods.

As at 31 December 2017, management revised
the profit forecast of Capital Land and reassessed
the possibility and extent for Capital Land to meet
the performances targets in the future. Fair value
of the contingent consideration payables was re-
measured at RMB151,000 as at 31 December 2017
and approximately RMB8,507,000 fair value gain was
recorded in the profit or loss.

During 2018, the Group and vendors entered
into waiver agreement, pursuant to which the
vendors agree to waive the Group’s obligations
and responsibilities to fulfil the clause in relation to
contingent consideration set out above, therefore the
carrying amount of contingent consideration payable
has been derecognised.
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BERHA T "FNA-THNEE®H
EOERKERIM o AEEAEXBEN
HEMBAZNTUARRAEERNIARBARE
61,200,000 T3k AN A 7] 26,761,290 A% & B A% @ 18 T
FOLER BEIEE MM IEEE o

RZZE—t+tF+ZA=1T—H ' EBEBEIRL
A A A TEOR I EFT A A LR B IR ER R B
BRI EREE - Al - BRNARENARE
ERN—E—+E+-_A=1t—HEFFELEHOAR
#151,0007T © B AR BERZEL AR 8,507,000 7T
BEir A=A -

R-F-N\&F AKRERBEFIVLERBZE &
o BEHRBEEAREE EXAEEERAN
EBNERBETSENRBEREE  Bib > DR LLHE
RENHARRENREE -
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e IR AR M

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 30. EEBBEEE (BFE)
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities ERATBRARERNECHBEEE R ABHERK
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial Mo G EHEE R -

position and the movements are as follows:

Fair value
adjustment
Tax on intangible
loss assets Total
RIEEE BREE
ZARERAE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T ARBT T
At 1 January 2017 R_ZE—+%—H—H 6,298 (444) 5,854
Credited to profit or loss (note 15) - Az (Fds+ 15) - 222 222
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+%F+_A
=— 6,298 (222) 6,076
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss &t A8z (FizE 15)
(note 15) (4,849) 222 (4,627)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\¥+_A
== 1,449 - 1,449
At end of the reporting period, the Group has RAIREIR - AEEWEGE T RATEEEAR
not recognised deferred tax assets totaling #158,678,000 7T (= E—+4F : AR 82,380,000
RMB39,372,000 (2017: RMB20,595,000) in 7T ) HERRIRIE TR IE B EE BT AR 39,372,000 7T (=
respect of certain accumulated tax losses of T—+F : AR¥20,595,0007T) @ REAREBE
RMB158,678,000 (2017: RMB82,380,000) as it is HAEER KBRS « 0] a6 R R B R B R 7 1] &)
not probable that future taxable profits against which FAEsiE o

the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA
Authorised and issued share capital EERBRITRA
2018 2017
“E-N\E “EF
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number HKD’000 RMB’000 Number HKD'000 RMB'000
EES BER
#A TAn ARETT #E Thx ARETT
Ordinary shares of HK80.01 each  BREE0.01/E L L@ 8,000,000,000 80,000 67,024  8,000,000,000 80,000 67,024
Issued and fully paid BETREHHR
Ordinary shares Tk
At beginning of the year REA] 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788 1,207,246,376 12,072 0,884
Issue of share under placing RERERTRR
(note (@) iR - - - 200,000,000 2,000 1,767
Issue of recalled consideration  Z{TEBWE K ERNDZ
shares (note (o)) BOIGET)) - - - 16,266,667 163 137
At end of the year RER 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788 1,423,513,043 14,285 11,788
Notes: Hat -
(a)  Under the placing took place during the year ended @ RERBEZ-F—tF1=HA="1—HIFERETH

(®)

31 December 2017, 200,000,000 new ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.265
per share. A sum of HK$50,700,000 (equivalent to
RMB43,1883,000) in cash was received in the placing,
after the net of related expenses borne by the Company
of approximately RMB1,881,000. The directors
considered that the placing was taken place for the
purpose of raising sufficient fund for general working
capital and expansion of business.

Included in the shares issued for acquisition of a
subsidiary were 16,266,667 shares which were subject
to lock-up and dealing restrictions and adjustments.
In prior year, these shares were classified as financial
liabilities until the date for the release of the relevant
restrictions. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
all the 16,266,667 shares were recalled by the Company
and placed to an independent third party.
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& - E&REFIRIR7 0.265 57,2 (BI5E77 200,000,000
REREEO0.01 87,2 FTEEAR - RILEF EWERE %
&4160,700,000;8 7T (1AE A K #543,183,0007T ) (A€ #1
B AR Bl R IERIFARS R S A9 A R 5 1,881,000T) °

EITE L TETT °

FRREEL R B ERHIRFHEEH 16,266,667 BRAR (75T
Al —FMTB R AIE B THIRGH « RZFTFE * %
ERGAEREHE EEZIHAR R E AL o R
BE—F—+tF+-A=1+—HILFE  FARalkiElE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Capital Land, 25.5% (2017: 51%) owned by
the Group and Beijing Yiju Creative Technology
Limited (“Yiju Creative”), 80% owned by the Group

32, FFERER

FIm(BAAEERHEE25.5%(—Z—+F : 51%)) &
IR SBAEREERAR ([ ZFEIE]) (AAEE
7 80%) HEE EAJEIERRAE RS ([ RIS ) - A

have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). BT R [ 5 B A B e = E 04 85 AT et B 758
Summarised financial information in relation to the BE2F)T -
NCI of Capital Land and Yiju Creative before intra-
group elimination are presented below:
(a) Capital Land (@) I
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREBT T
Revenue Wzs 5,356 3,128
Loss for the year FANEBE (11,399) (13,162)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEEARE (11,399) (13,162)
Loss and total comprehensive loss allocated il & JEFERCE 2R AV BT 18 K2
to NCI RHEERERE (7,397) (6,449)
Cash flow used in operating activities LEEBFTARESRE 9,312) (11,604)
Cash flow used in investing activities KEEEFAESRE (244) (30)
Cash flow generated from financing activites REE/EBELRSRE 10,748 11,500
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WERACRt) F58 1,192 (134)
As at 31 December 2018 2017
R+=—BA=+-—H —E-)N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTTT
Non-current assets IEREEE 1,916 2,099
Current assets MENVE B 2,556 6,573
Current liabilities mENAE (9,383) (2,184)
Net (iabilities)/assets (BE) EEFE (4,911) 6,488
Accumulated non-controlling interests Rt IEER R 3,148 3,179
FERIZERERART —E-\FEERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 32. FFiEKREZR (E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Yiju Creative (b) SBAIE
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Revenue Wz 1,143 11,5619
Loss for the year FAEE (50,330) (42,563)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREHEEBELE (50,330) (42,563)
Loss and total comprehensive loss allocated % it 2= JE1ZE pR i 25 O fE5 18
to NCI (note) R amEEARE (M) = =
Cash flow generated from/(used in) RETEBNES,
operating activities (FTA)BRE&R=E 700 (84)
Cash flow generated from/(used in) EES (FrA),/
investing activities EXReRE 1 (59)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BarA/ (Ril) F58 701 (143)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
As at 31 December B+=—A=+—H
Non-current assets EMBENEE = 4,109
Current assets BB E 29,870 57,722
Current liabilities ik =K (130,842) (112,473)
Net liabilities BEFE (100,972) (50,642)

Accumulated non-controlling interests (note) 2 &t 3EiEp&tERS (M) - =

Note: The Group confirmed that non-controlling
interest of Yiju Creative have no liabilities on the
accumulated losses incurred.

Hiet - KEERER - ZEE B HIER Em W RO EL
B EHRAIE E °
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33. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

34.

Disposal of interests in a subsidiary without
loss of control

In 2018, the Group disposed of certain equity
interests in a subsidiary with aggregated cash
consideration of RMB 18,000,000.

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HILFE

33. EFERERETZIRS

ERREEFENER T HE—BWEQ A ES

R-F—N\F AEELE-HNBRRNE TR
¥ RRSRE/ARK 18,000,000 7T °

2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
ARET T
Carrying amounts disposed of to non-controlling interests & T JER A& 25 H BR 1B (7,367)
Proceeds from disposal & FTS RE 18,000
Difference recognised within equity RERAERAERR 10,633
RESERVES 34. f#E
The Group KEH
(@) The following describes the nature and (@) TXHREEAEREBETSHEZMEERA

purpose of each reserve within owners’
equity:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is available for paying
distributions and dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distributions or
dividend payments, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

=

K8
RERSEHSARDE(EERF 228 @ WAR
AR KK EA RN AT L X558
RAEEIHZES  ARAAENAEBE
RAMEARZHET » SARBZBMDRE
FRERBIR 2K MRS, ©

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

34. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 34.

The Group (continued)
(@) (continued)

Other reserve
[t represents the fair value of the share-based
payments over the consideration received.

Merger reserve

It represents the difference between the
nominal value of shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate fully paid
registered capital of subsidiaries pursuant to
the Group Reorganisation.

(b) Reserves of the Company

1% (1|)
AEE (&)
(@) (#&)
EmEE
HIEUBRD AERNMNRAABEE KREZ
EE o
ARG

HIEARRE BT AERRESEEAN
BARNGREMENEBE L RNESR -

(b) ADTFHE

Movements in the Company’s reserves are as RARIFEE 2 BT -
follows:
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
A& (B ZETEE HET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-_ZE—+F—HF—H
Z FEER 112,313 (11,855) 100,458
Issue of shares under placing  RIFALE TS 43,183 - 43,183
Issue of ordinary shares 1T E AR 2,600 - 2,600
Loss for the year FREE = (13,978) (13,978)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R—ZT—+F+_7
as originally presented = t—HZz&%
GREEZ27) 158,096 (25,833) 132,263
Initial application of HKFRS 9 &R fEFRE BB #5HRE
AR Q5% - (87,373) (87,373)
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H
(restated) 2R (R ED) 158,096 (63,206) 94,890
Loss for the year FAEE = (63,783) (53,783)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZ—ZT—\F+_A
= t—HZz%&% 158,096 (116,989) 41,107
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BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

35. ARQBHBARREK

THE COMPANY
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —FtF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥ET T AREFIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REM B A RRIEE —* =
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEAEMEZE
other comprehensive income Wz 2R EE 6,582 -
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 6,582 -
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSE B A R 5 E 60,086 141,310
Prepayment TETFIR 711 2,784
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 3,221 10,482
Total current assets REEEHAE 64,018 154,576
Total assets EEHAE 70,600 154,576
Current liabilities HREBaE
Accruals FEETE A 17,705 10,525
Net current assets REEEFE 46,313 144,051
Total assets less current liabilites #AEERREBARE 52,895 144,051
NET ASSETS EEFRE 52,895 144,051
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 31 11,788 11,788
Reserves B 34 41,107 132,263
TOTAL EQUITY AR 52,895 144,051

* Represents amount less than RMB1,000

On behalf of the board of directors

Philip Jian Yang
oyl

“ LA R 1,0007T

RREEE

Yang Jianping
BR¥

HEAISEZERERAR

—E-N\FEERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

36. OPERATING LEASES

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its lease properties.
Leases are negotiated for terms between 1 year to 2

36. KEHEE

REHENFEASERE THEREMRBNNE
T  MHKERR—FEMF (T —LF: —Et
F) HEBEE R HEREEREE B2 LERNE

years (2017: 1 year to 7 years) at fixed rentals or at & o
rentals with fixed percentage of increment in agreed
time frame.
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Minimum lease payments HERETK 4,934 3,649
The total future minimum lease payments are due as KRR EERBERFETERNHE R -
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Not later than one year TNER—F 1,186 4,504
Later than one year and not later than five years BR—FETNENRAF 436 20,350
Later than five years BRAF - 5,247
1,622 30,101
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEAXRS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances (@) BREGEVERXEMIDMEERS REH
disclosed elsewhere in this consolidated Gh - MERANEBEBEFEUTEARS

financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with related
parties during the year:

Related party relationship Type of transaction 2018 2017
BELBE @R —E-)N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Shareholder A Salaries 5 75
N e
Shareholder B Salaries 75 75
f&E B e

(b) The amounts due from non-controlling interests (b) FEUGEIERR RS FE AEEE - R B MR EK
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on FER BmRTETBEEAN WEEZAEMZ
demand. No ECL provision has recognised as JEE =B

management assessed the effect is immaterial.

() The loans due to a shareholder is unsecured, () EN—ZRFEERAEEM 0o RNBRE
interest-free and repayable on demand or due BB —FERNEIHE o
within 1 year.

(d) The remuneration of directors and other d ZEFREMFBEEERXERFARZHHO
members of key management during the year T

was as follows:

2018 2017
—e-NE  —TtF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Wages and salaries TENES 3,962 3,994
Social insurance and housing fund Rk EEAES o1 114
Mandatory provident fund BHIENTES 44 51

4,097 4,159
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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38. SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal

38. MIEBLE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AARIRZZE—N\FE+_A=+—HANETEHNBR

subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are as follows: EEICINE
Particulars of Percentage of
issued and paid up ownership interests
Country and date of Place of operation share capital/ fiEEEA
Name incorporation and principal activity registered capital Directly Indirectly
ERTRES/
£H AR LERR B EENERITER AR B A
New Talent Media Company Limited PRC PRC, HK$71,270,000 - 100%
IrBRU EEERAT 25 Dec 2013 Investment holding
hE hE - RERR 71,270,000 %7
ZE-ZEfZA-ThA
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC, RMB3,000,000 = 100%
FrAERAER U ERERAR 3Sep 2009 Program production and
event organisation
hE CER I o ARH3,000,00070
B
Beiing Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC, RMB3,000,000 = 100%
IRt EBT R ERERAR 27 Dec 2006 Program production and
event organisation
hE CER I ARH3,000,00070
ZEERETZAZ TR
Bejing New Image Media Co. Lid.* PRC PRC, RMB3,000,000 = 100%
Frat ERE R ERERAR 23 Feb 2005 Program production
Gl ERS- =k AR%3,00000070
“EERE-A-1=H
Beiing Great Wise Media Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC, RMB3,000,000 = 100%
IrRBEA ERERAT 17 Jul 2003 Program production
Gl GERS = AR%3,000,00070
ZEEELATER
Bejing Emphasis Media Co. Ltd.* PRC PRC, RMB6,000,000 = 100%
IrEROZEEERAT 17 Jul 2002 Program production and even
organisation
# e R RERED SN AR%6,000,00070
ZEECELATER
Beiing Octagons Impact Communications Co. Ltd.* ~ PRC PRC, RMB3, 750,000 = 100%
IR ERUERERAR 16 Feb 2015 Provision of integrated marketing
Services
hE - it — Rl E SR ARE3,7500007
ZE-RECATAR
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 38. KMiBLF (&)
Particulars of Percentage of
issued and paid up ownership interests
Country and date of Place of operation share capital/ fiEEEA
Name incorporation and principal activity registered capital Directly Indirectly
ERTRES/
£H BFRAYLAH EENERITER ARAGE B A
Capital Land Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd. PRC PRC, RMBS,204,082 = 25.5%
RIBER LR MEERA 17 May 2016 Provision of entertainment on demand (017:51%)
system and related services (note)
] mE RERSERZSREERE  ARE52040807 (Z3—t5:
ZE-RERATER 51%) (M)
Beiing Yilu Creative Technology Limited* PRC PRC, RMB1,260,000 = 80%
IR ARE AR AT 3 Nov 2014 Provision of mabil i broadcasting
and e-commerce Services
Rl e REGBERREERE ARH1,260,00070
“E-IET-A=R
CCH Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, HKD10,000 - 100%
HEEBREERAT 9 May 2018 Event organisation and artst
management
05 B EBSRRENGR 1000070
“Z-\FRANA
Creative China Concerts Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, HKD100 = 90%
HEEEREERAT 4Ju12018 Event organisation
&b Bk BBEh 100587
“Z-J\EtARA

Note:

For identification purpose only

The directors of the Company assessed that the Group
has the ability to direct the relevant activities of Capital
Land as a shareholders voting agreement entered
into with two shareholders during the year enable the
Group entitles to control additional 40% voting rights
in the shares of Capital Land (65.5% voting rights in
aggregated) despite it remains 25.5% indirect ownership
interests subsequent to the disposal of equity interests of
Capital Land during the year.

piit -

AR FIEF G - AL EGE 5B T R 166
B - (EBRFABMERRETTHRERZ % - B
BB GRRIEHFOT R (RS0 5 IR (R 4166.5%
HREE)  BEERFRME T BRI E R L))
B 25.5 BTG #E R

TEARZERERAR —E-/\FFERS

195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e TSR R M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZT-\F+t-A=t—-HLEE

39.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following table shows the categories of financial

instruments recognised at end of reporting period:

39.

ERMIARAABEFEZHME

TRIFNIRE MREZN SR TERES -

2018 2017
—B-N\E —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARBT T
Financial assets SREE
Financial asset at fair value through TR EFTAR M Z E 7
other comprehensive income )% A E
— Unlisted equity investment measured at FVOCI —BRAREFAEMER
W rFE ETIRIEIRE 6,582 -
At amortized cost TR A SRR
— Cash and cash equivalents —RERREEEY 8,897 18,381
— Trade and other receivables — & 5 R EAEWGRIA 12,242 3,093
Financial liabilities cHEeE
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 12 A4 (B A 1Bz 894 &
EBiE
— Contingent consideration payable — I ARE = 151
At amortized cost TR SRR
— Trade payables — B SN HIA 58,178 9,681
— Other payables — Efth B 5RIR 15,791 10,722
— Other borrowing — HABfER 5,000 -
— Amount due to a shareholder — S — R FIA 4,034 -

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, other
borrowing and amount due to a shareholder.

WIHBRAAEFENERTABERE RSB
Y B REMEKEIR - B5 MEMEMNFR -
H At R S e — R IR RR

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of RESZRAME  ZSe T A REEHEE
these financial instruments approximates to its fair NAERE °
value.

196 Creative China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements

The following tables provide an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable. There is
no transfer between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during
the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active market for identical assets or liabilities.

— Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

— Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

39.

e IR HRAR ML

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

ETMTANAABETEZHE (R)

AREE
TRIEETEVRERRIZAABFENSHITA
WA BEBEAABEBERNEES AEIRESES
W HE2018F K2017F12 A1 BILFE » F 1
Fo F2M MBI B EER -

- FRAREMAESREHEREERBERE
Bmin WE CRERAR) 1/

—  FRAAREFERREE —MAEIRE SN
ZABREEXRBEHABBRER (AER) K
i (MR ERER) B

- F=RAREE/RBERAFAABRED
SHBERERZEEXRBRABE (T
RZBABUR) ZAERMEH
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39. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(CONTINUED)

39. EMTAMAAETEZHE (F)

Fair value as Fair value as

at 31 at 31
December December Fair value
2018 2017 hierarchy

R-EB-—NF R-E—LtF
+=—A=+—H8 +=HA=+—H

ZARE ZARE AREBH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Financial assets ERMEE
Unlisted equity investment EBEARBEFAREMEE Level 3
measured at FVOCI IR FE E T RRAEIR A 6,582 = F=
Financial liabilities =R

Contingent consideration payable — FEff sk AK(E

Unlisted equity investment measured at FVOCI
The fair value measurement of financial asset at
FVOCI are determined by considering factors
including, but not limited to the future cash flows
and operating performance of the investee,
economic and market conditions in which the
investee operates, recent equity share transaction
of the investee and products development etc. The
valuation maximize the use of observable market
data and the recent transaction price of investee’s
equity share is a significant unobservable input in the
valuation.

Contingent consideration payable

The fair value measurement of the contingent
consideration payable require, among other things,
significant estimation of post-acquisition performance
for revenue and net profit of the acquired businesses
within a specific period. These calculations use cash
flow projections for post-acquisition performance
in which the estimated revenue and net profit are
significant unobservable inputs in the valuation.
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Level 3
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BARERARMEEKENF L HRERE
FVOCIHEREEAREFENEEERRAE - BRET
RINEIRETRRREREMELES - IRE KL
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MR HEREHETERNTABR 2@ ARE -
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[ P 152 LA s 36 755 O Wi s A R T VMR 1R R ABETT AR
it BEAEEMRASRERAREERBENES - H
RS RAMFENEREETEEN TR ZH AR
% e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s
business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and currency risk.

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial
loss. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
primarily attributable to its trade and other
receivables and bank deposits.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each debtor and significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At
the end of reporting period, 96% (2017: 85%)
and 99% (2017: 86%) of the total trade and
other receivables was due from one debtor and
five largest debtor respectively. Management
measure the credit risk of these balances
by making ECLs provision, which trade and
other receivables were assessed based on
respective credit risk characteristics and the
days past due, and the ECLs calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. The maximum exposure of these
balances to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of financial
assets disclosed in note 24. The Group does
not hold collateral as security.

40.

e IR HRAR ML

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

g b E

AEESMTARAREEE —REETEENE

2Rk BEERR

nBETRER - MERERNIE

Rk -

(@)

FERR
EERRARXZHFHIBEEBITERNERT
ARFEFANBATZEBERELSREBE L
B AEENEERRIZREE S LEAM
JEWCRIA R ERITEK

RESREMERFENS @ AEENEER
BREEZZEFAMABFBNZE - MAKE
HERNZEFEERRRE  TEELSERNEE
EFREE o RREER - B REMEWGRIE
TN % (20174 :85%) K99 % (2017
F:86%)DRIRE—REBARRAERARE
BA - EEERBHEEBEEHERGEE
HRIENEERR - BESENEERBRER
MEBMREFHE S R EMERR - BHEE
EENTE R R INEER - BEENEREE
BEARRREBHIESNENBESHE &
ATAR L B2 3 R R BE AR A TERI M & 3R e /] 52
=8 - RNREBH  ZEEHREEERBRAOR
A O A Z4 BN SEemEENIRR
B - NEEWERSGIEIFRIEAEAE -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Management has a credit policy in place where
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s background, past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Generally, debtors with balances
that are more than 30 days past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. With strict
credit control and monitoring of exposures of
trade and other receivables to credit risks on
an ongoing basis, management believe the
Group’s credit risk exposure to trade and other
receivables has been appropriately mitigated.

Bank deposits are held in major financial
institutions which management believes are of
high credit quality with no significant exposure
to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s
board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. To
strengthen the liquidity position of the Group,
a shareholder has agreed not to demand
for repayment of amounts due with principal
amount of RMB 4,034,000 in the next 12
months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A TR R M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BERRERE (#)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) HRBESE(E)
The following tables detail the Group’s TRALAEEFTESRABZRHRE LD
remaining contractual maturity for its non- BEN - RIERMBBEASEAEE 2 &FH
derivative financial liabilities. The tables reflect MAEESREBZANRRERE - KRB
the undiscounted cash flows of financial FEHERAREREME ©

liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.

Total Within 1 More than More than

contractual year or 1yearbut 2years but

Carrying undiscounted repayable Lessthan2 lessthan5
amount cash flow on demand years years
BRAFR —FAZR —£# MER

REE REREAE EXBEE BRFA BEFR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AR%Tx

At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+=A=t-H
Trade payables Ve 58,178 61,491 61,491 - -
Other payables HAibfER B 14,937 14,937 14,937 - -
Other borrowing HiER 5,000 5,400 5,400 - -
Loan from shareholder REER 4,034 4,034 4,034 - -
82,149 85,862 85,862 - -
Total Within 1 More than More than
contractual year or 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted repayable  Less than 2 less than 5
amount cashflow  ondemand years years
BHAIR —FRHER —fi& MR
FHE ReneELs ZREEE EfMEA BRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—t&
+ZA=+-H
Trade payables B SERFE 9,681 9,681 9,681 = =
Other payables HAERTFE 5,165 5,165 5,165 = =
14,846 14,846 14,846 - -
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=E
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing AR AEEYEE AT EEEREGE ~NEH
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income REBD WA R & EIR S na By N hEHNER
and operating cash flows are substantially EE o

independent of changes in market interest rate.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on
certain of its financial instruments which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk is primarily HKS.

Cash and cash equivalents
Accruals

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit for the year and
retained earnings in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange
rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. A
positive number below indicates an increase
in profit and retained earnings where the RMB
weakens against the relevant currency. For a
strengthening of the RMB against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and retained earnings, and
the balances below would be negative.

HK$ BT

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.
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40. HBEMERE (%)

(d) E¥EE
AEEHENEERRIEKEEETERIA
RARLERMNEEEE AN BEEHE -
EXtRBNEEETZRET

2018 2017
—E-N\E Tt
HK’000 HK’000
THET FAT
B MREEHEY 6,467 15,843
FEst &M (10,625) (1,919
(4,158) 18,924
TRINFAEBFRNRENRREGENEAREE
EREHARARBAINEERNSIEAIEEH
MELNROES - TRIEBBRREARE
REBSERE BN RREENEM - &
ARBHBBERHE - H5 M RRE RN
FHERNFEZE M T RZEHRERAR -
As at December 2018 As at December 2017
R=B-N\F+ZA RZZ—+5+-R
Effect on Effect on
Increase in profit for Increase in profit for
foreign the year and foreign the year and
exchange retained exchange retained
rate earnings rate eamings
HERENR HERHNR
HEEREM RERFNY HNEEZEN REFINTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AEETT
5% 182 5% 582

FURMED M HBRRNME R REXRE S 2 &1L
ERL WEEARAEEZER - ARRKRR
TEMETASR T A E¥RARNZAHE
T - TMERRAEEME S CLEENE) #5F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE M HRRMEE

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-/\F+t-A=t—HLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. Results
of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the effects
on each of the group entities’ profit for the
year and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting
period for presentation purposes.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB36,625,000 only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

40.

41.

42,

MR ERE (F)

(d) E¥ERERGER)
Pl e E R ENEE TFERHRA YIS
BEXBREHIRGIEES 2 - LRI
AN EREHEER TR ERIRSRINGE
‘ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬂr%ﬂﬂﬁi&%ﬁﬁﬂiwﬁ9‘“’%”%/\&%%
T2 2 BF AR K m 2 FERR

ErER
AR 2 AREE BRI IREARSE AR REE

A7 B BRBE A4 [ 3% % 70 L 4t ) 2 4R B 2 JR AR o
R REENEBIARDERUA

BREBENARERNERE  AEBESNSARKMNKRER
HRES%E  BREEARER BITHFRALEEE
LR AMERS ©

AEBEARBERBEARAEEAREREAR
# 36,625,000 7T (BB A K FE ) °

RMETHELENEEHER

Other Shareholder’s

borrowing loan Total
HA &R BRREXK @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®T T AR%ET T
At 1 January 2017 and 2018 RZT—+F
M —F—
—H—H - - -
Changes from cash flows: WeMEE EZ“@J :
Proceeds from other borrowings HbERRAT 6,000 - 6,000
Repayment of other borrowings & @Ewﬁ% (1,000) = (1,000)
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan KERRERFERIE - 6,684 6,684
Repayment of shareholder’s loan 1,5\5&Hx%§\m - (2,650) (2,650)
Total changes from financing cash flows gt &8 & HE)E%E 5,000 4,034 9,034
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—N\%+-A
=+—H 5,000 4,034 9,034
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Financial Summary
B E

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-ZF-\F+-A=t—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEFE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E—OF —T—hF ZT—RF —T—+F —EB-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT ARETT ARETIT AR%¥TR

RESULTS £
Turnover L 56,144 72,596 78,435 20,085 20,721
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRETSHATE
(E#8) 9,205 4,101 (22,378)  (79,980)  (77,925)
Income tax (expense)/credit FR (FAX), Hx 2,712) (3,784) 4,669 189 (4,627)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmH, (E8) 6,493 317 (17,709)  (79,791)  (82,552)
Attributable to: FE1S :
Owners of the Company RAREE A 6,493 528 (16,138) (73,292)  (74,799)
Non-controlling interests IR A = (211) (1,571) (6,499) (7,753)
6,493 317 (17,709)  (79,791)  (82,552)
As at 31 December
W+=BA=+—8
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E—NF ZET—RHF ZT—RF ZT—+F ZB-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥TR
ASSETS, LIABILITIESAND ¥E - 88K
NON-CONTROLLING R R
INTERESTS
Total assets BEERE 42,517 150,413 168,187 129,965 130,299
Total liabilities BfERE (19,034) (22,452) (29,568) (24,389)  (90,558)
Net assets BESE 23,483 127,961 138,619 105,576 39,741
Non-controlling interests eI - (539) (9,682) (3,179) (3,116)
Equity attributable to the ZIN/NCIEZZ SN
owners of the Company FE(L#ER 23,483 127,422 128,937 102,397 36,625

AEBBEE_ZT—NF+ -_A=+—BILFEZRAFE
EAEER —ZE—NFE+-_A=+—HAZKF/EE 8f
NIRRT R A BRER - ARMERERE
EHF 2 HEEZT

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2014 and the consolidated
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
as at 31 December 2014 have been extracted from the
Prospectus. Such summary is presented on the basis as
set out in the Prospectus.
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